
 
Agenda compiled by: 
Guy Close 
Governance Services 
Tel: 24 74356 

  
Principal Scrutiny Advisor: 
Kate Arscott 
Tel: 24 74189 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 
 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (CHILDREN AND FAMILIES) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on 

Thursday, 23rd June, 2011 at 9.45 am 
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 9.15 a.m.) 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
Councillors 

J Chapman (Chair) - Weetwood; 

R Charlwood - Moortown; 

G Driver - Middleton Park; 

P Ewens - Hyde Park and Woodhouse; 

B Gettings - Morley North; 

A Khan - Burmantofts and Richmond 
Hill; 

A Lamb - Wetherby; 

P Latty - Guiseley and Rawdon; 

K Maqsood - Gipton and Harehills; 

M Rafique - Chapel Allerton; 

K Renshaw - Ardsley and Robin Hood; 

 
Co-opted Members (Voting) 

* Mr E A Britten - Church Representative (Catholic) 
* Prof P H J H Gosden - Church Representative (Church of England) 
Vacancy - Parent Governor Representative (Primary) 
Ms J Ward - Parent Governor Representative (Secondary) 
Ms N Cox - Parent Governor Representative (Special) 

 
Co-opted Members (Non-Voting) 

* Ms C Foote - Teacher Representative 
* Ms C Johnson - Teacher Representative 
* Mrs S Hutchinson - Early Years Representative 
* Ms T Kayani - Leeds Youth Work Partnership Representative 
* Ms A Choudry - Leeds VOICE Children and Young People Services 

Forum Representative 
 

* Subject to confirmation by the Scrutiny Board – please refer to agenda item 7

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded). 
 
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting).  
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:- 

           
No exempt items or information have 
been identified on this agenda. 

 

 



 

 
C 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To declare any personal / prejudicial interests for 
the purpose of Section 81 (3) of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of 
the Members Code of Conduct. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES - 19TH MAY 2011 
 
To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting held on 19th May 2011. 
 

1 - 4 

7   
 

  APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
 
To receive and consider a report from the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development seeking 
Members’ approval for the appointment of co-opted 
members to the Scrutiny Board. 
 

5 - 8 

8   
 

  CHANGES TO THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION 
IN RELATION TO SCRUTINY 
 
To receive and consider a report from the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development providing the 
Scrutiny Board with information on recent 
amendments to the Council’s Constitution, as 
agreed by Council on 26th May 2011, which directly 
relate to and/or impact on the work of Scrutiny 
Boards. 
 

9 - 10 



 

 
D 

9   
 

  SOURCES OF WORK AND AREAS OF 
PRIORITY FOR THE SCRUTINY BOARD 
 
To receive and consider a report from the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development providing 
information and guidance on potential sources of 
work and areas of priority within the Board’s terms 
of reference. 
 

11 - 
60 

10   
 

  WORK SCHEDULE 
 
To receive and consider a report from the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development inviting the 
Scrutiny Board to consider its work schedule for 
the forthcoming municipal year. 
 

61 - 
66 

11   
 

  GREEN PAPER - SUPPORT AND ASPIRATION; 
A NEW APPROACH TO SPECIAL 
EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY 
 
To receive and consider a report from the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development inviting the 
Scrutiny Board to contribute to the council’s 
response to the recent government Green Paper 
on special educational needs and disability. 
 

67 - 
202 

12   
 

  DATES AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
 
To note the following proposed dates of future 
meetings: 
  

• 23 June 2011 

• 21 July 2011 

• 8 September 2011 

• 6 October 2011 

• 10 November 2011 

• 8 December 2011 

• 12 January 2012 

• 9 February 2012 

• 15 March 2012 

• 26 April 2012 
 
All at 9.45am (Pre-Meetings at 9.15am). 
 

 

 
 



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held in June 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (CHILDREN'S SERVICES) 
 

THURSDAY, 19TH MAY, 2011 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Chapman in the Chair 

 Councillors M Coulson, G Driver, B Gettings, A Lamb, 
P Latty, J Lewis, K Maqsood and V Morgan 
 

CO-OPTED MEMBERS (VOTING): 
 

 Mr E A Britten - Church Representative 
(Catholic) 

 Ms J Ward - Parent Governor 
Representative (Secondary) 

CO-OPTED MEMBERS (NON-VOTING): 
 

 Ms C Foote - Teacher Representative 
 Ms C Johnson - Teacher Representative 
 Ms T Kayani - Leeds Youth Work Partnership 
 Ms J Morris-Boam - Leeds Voice Children and 

Young People Services Forum 
Representative 

 
 

106 Chair's Opening Remarks  
 

The Chair welcomed all in attendance to the May meeting of the Scrutiny 
Board (Children’s Services).  Members were thanked for their contribution to 
the Scrutiny Board’s work throughout the 2010/11 municipal year, particularly 
their involvement at working group meetings and the case study approach.  
 

107 Declaration of Interests  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

108 Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes  
 

Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillor W Hyde and Co-opted 
Members, Ms Cox, Professor Gosden and Mrs Hutchinson. 
 
The Chair advised that Mr Granger had resigned his position as Parent 
Governor Representative (Primary) and a replacement representative was 
being sought. 
 

109 Minutes - 21st April 2011  
 

An amendment to Minute No. 97, Annual Standards Report – Primary 
Schools, 5th bullet point under Members’ questions and comments, was 
agreed as follows ‘… it was advised that turnover at inner city schools was 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held in June 

 

higher than at other schools. The average turnover at inner city schools was 5 
years.’ 
 
RESOLVED – That subject to the amendment above, the minutes of the 
meeting held on 21st April 2011 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

110 Children and Young People's Plan Update Report  
 

The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report which presented the 
final version of the Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-15. 
 
Also appended to the report was a copy of the Equality, Diversity, Cohesion 
and Integration Screening form. 
 
The Chair welcomed to the meeting the following officers: 
 

- Mariana Pexton, Deputy Director of Children’s Services 
- Stephen Featherstone, Performance Management Officer, Children’s 

Services. 
 
Members noted that the Board’s terms of reference for next year would reflect 
the three ‘obsessions’ in the Plan.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report and information appended to the report be 
noted. 
 

111 Draft Terms of Reference  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report which 
invited Members to agree terms of reference for the Board’s inquiry into 
reducing teenage conception. 
 
The Scrutiny Board agreed to include reference to vulnerable and looked after 
children as part of the scope of the inquiry. 
 
Members discussed the following areas: 
 

• The ongoing impact of teenage conception on achievement. 

• The role of the youth service, particularly in seeking the views of young 
people. 

• Checking whether information on international research on levels of 
teenage conception was readily available.  

 
It was agreed that the proposed inquiry would be brought back for further 
consideration at the June Board meeting, when the work programme for the 
coming year was discussed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the terms of reference for the inquiry, as amended, be 
approved. 
 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held in June 

 

112 Draft Scrutiny Inquiry - Service Redesign  
 

This item to be deferred to the June meeting of the Scrutiny Board (Children’s 
Services). 
 

113 Annual Report 2010/11  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report which 
presented the draft of the Board’s Annual Report. 
  

RESOLVED – That the Board’s Annual Scrutiny Report 2010/11 be approved. 
 

114 Scrutiny Working Group - Review of Children's Social Care System  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report which 
presented the notes of the working group meetings by way of reporting back 
on the group’s activity to the full Scrutiny Board. 
 
RESOLVED – That the activity undertaken by the working group in relation to 
the review of the children’s social care system, be noted and endorsed. 
 
 
(The meeting concluded at 10.10 am.) 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) 
 
Date:  23 June 2011 
 
Subject: Co-opted Members 
 

        
 
 
 
1 Purpose of this report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek the Scrutiny Board’s formal consideration for the 
appointment of co-opted members to the Board. 

 
2 Background information 
 

2.1 For a number of years the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 
appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  For those Scrutiny 
Boards where co-opted members have previously been appointed, such arrangements 
have tended to be reviewed on an annual basis, usually at the beginning of a new 
municipal year.  However, the appointment of co-opted members has not been 
considered consistently across all Scrutiny Boards. 

 
3 Main issues 
 

 General arrangements for appointing co-opted members 
 
3.1 It is widely recognised that in some circumstances, co-opted members can significantly 

aid the work of Scrutiny Boards.  This is currently reflected in Article 6 (Scrutiny Boards) 
of the Council’s Constitution, which outlines the options available to Scrutiny Boards in 
relation to appointing co-opted members.   

 
 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected: 
 
All  
 

Originator: Kate Arscott 
 

Tel: 247 4189 

 

 

 
   Ward Members consulted 
   (referred to in report)  

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 5



 
3.2 In general terms, Scrutiny Boards can appoint: 
 

•  Up to five non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that does not go beyond 
the next Annual Meeting of Council ; and/or, 

 

•  Up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the 
duration of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry. 

  
3.3 In the majority of cases the appointment of co-opted members is optional and is 

determined by the relevant Scrutiny Board.  However, Article 6 makes it clear that co-
option would normally only be appropriate where the co-opted member has some 
specialist skill or knowledge, which would be of assistance to the Scrutiny Board.  
Particular issues to consider when seeking to appoint a co-opted member are set out 
later in the report. 

 
3.4 There are also some legislative arrangements in place for the appointment of specific 

co-opted members. Such cases are also set out in Article 6 (Scrutiny Boards) of the 
Council’s Constitution and are summarised below. 

 
 Arrangements for appointing specific co-opted members 
 
 Education Representatives 

 
3.5 In addition to elected Members appointed by Council, the Local Government Act 2000 

states that the relevant Scrutiny Board dealing with education matters shall include in 
its membership the following voting representatives in accordance with statutory 
requirements: 

 

• One Church of England diocese representative1  

• One Roman Catholic diocese representative1 

• Parent governor representatives2  
 
3.6 The number and term of office of education representatives is fixed by full Council and 

set out in Article 6.  Representatives of the Church of England and Roman Catholic 
dioceses are nominated by their diocese and three parent governor representatives are 
elected.  Such representatives are then notified to the Scrutiny Board and their 
appointment confirmed. 

 
3.7 Where the Scrutiny Board deals with other non-educational matters the co-opted 

members may participate in any discussion but shall not be entitled to vote on those 
matters. 

 
 Crime and Disorder Committee  

 
3.8 In accordance with the requirements of the Police and Justice Act 2006, the Council 

has designated the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) to act as the 
Council’s crime and disorder committee.   

 
3.9 In its capacity as a crime and disorder committee, the Scrutiny Board  (Safer and 

Stronger Communities) may co-opt additional members to serve on the Board, 
providing they are not an Executive Member. 

 

                                                
1
  Article 6 states this appointment shall be for a term of office that does not go beyond the next Annual 
Meeting of Council 

2
  Article 6 states these appointments shall be for a four-year term of office 

Page 6



3.10 The Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) may limit the co-opted member’s 
participation to those matters where the Scrutiny Board is acting as the Council’s crime 
and disorder committee. 

 
3.11 Unless the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) decides otherwise, any 

co-opted member shall not be entitled to vote and the Board may withdraw the co-opted 
membership at any time.  

 
Issues to consider when seeking to appoint co-opted members 

 
3.12 Currently, there is no overarching national guidance or criteria that should be 

considered when seeking to appoint co-opted members.  As a result, there is a plethora 
of methods employed within Councils for the appointment of co-optees to Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees (Scrutiny Boards).  For example, some Council’s use “job 
descriptions”, some carry out formal interviews and some advertise for co-optees in the 
local press, with individuals completing a simple application form which is then 
considered by Members.   

 
3.13 The Constitution makes it clear that ‘co-option would normally only be appropriate 

where the co-opted member has some specialist skill or knowledge, which would be of 
assistance to the Scrutiny Board’. In considering the appointment of co-opted members, 
Scrutiny Boards should be satisfied that a co-opted member can use their specialist skill 
or knowledge to add value to the work of the Scrutiny Board.  However, co-opted 
members should not be seen as a replacement to professional advice from officers.  

 
3.14 Co-opted members should be considered as representatives of wider groups of people.  

However, when seeking external input into the Scrutiny Board’s work, consideration 
should always be given to other alternative approaches, such as the role of expert 
witnesses or use of external research studies, to help achieve a balanced evidence 
base.  

 
3.15 When considering the appointment of a standing co-opted member for a term of office, 

Scrutiny Boards should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise 
during the course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide ranging terms of 
reference.  To help overcome this, Scrutiny Boards may wish to focus on the provision 
available to appoint up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that 
relates to the duration of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry.  

 
3.16 Despite the lack of any national guidance, what is clear is that any process for 

appointing co-opted members should be open, effective and carried out in a manner 
which seeks to strengthen the work of Scrutiny Boards. 

 
4.0 Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) 

4.1 As indicated at 3.5 above, the Children and Families Board is required to include in its 
membership the following voting representatives in accordance with statutory and 
constitutional requirements: 

• One Church of England diocese representative 

• One Roman Catholic diocese representative 

• Three parent governor representatives 

4.2 The Church of England and Roman Catholic dioceses have nominated Professor 
Gosden and Mr Britten to continue as their respective representatives. 

4.3 The current parent governor representatives are  

• Ms Jacqueline Ward (secondary) – term of office expires 20th April 2015 

• Ms Natalie Cox (special) - term of office expires 11th January 2014 
Page 7



An election process is currently taking place for the vacant position of primary parent 
governor representative. 
 

4.4 During 2010/2011 Scrutiny Board (Children’s Services) made the following non-voting 
co-opted appointments: 

• Two teacher representatives –Ms Celia Foote and Ms Claire Johnson  

• Early Years Development and Childcare Partnership – Mrs Sandra Hutchinson 

• A representative of the Leeds Youth Work Partnership – Ms Taira Kayani 

• A representative of Leeds Voice Children and Young People Services Forum – Ms 
Jeanette Morris-Boam 

 
4.5 The Early Years Development and Childcare Partnership and the Leeds Youth Work 

Partnership have indicated that they would wish the same people to continue on the 
Board, should the Scrutiny Board decide to maintain the same range of co-opted 
appointments for 2011/12. The Teachers’ Joint Consultative Committee is due to meet 
in the near future and will notify the Scrutiny Board of any changes to its nominees. It 
is suggested that the existing nominees are retained pending confirmation of their 
continued nomination. The Leeds Voice Children and Young People Services Forum 
has nominated Ms Aqila Choudry to replace Ms Jeannette Morris-Boam. 

 
5.0 Recommendation  
 

5.1 In line with the options available outlined in this report, Members are asked to 

• confirm the appointment of the voting co-opted representatives, and 

• to consider the appointment of non-voting co-opted members to the Scrutiny Board. 
 
 
Background Papers 
 

• The Council’s Constitution 

• Police and Justice Act 2006 

• KPMG Scrutiny Review May 2009 
 

Page 8



 

 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) 
 
Date:  23 June 2011 
 
Subject: Changes to the Council’s Constitution in relation to Scrutiny 
 

        
 
 
1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report provides the Board with information on recent amendments to the 
 Council’s Constitution, as agreed by Council on 26th May 2011, which directly relate to 

and/or impact on the work of Scrutiny Boards. 
 
2 Background information 

2.1 The annual review of Scrutiny more often than not identifies a number of areas for 
amendment within Article 6 of the Constitution, the Scrutiny Boards’ Terms of 
Reference and the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules. These are either to ensure 
consistency in wording, to reflect legislative changes or to provide procedural clarity. 

 
3 Main issues 

3.1 The more significant amendments made to the Council’s Constitution in relation to the 
Overview and Scrutiny function are summarised below. 

 
 Article 6 
 
3.2 The inclusion of specific reference to the appointment of Scrutiny Chairs. To 

demonstrate and reinforce the importance of a non-political group approach to Scrutiny, 
Group spokespersons shall not be appointed to Chair a Scrutiny Board which 
corresponds to the same portfolio.  

 
 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference 
 
3.3 Five themed Scrutiny Boards have been established to mirror the current Strategic 

Partnership Boards.  This approach promotes a more strategic and outward looking 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  
 
All  
 

Originator: Kate Arscott 
 

Tel: 247 4189 

 

 

 
   Ward Members consulted 
   (referred to in report)  

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 9



Scrutiny function and focuses on the City Priorities.  The terms of reference for the five 
Scrutiny Boards now determine a number of areas of review to be undertaken by the 
Boards as part of their workload during a municipal year. 

 
3.4 A sixth Scrutiny Board has also been established and called Scrutiny Board (Resources 

and Council Services).  Decisions made, or actions taken, in connection with the 
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the executive, which do not 
fall within the terms of reference of the five themed Scrutiny Boards, will be considered 
by the Scrutiny Board (Resources and Council Services). 

 
 Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules 
 
3.5 Procedures in relation to Call In, which previously resided in the Scrutiny Board 

Guidance Notes, are now incorporated into the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules to 
provide clarity. 

 
3.6 Call-Ins will continue to be considered by the relevant Scrutiny Board.  However, those 

requesting a Call In are now required to consider the financial consequences of Calling 
In the decision.  The financial implications will be detailed to those Calling In the 
decision as part of the required pre Call In discussion with the relevant Director or 
Executive Board Member. 

 
3.7 Previously, a Scrutiny Board Member could not be a signatory to a Call In if they were a 

member of the Scrutiny Board considering the Call In.  This restriction has now been 
removed. A decision can be Called In by two non executive elected Members (who are 
not from the same political group) or any five non executive elected Members.  Those 
Scrutiny Board Members not in a political group would be eligible but not co-opted 
Board members. 

 
3.8 Added to the list of decisions exempt from Call In are decisions made during the 

development and approval of documents forming part of the Budget and Policy 
Framework.  This amendment is in accordance with existing practice and procedure as 
the decision rests with full Council and not the Executive. 

 
3.9 With regard to petitions, where a Scrutiny Board Chair receives in their capacity as a 

Scrutiny Chair a petition, the Chair will respond to the petition organiser only.  
Thereafter the Scrutiny Officer will be responsible for notifying the petition organiser of 
the date on which the petition will be considered and of the outcome of that meeting.  
The Scrutiny Officer will ensure the appropriate Executive Board Member receives a 
copy of the petition. 

 
3.10 A minor amendment is made in relation to education co-optees on the relevant Scrutiny 

Board.  This amendment clarifies the process of nomination and confirmation of 
education representatives to the Scrutiny Board. 

4 Recommendations 

4.1 In fulfilling the role and function of the Scrutiny Board, Members are requested to 
 note the amendments to the Council’s Constitution outlined in this report. 
 
Background Papers 
 

• Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development on Overview and Scrutiny – 
Proposed Changes and Amendments to the Constitution.  General Purposes 
Committee, 17th May 2011. 

• Council’s Constitution – Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules. 

Page 10



 

 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) 
 
Date:  23 June 2011 
 
Subject: Sources of work and areas of priority for the Scrutiny Board 

 

        
 
 
1 Purpose of this report 
 

1.1 To assist the Scrutiny Board in effectively managing its workload for the forthcoming 
municipal year, this report provides information and guidance on potential sources of 
work and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.   

 
2 Background information 
 

2.1 Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 
strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond to 
issues of high public interest. 

 
2.2 The amendments made to the Overview and Scrutiny function this year encourage 

Scrutiny to be more strategic and outward looking in its operation and focus on the City 
Priorities.   

 
2.3 City Priority Plans have recently been established to replace the Leeds Strategic Plan.  

These new city-wide partnership plans identify the key outcomes and priorities to be 
delivered by the Council and its partners over the next 4 years.  The City Priority Plans 
are aligned to the new Strategic Partnerships who will own the plans and be 
responsible for ensuring the delivery of the agreed priorities.  

 
2.4 The City Priority Plans are structured around a small set of short term (4 year) priorities 

each of which is measured through a headline indicator.  As such they are the “must-
do” priorities or “obsessions” for each partnership and may be supported by more 
detailed plans as the partnership sees fit. 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  
 
All  
 

Originator: Kate Arscott 
 

Tel: 247 4189 

 

 

 
   Ward Members consulted 
   (referred to in report)  

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 11



3 Main issues 
 
 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference 
 
3.1 Five of the Scrutiny Boards are now themed to mirror the Strategic Partnership Boards.  

In doing so, the terms of reference for these Scrutiny Boards now determine a number 
of areas of review to be undertaken during a municipal year on behalf of the Council. 

 
3.2 For this Scrutiny Board the focus of review is; 
 

a) reducing the numbers of looked after children 
b) improving attendance 
c) increasing the number of young people in employment, education and training 
 

3.3 These areas of review are focused around the City Priorities and therefore come from a 
strategic approach.  However, all Scrutiny Boards remain autonomous in determining 
the scope of their reviews. 

 
3.4 A copy of the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) is 

attached for reference purposes (Appendix 1). 
 
 Other sources of Scrutiny work 
 
3.5 In addition to the areas of review outlined with the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference, 

other sources of work will continue to be ‘requests for scrutiny’ and corporate referrals.  
The Scrutiny Board may also undertake further pieces of scrutiny work as considered 
appropriate.   

 
3.6 However, over the last few years of Scrutiny Board work, experience has shown that 

the process is more effective and adds greater value if the Board seeks to minimise the 
number of substantial inquiries running at one time and focus its resources on one key 
issue at a time.   This view was echoed within the findings of the KPMG external audit 
report 2009 on the Scrutiny function in Leeds.  

 
3.7 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules require Scrutiny Boards, before deciding to 

undertake an inquiry, to consider the current workload of the Scrutiny Board and the 
available resources to carry out the work.    

 
4 Consultation 

 
4.1 It is recognised that in order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, 

each Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Director and 
Executive Board Member holding the relevant portfolio and, where appropriate, the 
relevant strategic partnership chair. 

 
4.2 The Director of Children’s Services and the Executive Board Member with responsibility 

for Children’s Services (who is also the Chair of the Children’s Trust Board) have 
therefore been invited to attend today’s meeting to discuss the City Priorities in relation 
to the Board’s terms of reference. 

 
4.3 An extract of the draft City Priority Plan 2011 – 2015 relevant to the Board’s terms of 

reference is attached for the Board’s consideration (Appendix 2). The full draft City 
Priority Plan is expected to be considered by the Executive Board in June 2011 prior to 
being approved by full Council. 

 

Page 12



4.4 Attached as Appendix 3 and 4 respectively are the latest Executive Board minutes and 
the Council’s current Forward Plan relating to this Board’s portfolio.  

 

5 Recommendations 
 

5.1 Members are requested to use the attached information and the discussion with those 
present at the meeting to confirm the areas of priority for the Scrutiny Board over the 
forthcoming municipal year. 

 

Background papers 

None used 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Schedule 7a 
 Council Committees’ Terms of Reference   

 

Part 3 Section 2B(1) 
Page 1 of 1 

 

Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) 
 
 
The Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) is authorised to discharge the following 
overview and scrutiny functions1. 
 
1. to review or scrutinise the exercise of any council or executive function or any 

other related matter including :- 
 

a) reducing the numbers of looked after children 
b) improving attendance 
c) increasing the number of young people in employment, education and 

training 
 
2. to carry out such other reviews or policy development tasks as it may be 

requested to do by either the Executive Board or the Council. 
 
3. to act as the appropriate Scrutiny Board in relation to the Executive’s initial 

proposals for a relevant plan or strategy2 within the Budget and Policy 
Framework3 

 
4. to review or scrutinise executive decisions that have been Called In 4 
 
5. to receive and monitor formal responses to any reports or recommendations 

made by the Board 
 
6 to review outcomes, targets and priorities within the Council Business Plan 

and City Priority Plans and to make such reports and recommendations as it 
considers appropriate;  

 
7. to receive requests for scrutiny and councillor calls for action5 and undertake 

any subsequent work 
 
 
 

                                            
1
 In relation to functions delegated to the Director of Children’s Services under the Officer Delegation 
Scheme whether or not those functions are concurrently delegated to any other committee or officer. 
2
 Namely the Youth Justice Plan and the Children and Young Peoples Plan 

3
 In accordance with Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

4
 In accordance with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules. 

5
 Including requests made in relation to health and social care matters in accordance with the Local 
Authority (Overview and Scrutiny Committees Health Scrutiny Functions) Regulations 2002 but not 
including requests in relation to crime and disorder matters. 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Leeds Children and 
Young People’s Plan 
(CYPP) 2011-15 

 
 

(Version 1 approved at the Children’s Trust Board on April 18th 2011)  
 

Page 17



 

 

2

 
What is in the Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) 
The Children and Young People’s Plan is where the Leeds Children’s Trust 
Board (CTB) describes what it is like for children and young people growing 
up in Leeds, and describes the outcomes, priorities and actions designed to 
improve on the current position.  The plan shows how we will assess the 
progress we make by identifying key indicators for each of our priorities.  It 
describes how we will use an approach called “Outcomes based 
accountability” to drive improvement and change.  

The plan is one of five city priority plans for Leeds and the CTB is one of five 
boards operating as part of the Leeds Initiative. The other four boards are 
Safer and Stronger Communities, Sustainable Economy and Culture, 
Regeneration, and Health and Well Being. 

Our plan is set out using the following headings: 

THE CONTENTS OF OUR PLAN 
 

1. What’s in the CYPP 
 

2 

2. Who are Children Leeds and the Leeds Safeguarding Children 
Board 
 

3 

3. Welcome from Judith Blake & Nigel Richardson 
 

4 

4. The Vision for Leeds and for children and young people in Leeds 
 

5 

5. Delivering the vision 
 

7 

6. Performance management and governance 
 

9 

7. What is it like growing up in Leeds? 
  

10 

8. Transforming children’s services in Leeds: Change Programmes, 
Progress & Challenges 

12 

9. Budget issues & the development of more integrated, local services 
 

13 

10. Minimising the effects of poverty & developing a child friendly city 
 

14 

11. CTB sponsors and LCC leads for CYPP priorities   
 

15 

12. Initial action plans for the 3 obsessions 
 

16 

Page 18



 

 

3

 
Who are Children Leeds and the Leeds Safeguarding Children Board? 

 
Children Leeds is responsible for improving outcomes for children and young 
people.  The business of Children Leeds is managed by the Children’s Trust 
Board. (CTB)  The Board is led by Judith Blake, the senior Councillor 
responsible for Children’s services, and Nigel Richardson, the Director of 
Children’s services.  
 
The Board brings together NHS Leeds, Leeds Youth Offending Service, West 
Yorkshire Police, West Yorkshire Probation, Job Centre Plus, local schools, 
colleges and children’s centres, the voluntary sector, and Leeds City Council 
services such as children and young people’s social care, housing, early 
years, and education and learning.  The partners share a commitment to the 
CYPP and working together to deliver the priorities for improvement. 

The Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is responsible for holding 
those agencies responsible for promoting children’s welfare, and protecting 
them from abuse and neglect to account for how well they keep children and 
young people safe. The LSCB is represented on the CTB.  The two Boards 
work together closely and their responsibilities are complementary.  

The LSCB is responsible for coordinating the work underway in Leeds to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children and for ensuring the work is 
effective.  It develops policies and procedures, contributes to service planning, 
takes a leadership role in sharing learning and understanding practice, and 
providing workforce development and training, and monitors and performance 
manages safeguarding practice. 

 

Page 19



 

 

4

Welcome 
 
 
 
 
To be added following discussion and agreement by Judith Blake & Nigel 
Richardson 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Judith Blake- Executive member for children’s services, Chair of CTB 
Nigel Richardson- Director of Children’s services  

Page 20



 

 

5

Vision… By 2030 Leeds is the best city in Britain 
Leeds is a child friendly city 

Minimise the effects of poverty on children and families  
  

The key to delivering the vision for Leeds to be a “child friendly City” are the 5 
outcomes, 11 priorities and 15 key indicators shown on the next page.  Leeds 
is a child friendly city is the underpinning vision which in turn is part of the city 
wide vision for Leeds to be the best city in Britain.   
 
Child poverty is at the root of most, if not all, poor outcomes for children and 
young people (CYP) and their families.  Minimising the effects of child poverty 
is a cross cutting theme that informs work in all our priority areas.   
 
Each of the five city wide priority plans contribute to the child poverty strategy 
and the plans also make a contribution to the overarching vision for a child 
friendly city.  The other four plans are Safer and stronger communities,    
Sustainable economy and culture, Regeneration, and Health and well being.  
The Leeds Initiative Board takes an overview of progress against the five city 
priority plans, particularly the contribution each plan makes to the issues 
highlighted in the other plans. 
 
Child friendly city (CFC) as well as being an overarching vision is also a 
specific programme of work. CFC is a United Nations initiative based on the 
belief that every child has the right to the best possible start in life; to have the 
highest standards of health and education; and, to be heard and influence the 
quality of their lives and their environments.  Initial work in Leeds includes 
engaging partners and local organisations and businesses in the CFC 
movement and gaining their commitment to a specific pledge to help.   

Other key overarching strategies to deliver our shared vision are outcomes 
based accountability (OBA) and restorative practice.  OBA focuses attention 
on key performance trends and asks partners to develop simple, clear action 
plans to improve baseline performance.  The fundamental premise of 
restorative practice is that people are happier, more cooperative and 
productive, and more likely to make positive changes when agencies and 
service deliverers do things with them, rather than to them or for them. 

These strategies are part of a complex change programme for Children’s 
services.  Key to this is improving integrated, multi agency, locality working.  
The programme seeks to provide an effective response to complex legislative 
changes in health, education and social care services, and increased demand 
for social care and health services.   

Above all else working at locality level is the strategy to help services to work 
with communities to drive sustainable improvement.  The 15 key indicators 
with our 3 obsessions will measure improvement.  They have been 
chosen because they are powerful “can openers” that provide a way to 
tackle the complex issues affecting the most vulnerable.  Rapid 
progress on these indicators will have a “knock on” effect in other 
areas. 

Page 21



 

 

6

 

5 
outcomes 

11 priorities 
(3 starting points highlighted in italics) 

15 Key indicators & baselines  
(3”obsessions” highlighted in italics) 

1.  Number of looked after children- 
1,434 January 2011 

CYP Are 
safe from 
harm 

1. Help children to live in safe and 
supportive families 
2. Ensure that the most vulnerable are 
protected 
 

2.  Number of children and young 
people with child protection plans- 778 
at January 2011 

3.  School attendance  
Primary 94.4%   (half terms 1-5, 09/10 
academic year) Secondary 91.6%  
(half terms 1-5, 09/10 academic year)  

4  16-18 NEET is 8.3% (1,816) 
(average monthly figure for 
November-January 2010/11)  

5.  Foundation stage threshold- 53% 
(4,415) in 09/10 academic year 

6.  KS2 L4+ E&M- 74% (3,309) in 09/10 
academic year 

7.  5+ A*-C GCSE inc E&M- 50.6%  
(4,067) in 09/10 academic year  

8. Level 3 qualifications at 19.  46.7% 
(4,392) in 09/10 academic year 

9.  The number of CYP 16-18 who start 
an apprenticeship, (1,306 in 09/10) 

CYP Do 
well in 
learning and 
have the 
skills for life 

3. Improve behaviour, attendance and 
achievement) 
4. Increase  numbers in  employment, 
education or training 
5. Support children to be ready for learning  
6.  Improve support where there are additional 
health needs  

 
 

10.  The number of children & families 
accessing short breaks & levels of 
satisfaction- baselines to be identified   

11.  Obesity levels at year 6 (age 11) 
21%, 09/10 (sample size 5,260) 

CYP 
Choose 
healthy 
lifestyles 

7.  Encourage activity and healthy eating 
8.  Promote sexual health  
 12. Teenage pregnancy- 47.4 per 1,000 

(618) 15-17 year olds, June 2009 

CYP Have 
fun growing 
up 

9.  Provide play, leisure, culture and sporting 
opportunities 
 

13. Number of CYP engaged in high 
quality school PE & Sport- 81%, 09/10 
academic year. (based on limited 
survey samples)  Work on wider 
indicators for this priority is ongoing. 

14. Proportion of 10-17 year olds 
offending- 2023 young people with 1 or 
more offence in 09/10 which is 2.7% 

CYP Are 
active 
citizens who 
feel they 
have voice 
& influence 

10.  Reduce crime and anti-social behaviour 
11.  Increase participation, voice and influence 

15. C&YP influence in a) school b) the 
community - 70% and 56% reporting at 
least a fair amount of influence. (based 
on limited survey samples) Work on 
additional measures of engagement is 
ongoing.  

 

Page 22



 

 

7

Delivering the vision  
 
All our work is underpinned by a set of agreed approaches to working together 
to deliver improved outcomes for children and young people- 
 

• the child is the client 

• talking a common language 

• using outcomes based accountability to improve outcomes in 
localities   

• helping children and families with issues through restorative 
practice- doing things with them rather than to or for them  

• doing the simple things better- never doing nothing 

• supporting strong schools, settings, families and communities 

• involving everyone who has a part to play – a whole city approach 

• improving assessment and intervention 

• targeting resources to make the biggest impact on priorities 
 

 
Turning the curve in Leeds  
 
Outcomes based accountability (OBA) is a way of thinking and approach that 
develops practical action plans through “turning the curve” exercises.  OBA 
takes the current baseline performance trend, and asks partners to agree a 
trajectory for improved performance and to describe the actions that will “turn 
the curve” towards the desired improvement. The approach takes partners 
through the following stages: 

 

• What progress are we making against agreed outcomes and indicators, 
what are the baselines, are those OK, where do we want to be? 

• What is the story behind the baseline, the causes of the trends and the 
issues lying behind them? 

• What is the curve we want to turn? 

• What are the information requirements, the gaps in our knowledge? 

• Who are the key partners and what is their contribution to our shared 
indicators and outcomes? 

• What works, what is the practical strategy and action plan?       
 

Regular OBA report cards provide partners with timely, up dates on progress, 
highlighting the extent to which curves are turning, the effectiveness of 
actions, and key accomplishments.  They also describe any new actions or 
stories behind the latest trends.  

An important OBA principle is that the most powerful indicators are those that 
draw out a number of linked indicators and issues.  Work in one area 
inevitably leads to a range of inter-related issues.  The 15 key indicators 
with our 3 obsessions have been chosen because they are powerful 
“can openers” that provide a way to tackle the complex issues affecting 
the most vulnerable.  Rapid progress on these indicators will have a 
“knock on” effect in other areas.  

Page 23



 

 

8

Examples of these links for the 3 obsession indicators are shown in the table 
below.   
 
Linkages between indicators and issues 
 

Indicator Examples of linked indicators and issues 

Looked after 
children 

LAC status is often linked to other issues that have a significant 
impact on outcomes for children and their families, eg. substance 
misuse, mental health, access to health services, domestic 
violence, poor school attendance and attainment, worklessness, 
NEET, youth offending, poverty, teenage parenthood.  Demand for 
social care and health services such as such as mental health, 
health visiting, school nursing and emotional health and well being 
services is concentrated in particular areas of the city. 

Young people not 
in employment, 
education or 
training 

Some young people are more likely to be NEET, eg. some BME 
groups, those with learning difficulties and disabilities, care leavers, 
young offenders, poor school attenders, young parents, young 
carers, pregnant young women, homeless YP and those living 
away from their family.  NEET rates vary significantly in different 
areas of the city. Young people who are NEET report feeling bored 
and isolated. They have more chance of long-term unemployment, 
ill health and criminality than their peers. When they do get work, 
they are more likely to be in low-paid jobs. 

School 
attendance 

There is a strong correlation between attendance and attainment 
and between poor attendance, NEET and youth offending.  Pupil 
groups with lower attendance and higher persistent absence are: 
those living in deprived areas, looked after children, pupils eligible 
for free school meals, pupils with special education needs. Overall 
pupils of black and minority ethnic heritage have levels of 
attendance above the Leeds average, however, pupils of 
bangladeshi, mixed Black Caribbean and white, eastern european 
and traveller heritage have significantly lower levels of attendance. 

 
OBA workshops focusing on turning 3 curves- reducing the number of looked 
after children, increasing school attendance and reducing the number of 
young people not in employment, education or training have been held.  
Further workshops will roll out the approach in localities across the city and 
the OBA programme will be progressively rolled out across the partnership, 
and then across the other partnership boards in the Leeds Initiative. 
 
Initial action plans arising from existing work and the OBA workshops are on 
page 16 onwards.  Regular quarterly reporting on progress against the CYPP 
will reflect our relentless focus on the starting points- our 3 obsessions- but 
will also cover progress against all the other indicators and priorities, and the 
impact work in these other areas has on the 3 obsessions. 
 
Our first ambition is to turn the curve and then significantly improve 
performance for our obsession indicators.   In addition we expect progress 
against all the indicators and priorities.  Progress contributes to the over 
arching vision for a child friendly city and minimising the affects of poverty but 

Page 24



 

 

9

these two areas also have their own dedicated work programmes.  There are 
a range of other important work programmes that support our priorities and 
indicators including the LSCB action plan, the Infant Mortality Action Plan and 
action planning around mental health and emotional health and well being.  A 
review of supporting plans and the links between plans will be included in the 
work programme for the regular cycle of quarterly monitoring and evaluation 
of the CYPP.  
 
 
Performance management and governance 
 
The initial action plans in the CYPP are the headline partnership plan for our 3 
obsessions, highlighting mission critical activity that will make the biggest 
difference.  Service, cluster and team plans across the partnership give more 
detail on all the CYPP priority areas, and action plans will be refined and 
updated through a regular cycle of reporting to the CTB.  Each priority has a 
CTB sponsor (s) and a lead officer from the LCC Children services leadership 
team who together develop work to progress the priority, see page 15 for list 
as at April 2011.  Governance arrangements will be established through a 
regular cycle of meetings between leads, sponsors, and through groups such 
as the 11-19 (25) Learning and support partnership and the Performance and 
planning sub group of the CTB.  The role of the CTB sponsor is as follows: 
 
Work with the CSLT lead for the priority to 
 

• maximise the resources available to tackle the priority 

• secure the commitment of partners to progressing the priority 

• ensure that partnership activity takes account of the priority 

• promote the importance of the priority  

• identify and tackle barriers to progress 

• contribute to rapid progress on the 3 obsessions 

• review, scrutinise and challenges progress  

• support evaluation and the celebration of achievements 
 
The CSLT lead for the priority would have lead responsibility for this activity 
and would also work with the performance management leads to: 

 

• lead cross service and agency action planning and evaluation of 
progress 

• regular report cards detailing progress 

• make sure that work on the priorities is reflected in the relevant service 
and team plans 

• make sure that OBA is embedded as a means to driving improvement 
in the priority area 

 
(NB. The CTB and LSCB share responsibility for priority 1. As well as the 
CYPP action plan for this priority there is also a detailed LSCB action plan. 
The governance arrangements for this are through the LSCB and its three sub 
groups, especially the LSCB Performance Management Sub Group.) 

Page 25



 

 

10

What is it like growing up in Leeds? 
 
There are approaching 180,000 children and young people (CYP) in Leeds.  
Recent rises in the birth rate have increased the number of 0-14 years olds by 
13%.  For the majority growing up in Leeds is mostly a good and positive 
experience, and recent inspections of children’s services in Leeds are positive 
about levels of performance and our capacity to improve.   Below is a headline 
summary of our needs analysis: 
 
 
Children and young people are safe from harm 

• The majority of CYP report feeling safe but children and young people 
are present at 43% of the 8,000+ cases of domestic violence that 
happen each year in Leeds. 

• There are nearly 1,500 looked after children, 80+% because of abuse 
or neglect, social care workloads are increasing- up 44% over the last 
year.  Over 750 children and young people have child protection plans. 
This has a significant impact on health services such as mental health, 
health visiting, school nursing and emotional health and well being 
services. 

• Leeds is less deprived than other large cities and average income is 
above regional averages but 23% of CYP- over 33,000- live in poverty. 

• The majority feel safe but some concerns about safety at night & on 
public transport.   

 
Children and young people do well in learning and have the skills for life 

• There have been significant reductions in the number of young people 
not in education, employment or training in recent years, but the figure 
remains too high. 

• The number of CYP getting 5 good GCSEs is increasing and is 
currently over 50% but some groups do much less well.   

• Only 53% achieve a good level of development in the early years 
phase leading up to primary school and 1 in 4 do not do as well as 
expected in maths and english by the end of primary school. 

• Despite recent improvements over 3000 secondary pupils and 1000 
primary are classed as persistently absent from school.  

 
Children and young people choose healthy lifestyles 

• Levels of healthy eating and physical activity are improving but 10% of 
5 year olds and 20% of 11 year olds are obese 

• 10-20% report involvement in substance abuse. 

• Poor health outcomes and poor access to health services tend to be 
concentrated in particular, deprived areas of the city and some groups 
of CYP are much more likely to experience a range of poor health 
outcomes 

 
Children and young people have fun growing up 

• 80% of CYP report that they enjoy life but CYP would like more places 
to go and things to do 

Page 26



 

 

11

• Minority (17%) involved in bullying others and grafitti (22%) 
 

Children and young people are active citizens who feel they have voice 
& influence 

• 70% of CYP say they have at least a fair amount of influence in school 
and 56% that they have a fair amount of influence in the community 

• 2023 or 2.7% of 10-17  year olds commit one or more offence 

 
We also know that some groups of children and young people are more likely 
to experience difficulties as they grow up, and that they often experience 
multiple difficulties.  These groups typically have significantly worse outcomes 
than the average outcome for Leeds. Some poor outcomes are concentrated 
in particular areas of the city. 
 
Concentrations of poor outcomes in particular areas 

• Relatively high rates of teenage pregnancy- as high as 1 in 10 in some 
deprived areas 

• Rising demand for social care and health services is concentrated in a 
small number of  areas of the city 

• In some wards the NEET rate is as low as 3% in others it is close to 
15%  

• Average educational outcomes, attendance, health outcomes and 
access to health services at all ages are significantly worse for those 
from deprived backgrounds 

• There have been improvements in infant mortality & low birth weight 
but they remain 50% higher in deprived areas  

 
 
Outcomes for particular groups of children and young people 

• Some BME groups, those living away from their family and those with 
learning difficulties and disabilities are more likely to be NEET,  

• Care leavers,  young parents/carers,  those pregnant or homeless or 
from deprived backgrounds are also more likely to be NEET 

• Looked after children, those with learning difficulties and disabilities 
and those from some BME groups are much more likely to be excluded 
from school 

• Average educational outcomes, attendance, health outcomes and 
access to health services at all ages are significantly worse for those 
with learning difficulties or disabilities 

• Average educational outcomes, attendance, health outcomes and 
access to health services at all ages are significantly worse for some 
BME groups 

• Those who are NEET were often poor attenders & low achievers at 
school and are involved in youth offending- a third of persistent 
absentees are also young offenders 

• Those with poor educational and health outcomes at an early age are 
likely to  have poor outcomes throughout their learning and beyond  

Page 27



 

 

12

Transforming children’s services in Leeds: Change programmes, 
Progress & Challenges  
 
The OBA change programme provides a common language to tackle 
challenges and accelerate progress so that Leeds can move further along the 
journey to excellent outcomes for children and young people. 
 
A parallel development is the change programme arising from the 
commitment to improving outcomes through enhanced integrated, multi 
agency, locality working across the partnership.  The programme is also a 
response to complex legislative changes, increased demand for social care 
and health services, recent inspections and performance trends.  Key features 
of the transformation programme are: 
 

• Good and improving schools and children’s centres working with 
partners through a network of local extended service clusters.  

• Strong clusters providing locally led and managed universal plus 
provision, targeted services and child protection teams with a clear 
relationship with specialist services operating at an area or city level. 
(‘Universal plus’ is shorthand phrase to describe the expectation that 
universal services have increasing responsibility for building the capacity to 
deliver preventative and extended services to meet additional need) 

• Delivering the Healthy Child Programme (HCP) as the core early 
intervention and prevention public health programme. HCP offers every 
family a programme of screening tests, immunisations, developmental 
reviews, and information and guidance to support parenting and 
healthy choices. 

• Local  targeted services will cut across service, professional discipline 
and partner boundaries ensuring that a lead professional can be 
appropriately allocated (and supported) to meet needs.  

• Three area based services focusing on improving outcomes for looked 
after children and three area based services focusing on improving 
outcomes for children and young people with complex needs. 

• Schools and local collaborations of schools will continue to develop 
provision for children with behavioural difficulties with the Council as a 
provider of last resort. 

• A revised city wide integrated directorate providing leadership and 
management and the range of business support and commissioning 
functions. 

 
Progress 

 

• The 2010 Ofsted annual assessment confirmed that many services are 
performing good or better.  

• Good or better outcomes in inspections of Fostering, Adoption, Youth 
Offending and the unannounced inspection of social care contact, 
referral and assessment processes. 

• GCSE results in 2009/10 best ever for the city with some improvements 
for most under achieving groups. 

Page 28



 

 

13

• Improvements also delivered in other key indicators – such as the 
number of young people not in education, employment or training 

• Strong governance in place through a revision of the arrangements for 
the Children’s Trust Board and Leeds Safeguarding Children Board.  

 
 
Challenges  

 

• Delivering significant improvements in the key performance indicators 
in the CYPP 2010-15, particularly “narrowing the gap” for those who do 
less well than the average for the city. 

• Responding to increased demand for services arising from increases in 
the birth rate across the city and in particular localities. 

• Maintaining and accelerating performance against the background of 
significant increases in social care and health services workload. 

• Narrowing persistent health inequalities against a background of 
complex changes to health services and reduced budgets for key 
intervention programmes. 

• Supporting strong clusters of schools in the context of new relationship 
with schools, following the Coalition Government’s changes to the way 
local authorities support schools. 

 
 
Budget issues & the development of more integrated, local services 
 
The CTB is developing a joint financial and investment plan to enable the 
delivery of the Children and Young People’s Plan with an initial focus on the 
priority of ‘helping children to live in safe and supportive families’.  This means 
that partners will align current spend and future investment in key areas to 
underpin commissioning and service plans in order to have maximum impact 
and benefit.  The plan will initially cover intensive support to children and 
families, including mental health provision and joint funding arrangements for 
placements that require funding from more than one agency.   
   

An important element of the Children’s services budget is LCC’s decision to 
protect the services that support the most vulnerable children by recognising 
demand pressures such as the number of referrals to social care, increasing 
numbers of children with a child protection plan and the increasing numbers 
looked after in the care system.  The budget 2011/12 budget provides 
additional funding of £11.2m to meet demand pressures.     
 
The integration of services change programme across the Children Leeds 
partnership with revised arrangements for commissioning services will provide 
opportunities to deliver services in new ways, bringing together the best of 
voluntary, private and other statutory sector partners in localities and shaping 
more health and social care services around our schools and children’s 
centres. Children Leeds teams will draw on a range of skills sets to deliver 
intensive support services to those who need them most.   
  
 

Page 29



 

 

14

Minimising the effects of child poverty on children and families 
 
Child poverty is at the root of many, if not most, poor outcomes for children. 
Tackling the effects of child poverty and the impact it has upon life chances 
and choices has always been a policy driver in children’s services. It has been 
an important part of each CYPP that has been developed in Leeds and is a 
key cross cutting theme of the new CYPP.  The scale and complexity of the 
causes of child poverty mean that concerted effort to tackle the issue must be 
everybody’s business and involve work across services well beyond the 
domain of services to adults or children.  
 
The Child Poverty Act 2010 placed a statutory responsibility on the local 
authority to undertake a review of all current needs assessment to identify key 
child poverty priorities.  The Child Poverty Strategic Outcome Group, including 
all key partners, have constructed the needs analysis and developed the 
emerging priorities.  Delivery of these priorities will be driven through all 5 city 
priority plans.  The strategy proposed will not be a separate document but a 
simple working plan of key priorities, objectives and success measures that 
will be incorporated into the five plans.  
 
The needs assessment undertaken for the new CYPP was central to the child 
poverty needs assessment. There is a clear synergy in the priorities of the 
CYPP and emerging priorities for the child poverty strategy. There is an 
emphasis on family support services that include wider issues of financial 
support to families, support to combat worklessness and therapeutic and 
intensive family support services. These family support issues are currently 
strong priorities for commissioning of health services and significant in the 
work of other council directorates.  
 

The CYPP 2011-15 will be updated to include the action plans arising from 
city wide approach to child poverty issues as soon as the details of the 
governance and management of cross plan links have been finalised. 
 
 

The development of Leeds as a Child Friendly City 
 
In a similar way the emerging programme of work around the development of 
a Child friendly city will be included in the ongoing amendments to the CYPP 
and reported back through the report card process.  Initial work over and 
above work on the 14 indicators is focusing on the following areas: 
 
a)  Consult with children and young people to identify a small number of areas 
that they think are priorities to work on and establish baselines. 
b)  Develop a toolkit to be used to engage partners and local organisations 
and businesses in the Child Friendly City movement and gain their 
commitment to a specific pledge to help.   
c)  Identify Child Friendly City ambassadors Leeds whose role will be to meet 
with partners, organisations and businesses to explore what they can do to 
further a Child friendly Leeds.

Page 30



 

 

 

CYYP:  CTB sponsors and LCC children’s services delivery leads- April 2011 

Ambition:   Child Friendly City CTB Sponsor: 
Cllr Blake, CTB Chair 

LCC Lead:  
Nigel Richardson 

Outcomes Priorities Obsessions CTB sponsors: LCC Children’s 
Services Leads:  

help children to live in safe and supportive families LAC Jane Held,  
Bridget Emery 

Safe from harm 
 

ensure the most vulnerable are protected 
 

 Chris Radelaar 

 
Jackie Wilson 

supporting children to be ready for learning 
 

 Ann Pemberton 

 
improving behaviour attendance and achievement 

School 
attendance 

Simon Whitehead,  
Tony Adlard  

 
young people in employment, education, or training 

NEET Martin Fleetwood   
Diana Towler 

Do well in 
learning/ skills 
for life 

improve support where there are additional health needs 
 

 Diane Reynard 

 
 
 
 
Simon Flowers 

encourage activity and healthy eating  Hilary Devitt Choose healthy 
life styles 

promote sexual health  Ian Cameron 

 
Sarah Sinclair 

Have fun 
growing up 

provide play, leisure, culture and sporting opportunities  Alan Bolton Sally Threlfall 

reduce youth crime and anti-social behaviour 
 

 Sam Prince Active citizens 

increase participation, voice and influence 
 

 Neil Moloney 

 
Mariana Pexton 

Cross – cutting theme : minimise the effects of poverty Cllr Blake, CTB Chair Sally Threlfall 

P
a
g
e
 3

1



 

 

16 

  
Initial action plans for the 3 obsessions- Looked after children 

Strategic Outcome- All children and young people are safe from 
harm 

Accountable Director – Nigel Richardson 
Delivery Lead- Jackie Wilson 

CTB Sponsors- Jane Held & Bridget Emery 

 
Priorities for this outcome are 1) help children to live in safe and supportive families. 2) Ensure that the most vulnerable are protected. 

Key indicator and initial focus for work on this priority 

The number of looked after children - baseline at January 2011- 1,434 

• The high costs of placements and requirement to target consequent budget pressure (£13.7M) 

• Numbers of LAC admissions to care and their duration 

• Appropriateness of all placements to meet priority outcomes through care planning & exit from care 
 

Priority partnership action plan 2011/12 
 

 

Action Targeting Action Owner Contributing 
Officers/Teams 

Milestone or Target 

Information Management   

1. Improve information 
sharing practice and 
governance across all 
partners in the interests of 
the child. 

City wide to inform top 100 
methodology working and 
reduce risk to children 

John Kearsley All service performance 
and IKM managers 
ICT 

Safe information sharing practice 
and protocols in place and 
understood by workforce 
Safe e-mail, data sharing, 
scanning and printing facilities 
available at locality levels 

2. Develop improved 
management information, 
ICT systems and 

City wide  Saleem Tariq Steve Hayes 
Richard Storrie 

Support needs analysis & 
segmentation analysis 
Information to allow targeted 

P
a
g
e
 3

2



 

 

17 

performance management 
capability 

activities against priority 
areas/cohorts. 
Replacement core ICT systems 
specification which supports 
managing LAC 

3. Workload analysis to 
provide evidence based 
approach to all referral and 
subsequent activities, 
including quality assurance 
of referrals 

Region, city, area and 
cluster; 
All referral agents. 

Saleem Tariq Performance 
management 
IKM team 

Improved appropriateness of 
referrals; better quality information 
on receipt; best practice applied 
uniformly across service, e.g. use 
of CAF, thresholds applied etc. 

Early Intervention and 
Edge of Care 

    

In-house provision 
External Provision 

Sarah Sinclair Jody Sheppard 
Rob Kenyon 
Child & family targeted 
support 

Inventory of providers and 
assurance assessment. 
Tight intensive family support 
specification focused on 
vulnerable families and those on 
the edge of care 
Re commissioned services in 
place 

4. Co-ordinate and re –
commission all family 
intervention projects and 
intensive family support.  
 
 
 
 
Audit effectiveness/ 
evidence  for all Edge of 
Care services 
  

All intensive support 
services to children and 
families 

Sue May Tom Bowerman 
Marie Jackson 
Richard Chillery 
Munaf Patel 
Maggie Smith 
Contracting team for 
commissioned services 

All develop measures which 
evidence their contribution to 
keeping children out of care/ 
returning children from in-care 
placements 

5.  Refocus targeted Youth City Wide Jean Davey Sally Coe Increase in participation in positive 

P
a
g
e
 3

3



 

 

18 

Work support to provide 
priority access for 
vulnerable groups 

Sue May 
Maggie Smith 

activities for LAC and other 
vulnerable groups 

6.  Develop assertive 
outreach and core support 
packages 

City Wide Saleem Tariq Sue May 
Jean Davey 
Multi Agency 
 
 

Portfolio of packages available 
and commissioning governance 
framework in place. 
Restructure ‘School Away’ 
Alternatives to admissions 
available through development of 
resource packages, short term 
support etc. 

7. Develop Intensive 
Prevention Team to work 
with children 10+ who are 
on edge of care 

Children 10+ on edge of 
care 

Saleem Tariq Sue May 
Jean Davey 
Multi Agency 

Reduction in 10+ children 
admitted to care  

8. Increase priority access 
to quality  early years 
services for parents and 
young children 
  

Top 100 methodology  in 
localities 
0 to 5 review 
Target service where known 
high risk attributes identified 
e.g. 

• Domestic violence 

• Substance abuse 

• Mental health 

• Offending 

• Teenage 
parents/carers 

 

Sally Threlfall Andrea Richardson 
Jane Mischenko 
Rob Kenyon 
Helen Rowlands 
Sal Tariq 
Sue May 

Clear service entitlement across 
health, early education and family 
support for families at risk 
Reduction in the numbers of LAC 
who are under 5   

P
a
g
e
 3

4



 

 

19 

9. Engage Children’s 
Centres and Family 
Resource Centres to work 
intensively with identified 
families/children at edge of 
care/high risk and those 
who could potentially 
escalate to edge of 
care/high risk 

Top 100 methodology 
Think Family- family CAF 
Identified  priority 
localities/families/children 

Sally Threlfall Andrea Richardson Reduction in the numbers of LAC 
who are under 5   

10. Develop capacity for  
targeted services in 
clusters to provide focused 
support  for children on the 
edge of care and their 
families 

Top 100 methodology in 
clusters – capacity to 
support multi agency teams 
and planning 
MST 
FGC 
0_16 CAMHS 
Youth Offending Service  
Signpost 
Intensive family support 
FNP 
2 year old pilot 

Jim Hopkinson Andrea Richardson 
Sue May 
Saleem Tariq 
Ken Morton 

All clusters using top 100 
methodology 
Reduction in the number of 
children who are looked after 

11.  Audit effectiveness/ 
evidence  for all Edge of 
Care services  

All intensive support 
services to children and 
families 

Sue May Tom Bowerman 
Marie Jackson 
Richard Chillery 
Munaf Patel 
Maggie Smith 
Contracting team for 
commissioned services 

All develop measures which 
evidence their contribution to 
keeping children out of care/ 
returning children from in-care 
placements 

P
a
g
e
 3

5



 

 

20 

Saleem Tariq/ Sue 
May 

Andrea Richardson 
Jim Hopkinson 
Ken Morton 
Cluster leaders 
 
 
 
 
 

Reduction in the number of 
children in care 
Increased numbers of children 
with safe exit pathway from care  

12.  Develop a 60 day plan 
for all children on cusp of 
entering care or who have 
just entered care to 
establish whether an 
intensive family support 
plan can remove risk or 
bring the child quickly out of 
care  
 
 
Develop assertive outreach 
and core support packages 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
City wide in clusters 
 

Saleem Tariq Sue May 
Jean Davey 
Multi Agency 
 
 

Portfolio of packages available 
and commissioning governance 
framework in place. 
Restructure ‘School Away’ 
Alternatives to admissions 
available through development of 
resource packages, short term 
support etc. 

13. Strengthen common 
assessment processes and 
other integrated processes 
to support multi agency 
teams around children at 
risk 

City wide Sally Threlfall Mary Armitage 
Rob Kenyon 
Chris Lingard 
Andrea Robinson 

Business case to inform case 
record keeping system for 
families/ children with escalating 
risk 

Capacity development , commissioning, funding and 
governance arrangements 

 

14. Initiate foster carer 
recruitment campaign to 
increase in-house capacity 
and choice. 

City wide and  regional Sue May Placement Service 
Communications 
Team(s) 

Net increase of 20 in-house carers 
per annum (recruit 40). 

P
a
g
e
 3

6



 

 

21 

15. Design and implement 
in-house foster carer 
competency, terms and 
conditions review. 

In-House foster carers, 
Special Guardians, Adopters 

Sue May CYPSC HoS 
Communications Team 
Commissioning 
Finance 

Revised 4 levels of foster carers 
introduced. 
New payment regime designed 
and transitioned to. 
Reduced ‘unit’ costs for in-house 
foster carers achieved. 
Agreed financial strategy for 
SGOs and Adopters. 
 

16. Review adoption 
service recruitment and 
placement process. 

Adoption Services Sue May Asst. HoS LAC 
Placements Service 
 

Revised strategy reflecting new 
guidelines, e.g. ethnicity 
Increased numbers of children 
placed for adoption 
Increased numbers of adopters 
recruited and approved. 
Reduced time-scale to recruit and 
place children once approved 
 

17. Revise strategy for 
residential provision and  
refocus based on needs 
assessment 

All residential provision. Sue May Residential Service 
Children’s Rights 
Ofsted 
Commissioning. 

OBA event for strategy 
development 
Immediate change in provision at 
Squirrel Way. 
Develop need based provision 
plans: i.e. emergency provision; 
special placements (e.g. for 
pregnant LAC) 
Develop commissioning plans 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 3

7



 

 

22 

18. Improve funding, 
commissioning & 
operational management 
and governance of 
placements 

All placement providers. 
Admissions to care and 
major changes to care 
provision. 

Jackie Wilson/ 
Sarah Sinclair 

Sue May 
JDAR, MALAP, Educ & 
Soc.Care joint body. 
HoSDaR. 
Placements Service 
Partner Agencies 

Block purchase contracts 
available. 
Improved MI on placements, 
carers and external provision 
available. 
Number of jointly funded 
placements. 
Ensure fair and equitable funding 
from all partner agencies 
 
 

 
Care planning 

19. Redesign of Social 
Care LAC/Child Protection 
service provision 

City Wide Jackie Wilson All integrated service 
providers 

Approval and funding by May 
2011 
CYPSC staff into new structure by 
Sept. 2011. develop integrated 
teams by March 2012 
 

20. Creation of the 
Integrated Safeguarding 
Unit  

City Wide (3 area teams + 
corporate) 

Jackie Wilson LSCB 
HoS  ISU 
Education 
 

Phase 1 (CYPSC and Education) 
in post by Sept. 2011 (providing 
capacity to improve conferences & 
care planning/reviews. 
 

P
a
g
e
 3

8



 

 

23 

21.  Explore options for 
quicker and more efficient 
exits from care. 

All LAC reviewing 
permanency planning, court 
discharge processes, 
prioritising return to home, 
looking at barriers to exit 
and return to home 

Jackie Wilson All HoS 
Legal 
Partner agencies 
Schools 

Targeted review schedule for all 
LAC by June 2011 to give 
prioritised cohort(s) for exit 
strategies. 
Increased Sect20 children 
returning home. 

22. Review of Pathway 
Planning service delivery 

All LAC and care leavers Sue May Adult Social Care 
Health & all Partner 
Agencies 

Robust planning achieved. 
Reviews 
Cost/risk assessments 
Check against National PIs 

23. Early intervention 
where placement is at risk 
of breakdown to provide 
targeted support to 
child/carer/family 

Refocus of Therapeutic 
social worker’s priorities and 
include 1.8FTE clinical 
psychologists (Health 
funded) 

Sue May CAMHS 
Schools 

Completed carers assessments 
(Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaires) 

 
 
NB.  In addition to the milestones for individual actions shown above there are also a number of generic milestones for all 
actions, eg. 
 
Reduction in LAC admissions 
Reduction in number of referrals 
Number of families and children worked with.   
Number of children kept out of the care system.   
Reduction in days children spend in short term admissions/respite.  
Reduction in the numbers of placement moves per child 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 3

9



 

 

24 

Initial action plans for the 3 obsessions- Attendance 
 

Strategic Outcome- All children and young people do well in 
learning and have the skills for life 

Accountable Director – Nigel Richardson 
Delivery Lead- Simon Flowers 

CTB Sponsors- Simon Whitehead & Tony Adlard 

 
Priorities for this outcome are 1) improve behaviour, attendance and attainment. 2) Increase numbers in employment, education or training. 

 

Key indicator and initial focus for work on this priority (see separate action plan for numbers in employment, education or training) 

 
The level of attendance at primary school- 94.3% as at end of half term 4 2009/10 
The level of attendance at secondary school- 91.6% as at end of half term 4 2009/10 
 
 

Priority partnership action plan 2011/12 
 

 

Action Targeting Action Owner Contributing Officers or 
agencies 

Milestone or Target 

1.  Target children with a 
60-70% absence rate, 
carrying out OBA exercises 
at cluster level to establish 
the local reasons for low 
attendance and agree local 
solutions and interventions.   

Priority clusters determined 
by need and leadership 
capacity 

Jancis Andrew & 
Ken Morton through 
Multi agency 
implementation 
group 

Area inclusion 
partnerships 
Cluster chairs and 
managers  
Integrated service 
Leaders   
OBA facilitators  
Head teachers 
Children Leeds area 
partnerships 

 
 
Project Brief March 2011 
Delivery Summer term 2011 

P
a
g
e
 4

0



 

 

25 

2.  Evaluate and test the 
local & city wide service 
redesign implications of the 
60-70% absence rate 
project for locality based 
children’s services. 

City wide Multi agency 
implementation 
group  

As above plus Children 
Leeds Performance & 
information teams 

Evaluation data end of summer 
term 
Project Brief August 2011 
Commence delivery September 
2011 

3.  Engage with the parents 
and families of children with 
low attendance in year 1 of 
Primary school. 

Target Early Years settings 
& Children’s Centres where 
low attendance is an issue 

Jancis Andrew & 
Andrea Richardson 

Early Years 
Surestart 
Area inclusion 
partnerships 
Children Leeds area 
partnerships 
Cluster chairs and 
managers 

As per 60-70% project 

4.  Engage with Police 
Community Safety Officers 
and Safer Schools officers 
to establish cluster level 
intelligence about 
attendance patterns. Use 
this for targeted truancy 
interventions at cluster & 
school level. 

Target clusters with worst 
levels of attendance 

Jancis Andrew,  
Bob Bowman & 
Wendy Winterburn 

Police  
Cluster chairs and 
managers 

Intervention model developed by 
September 2011 
 
By December 2011 implemented 
in 1 cluster with evaluation 

5.  Produce and promote 
across the city a common 
script, describing the 
importance of attendance 
and the impact of low 
attendance.    

City wide Jancis Andrew Communications teams 
Elected members 
Cluster chairs and 
managers 

Dissemination in September 2011 

P
a
g
e
 4

1



 

 

26 

6.  Develop an “attendance 
pledge” for individuals, 
agencies and schools 
across the city to sign up 
to, including high profile 
publication of the pledge.   
The pledge will publicly 
register actions to be taken 
by the person/institution 
signing the pledge to 
improve attendance.   
Possible part of wider Child 
friendly city pledge.  

City wide To be developed as 
part of Child 
Friendly City 
Programme 

Communications teams 
Elected members 
Cluster chairs and 
managers 

Dissemination in September 2011 
linked to ledge, see below 

7.  Incentivise good 
attendance through city 
wide promotion of scheme 
to engage local agencies 
and service providers from 
all sectors in provision of 
rewards for good 
attendance. 

Children and young people, 
parents, carers and families 
where attendance is low 

Jancis Andrew Council Leisure services  
Local Businesses 
Communication teams 

Initial launch September 2011 
Evaluation end of December 2011 
 

 

P
a
g
e
 4

2



 

 

27 

Initial action plans for the 3 obsessions- NEET 

Strategic Outcome- All children and young people do well in 
learning and have the skills for life 

Accountable Director – Nigel Richardson 
Delivery Lead- Sally Threlfall 

CTB Sponsors- Martin Fleetwood & Diana Towler 

 
Priorities for this outcome are 1) improve behaviour, attendance and achievement.  2) Increase numbers in employment, education or training.    
3)  Support children to be ready for learning.  4) Improve support where there are additional health needs. 

 

Key indicator and initial focus for work on this priority 

 
The percentage of young people aged 16-18 who are not in education, employment or training- baseline- 8.3% (average monthly figure for 
November-January 2010/11) 

Priority partnership action plan 2011/12 
 

 

Action Targeting Action Owner Contributing Officers Milestone or Target 

1.  Use of Identified 
Progression Pathways and 
Support (IPPS) process in 
all schools to identify a 
learning pathway and 
progression route for every 
young person.  

Process includes identifying 
young people who are at risk 
of becoming NEET, and 
provision of targeted 
support. 

Richard Amos Multi agency NEET 
action plan group 
Schools & colleges- 
federations 
Off site learning 
providers 
Post 16 learning 
providers 
 

All secondary schools carry out 
needs analysis of Year 8 by XXX 
(XXX= dates to be agreed with 
schools) 
 
Identify needs of  young people 
are least likely to remain in 
learning after Year 11 by XXX  
 
Plan learning programmes and 
support packages to meet needs 
of identified young people by XXX 

2.  Analysis of young Young people who are Mary Brittle Connexions providers Identify occupational preferences 

P
a
g
e
 4

3



 

 

28 

people NEET and their 
needs. Improve the 
recruitment of young 
people to available 
programmes. By sharing 
information with potential 
learning providers on young 
people NEET by 
occupational preference 
and qualification level. 
 

currently NEET. (NB.  Need 
to obtain their permission to 
share their contact details 
with learning providers 

Learning providers 
Schools & colleges 
College Principals 
Confederations, Clusters 
 

and qualifications of current cohort 
by  June 2011 
 
System to match young people 
against current offer by June 2011 

3.  Development of 
personal tutoring model All 
children and young people 
have a school based 
personal tutor, additional 
mentoring support available 
where appropriate. 

 to be agreed Schools, Children’s 
services Mentoring 
teams 

Roll out of personal tutoring model 
to all schools by XXX 
 
Additional mentoring support from 
Children Leeds by XXX 

4.  Development of models 
for parental engagement to 
improve the progression 
information and advice 
available to parents through 
schools. 
 

All High schools, parents / 
carers 

Andrea Cowans Schools, Clusters, 
Confederations 

Identification of successful models 
for parental engagement by 
December 2011 
 
Dissemination of model to all high 
schools by April 2012 

P
a
g
e
 4

4



 

 

29 

5.  Development of 
resources and training for 
primary schools on career 
learning, including activities 
to support the primary 
secondary transition.  

All Leeds primary and 
secondary schools 

Terry Walsh Primary and secondary 
schools, Confederations, 
Clusters, Children Leeds 
14 to 19 staff 

Workshops delivered to primary 
school staff by December 2011 
 
Resource pack made available to 
all Leeds primary schools by 
December 2011 

6.  Developments of 
briefing for all staff working 
with children, young people 
and families to understand 
the value and importance of 
learning, aspirations, 
attendance and 
requirements of RPA.  

All Children Leeds staff and 
relevant staff in other 
directorates 
 

Mary Brittle Children Leeds education 
and learning teams 

Developed and distributed by April 
2011 

7.  OBA workshops at 
cluster level to identify 
specific actions around 
reducing NEET to be 
carried out at a local level.   

Priority clusters determined 
by need and leadership 
capacity 

Ken Morton Multi agency NEET 
action plan group  

OBA cluster roll out plan to Cluster 
managers March 2011.  Project 
Brief August 2011. Commence 
delivery September 2011 

P
a
g
e
 4

5



 

 

30 

8.  Raise awareness with  
secondary schools, SILCs 
and PRUs around their  
new duties for careers 
guidance from April 2012  

All secondary schools SILCs 
and PRUs 

Andrea Cowans 11-19 (25) IAG and 
progression group 
Connexions 
Schools 
Further education 
colleges, virtual college 

Briefings delivered to schools staff 
by Oct 2011. 
 
Development of models to ensure 
that all young people receive 
appropriate information, advice 
and guidance to plan for learning 
up to 18 by Jan 2012. 
 
Models in all schools by April 2012 
Resources available for schools 
on Leeds Pathways by Sept 2011 
 

9.  Awareness raising for 
young people in KS4 and 
parents / carers of financial 
support available to young 
people and families for 
young people to continue in 
learning post 16 and to 
higher education 

Children, young people and 
their families in KS4  

Terry Walsh Children’s services 14 to 
19 staff  
Connexions 

Information on financial support 
available from September 2011 on 
Leeds Pathways website by April 
2011. 
 
Connexions PAs undertake 
awareness raising in schools by 
May 2011. 

P
a
g
e
 4

6



 

 

31 

10.  Development of online 
resources to support 
learner progression into all 
post 16 full time learning 
pathways and  
apprenticeships, including 
careers and labour market 
information,  information on 
employability, skills and 
enterprise, and an 
interactive online advice 
and guidance service for 
young people and families 
 

All High schools, parents / 
carers 

11-19(25) IAG and 
Progression group 
Connexions 

secondary schools 
Children’s services 14 to 
19 staff 

Online resources developed and 
piloted by Sept 2011 
Leeds Pathways developments 
implemented by April 2012 

 

 

 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 4

7



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 18TH MAY, 2011 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor K Wakefield in the Chair 

 Councillors A Blackburn, J Blake, A Carter, 
S Golton, P Gruen, R Lewis, T Murray, 
A Ogilvie and L Yeadon 

 
 Councillors J Dowson and R Finnigan – Non-Voting Advisory Members 
 
 

214 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
RESOLVED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows:- 
 
(a) Appendix 2 to the report referred to in Minute No. 225, under the terms 

of Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(1) and on the grounds 
that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information by reason of the fact that 
the information contained within the appendix relates to individuals who 
are current tenants of the properties leased by Leeds Federated 
Housing Association from the Council. 

 
(b) Appendix 1 to the report referred to in Minute No. 220, under the terms 

of Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds 
that the information contained within the appendix relates to the 
financial or business affairs of the Council. It is considered that it is not 
in the public interest to disclose this information at this point in time as 
it could undermine the Council’s bid to the Department for Transport 
(DfT), particularly as the New Generation Transport bid will be 
submitted earlier than competing bids from other promoters. It is 
therefore considered that whilst there may be a public interest in 
disclosure, this information will be publicly available from the DfT after 
all bids from promoters have been received.  

 
215 Declaration of Interests  

Councillors Wakefield, Ogilvie, Murray, Yeadon, R Lewis, Dowson, Gruen and 
Blake all declared personal interests in the item entitled, ‘Primrose High 
School’, due to their respective memberships of the Co-operative Group 
(Minute No. 223 refers).  
 
Councillors Murray and Golton both declared personal interests in the item 
entitled, ‘Property Exchange with Leeds Federated Housing Association’, due 

Page 49



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

to their respective positions as an Area Panel Member and a Board Director 
of Aire Valley Homes ALMO (Minute No. 225 refers).  
 
Councillor Gruen declared a personal interest in the item entitled, ‘John 
Smeaton Academy’, due to his position as a Governor of John Smeaton High 
School (Minute No. 222 refers).  
 
Councillor A Carter declared a personal interest in the item entitled, 
‘Submission of the Best and Final Bid for the NGT Scheme’ due to being a 
member of the West Yorkshire Integrated Transport Authority (Minute No. 220 
refers .   
 

216 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 30th March 2011 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

217 Scrutiny Board Recommendations - Leeds Bradford International Airport 
- Provision for Public Hire Taxis  
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report providing 
a summary of the responses to the recommendations arising from Scrutiny 
Board (City Development) inquiry into ‘Leeds Bradford International Airport: 
Provision for Public Hire Taxis’ and inviting the Board to pronounce on the 
recommendation presented.  
 
Councillor J Procter, the Chair of the Scrutiny Board (City Development) 
attended the meeting to present the Board’s findings. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the response to the Scrutiny Board (City Development) 

recommendation be noted. 
 
(b) That more detailed plans be drawn up for the provision of a hackney 

carriage stand at Whitehouse Lane adjacent to Leeds Bradford 
International Airport, with a further report being submitted to the 
September 2011 Board meeting, detailing the progress which has been 
made in respect of this matter and outlining a proposed way forward, 
with further negotiations being undertaken with all relevant parties in 
the meantime. 

 
218 Natural Resources and Waste Development Plan Document: Formal 

Submission  
Further to Minute No. 108, 3rd November 2010, the Acting Director of City 
Development submitted a report detailing the outcomes from the consultation 
exercise undertaken in respect of the Natural Resources and Waste 
Development Plan Document (DPD) and presenting the DPD to the Board, 
with the request that it was recommended to Council for the purposes of 
formal submission to the Secretary of State for Independent Examination. 
 

Page 50



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

RESOLVED - That Council be recommended to approve the Natural 
Resources and Waste Development Plan Document (together with the 
proposed changes, as detailed within Appendix 2 to the submitted report) for 
the purposes of submission to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination, pursuant to Section 20 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 
 
(The matters referred to in this minute, being matters reserved to Council, 
were not eligible for Call In) 
 

219 Proposal to Invest in Additional Energy Saving Measures for Street 
Lighting  
The Acting Director of City Development submitted a report providing an 
overview of the current energy saving initiatives embedded within the current 
street lighting service and outlining the possible opportunities for further 
reductions in energy consumption with recommendations as to how they may 
be achieved.  
 
The Board emphasised the importance of Ward Members’ views being sought 
from the outset of the associated consultation exercise.  
 
The report provided details of the Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Impact Assessment which had been undertaken in respect of the 
proposals on the 16th March 2011. 
 
RESOLVED -  
(a) That the content of the submitted report and the efficiency measures 

already undertaken as part of the street lighting PFI be noted. 

(b) That the potential annual savings of the proposed programme of 
implementation, as outlined within paragraph 3.30 of the submitted 
report be noted. 

(c) That approval be given to officers beginning a process of consultation 
on the proposed programme of implementation, with a view to an 
injection into the capital programme of  £334,700 for 2011 to 2014, 
resulting in an estimated net saving from a reduction in energy 
consumption of £940,860 by 2021. 

220 Submission of the Best and Final Bid for the New Generation Transport 
(NGT) Scheme  
The Acting Director of City Development submitted a report providing an 
update on proposals regarding the development of a high quality public 
transport system in Leeds, outlining details of the next key stage of the 
project, namely, a ‘Best and Final Bid’ to the Secretary of State for Transport, 
whilst also seeking approval for this application to be made at the most 
appropriate time, following consultation being undertaken with the Department 
for Transport (DfT).  
 

Page 51



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

Following consideration of appendix 1 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was 
considered in private at the conclusion of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That approval be given to the submission of the Best and Final Bid to 

the Department for Transport at the most appropriate time for the New 
Generation Transport scheme. 

 
(b) That the local contribution towards the scheme, as detailed within 

exempt appendix 1 to the submitted report, be agreed. 
 
(c) That agreement be given to the Council and Metro underwriting the risk 

of overspend on the project, as previously, any overspends have been 
reported as being shared 50/50 with the DfT. 

 
(d) That the development and undertaking of a lobbying campaign be 

agreed, which will support the Best And Final Bid from the wider Leeds 
community. 

 
221 Interim Affordable Housing Policy  

Further to Minute No. 166, 11th February 2011, the Acting Director of City 
Development submitted a report providing details of the public consultation 
exercise undertaken in respect of the Draft Interim Affordable Housing Policy 
and seeking agreement of the proposed amendments to the policy and its 
immediate implementation. 

The Board emphasised the importance of the policy being kept under review, 
and that it remained flexible enough to adapt to changes within the housing 
market.  

The report provided details of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration  
screening process which had been undertaken on the proposed policy.   

RESOLVED - That the proposed amendments to the draft Interim Affordable 
Housing Policy as set out within appendix A to the submitted report be 
agreed, and that approval be given to the draft Interim Affordable Housing 
Policy (as amended) being implemented with effect from 1st June 2011  (the 
policy would therefore apply to all relevant decisions made on or after 1st June 
2011 – this allows for the call-in period after the Executive Board meeting on 
18th May). 

222 John Smeaton Academy  
The Acting Director of City Development submitted a report seeking approval 
to the Heads of Terms for the leasehold disposal at nil consideration of John 
Smeaton Community College for the Academy scheme to John Smeaton 
Academy, who were the Council’s selected operator for an Academy at this 
school. 
 
RESOLVED - That the disposal of John Smeaton Community College for the 
proposed Academy on a 125 year lease at nil consideration be agreed, and 

Page 52



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

that the Acting Director of City Development be authorised to agree the final 
terms, as detailed within paragraph 3 of the submitted report. 
 

223 Primrose High School  
The Acting Director of City Development submitted a report seeking approval 
to the Heads of Terms for the leasehold disposal at nil consideration of 
Primrose High School to the Co-operative Academy scheme, who were the 
Council’s selected operator for an Academy at this school. 
 
In response to enquiries raised regarding the legal costs associated with the 
proposals detailed within Minute Nos. 222 and 223, officers undertook to 
provide details to the Member in question. 
 
RESOLVED - That the disposal of Primrose High School for the proposed 
Academy on a 125 year lease at nil consideration be agreed, and that the 
Acting Director of City Development be authorised to agree the final terms as 
detailed within paragraph 3 of the submitted report. 
 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

224 Land at West Grange Road, Belle Isle, Leeds, LS10  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report 
regarding the proposed disposal of land at West Grange Road, Belle Isle, to 
Leeds Federated Housing Association at less than best consideration. 
 
RESOLVED - That the disposal of the land at West Grange Road, Belle Isle, 
at less than best consideration be approved. 
 

225 Property Exchange with Leeds Federated Housing Association  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report outlining 
proposals in relation to the transfer of 14 Council owned miscellaneous 
properties to Leeds Federated Housing Association (LFHA) in exchange for 
15 properties, which would contribute towards the wider regeneration of the 
area. 
 
The submitted report presented the following three options: 
Option  A:  Do nothing 
Option B: The purchase of LFHA properties within the Garnets demolition 
area 
Option C: The exchange of LFHA properties within the Garnets demolition 
area for other council owned miscellaneous properties.  
 
Following consideration of appendix 2 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(1), which was 
circulated, considered in private and subsequently retrieved at the conclusion 
of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED -  
(a) That the transfer of 15 LFHA properties in the Garnets clearance area 

to LCC in exchange for 14 Council owned miscellaneous properties to 

Page 53



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

LFHA be authorised, with the difference in value being contributed by 
LFHA towards the costs of demolition on the scheme.  

 
(b) That all properties detailed within exempt appendix 2 to the submitted 

report be declared as surplus for disposal to LFHA.  
 
(c) That the Acting Director of City Development be authorised to approve 

the detailed terms of the transaction.  
 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

226 Basic Need Programme 2012 - Outcome of Consultation on Proposals 
for Primary Provision for 2012  
Further to Minute No. 203, 30th March 2011, the Director of Children’s 
Services submitted a report presenting the outcome of work which had been 
undertaken following the conclusion of the consultation exercise on proposals 
to expand primary provision at three schools in Leeds from September 2012. 
In addition, the report also sought permission to publish a statutory notice for 
one of those schools concerned. 
 
RESOLVED -    
(a) That individual approval be given to the publication of a statutory notice 

for the following:- 

• Proposal two: Change the age range of Roundhay School 
Technology and Language College to 4-18, with a reception 
admission limit of 60, and use land off Elmete Lane for the primary 
provision.  

 
(b) That it be noted that further work will be completed by officers prior to 

bringing forward a recommendation on the following:-   

• Proposal three: Change the age range of Allerton Grange School 
to 4-18, with a reception admission limit of 60, and use land next to 
the school for the primary provision. 

• Proposal six: Expand the capacity of Little London Primary School 
from 210 to 630 using land off Cambridge Road. 

 
227 Outcome of Feasibility on Providing Girls Only Education at a Central 

Location in Leeds  
Further to Minute No. 220, 7th April 2010, the Director of Children’s Services 
submitted a report providing an update on the feasibility work undertaken in 
respect of single sex education provision for girls at a central location in the 
city. 
 
RESOLVED -  
(a) That the Local Authority does not move to establish girls-only 

education in Leeds at this time. 
 
(b) That the Local Authority continues to undertake a choice and diversity 

survey each year during its admissions process in order to inform its 
statutory duty. 

Page 54



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

 
(c) That the Local Authority continues to take account of parental 

responses around choice and diversity, and effectively integrates 
emerging academies and free schools into strategic planning. 

 
228 Scrutiny Board Recommendations - Outdoor Education Centres  

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report providing 
a summary of the responses to the recommendations arising from the 
Scrutiny Board (Children’s Services) inquiry into Outdoor Education Centres.   
 
RESOLVED - That the responses to the recommendations of the Scrutiny 
Board (Children’s Services) arising from its inquiry into Outdoor Education 
Centres be noted.  
 
LEISURE 
 

229 Leeds Libraries and Information Service: Proposals for the Future  
Further to Minute No. 135, 15th December 2010, the Acting Director of City 
Development submitted a report providing the outcomes of the consultation 
exercise undertaken in relation to the proposals outlined within, ‘A New 
Chapter for Leeds Libraries’ and seeking the Board’s  agreement to the 
resultant proposals for future library provision in the city. 
 
Further to the recommendations detailed within the submitted report, 
Members were asked to consider some updated proposals, specifically that 
Cow Close library remained open for a year whilst further consideration was 
given to its future, and that Rawdon library remained open for a year whilst 
further discussions were undertaken with interested parties regarding 
community asset transfer opportunities.  
 
Members highlighted the importance of the mobile provision and the need to 
ensure that those users affected by the proposals were able to access such 
provision. 
 
The report provided details of the reviews which had been undertaken in 
respect of the impact that the proposals would potentially have on various 
communities. 
 
RESOLVED -  
(a) That the recommendations, as defined within Section 7 of the 

submitted report, including the changes to the opening hours as 
identified within paragraph 7.2, modified by the impact of the inclusion 
of the updated proposals detailed above, be supported.   

(b) That the change in the method of delivering the library service for 20 
libraries, as outlined within paragraph 7.3.1 of the submitted report be 
approved, with the inclusion of the updated proposals detailed above 
and as reported at the meeting.  

Page 55



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

(c) That mobile provision be developed across the City as outlined within 
paragraph 7.4 of the submitted report. 

(d) That, for a limited period, a consultation exercise be offered to the 
community on the asset transfer opportunities for the vacated libraries, 
and that after this designated period, the asset management team find 
the best solutions for the buildings.  

230 Call In of Decision on Garforth Squash and Leisure Centre  
Further to Minute No. 205, 30th March 2011, the Acting Director of City 
Development submitted a report advising that following the original decision 
taken by the Board, this matter was called in and subsequently considered by 
Scrutiny Board (City Development) on 20th April 2011, who resolved to refer 
the decision back to Executive Board for further consideration.  The report 
recommended that the original decision taken on 30th March 2011 by 
Executive Board was reaffirmed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the decision taken by the Executive Board at its meeting 
on 30th March 2011 regarding Garforth Squash and Leisure Centre (Minute 
No. 205 refers) be reaffirmed. 
 
(The matters referred to in this minute, having been the subject of a previous 
Call In process, were not eligible for Call In) 
 

231 Long Term Supply of Burial Space  
The Acting Director of City Development submitted a report advising that as a 
result of a call in meeting, Scrutiny Board (City Development) had referred 
back to Executive Board for further consideration, its decision concerning 
proposals to consult on the Draft Informal Planning Statement for Whinmoor 
Grange, including plans for a cemetery on the site.  In addition, the report 
considered the issues which had been raised by the Scrutiny Board during the 
Call In process and detailed proposals in respect of how such issues could be 
progressed. 
 
The Board was informed that the duration of the consultation period had been 
extended from 4 weeks to 6 weeks, in order to ensure that all potential 
stakeholders had a greater opportunity to engage in the process. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Draft Informal Planning Statement for Whinmoor Grange be 

approved for the purposes of a public consultation exercise, which is to 
be undertaken over a six week period, with the findings being reported 
back to Executive Board in due course. 
 

(b) That the expenditure on Capital Scheme Number 1358 be held in 
abeyance pending the outcome of the consultation exercise referred to 
in resolution (a). 

 
(The matters referred to in this minute, having been the subject of a previous 
Call In process, were not eligible for Call In) 

Page 56



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

 
232 Scrutiny Board Recommendations: Cemeteries and Crematoria 

Horticultural Maintenance  
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report providing 
a summary of the responses to the recommendations arising from Scrutiny 
Board (City Development) inquiry into ‘Cemeteries and Crematoria 
Horticultural Maintenance’ and  inviting the Board to pronounce on the 
recommendation where there had been a difference of opinion between the 
Scrutiny Board and Director/Executive Member. 
 
Councillor J Procter, the Chair of the Scrutiny Board (City Development) 
attended the meeting to present the Board’s findings. 
 
Having discussed the process by which responses to Scrutiny Board inquiry 
reports were considered by the Executive, it was suggested that the Chair of 
the Scrutiny Board which had conducted the inquiry approved the summary 
covering report prior to its submission. In addition, responding to concerns 
raised, it was also suggested that further consideration was given to the 
extent and nature of the information provided to Executive Board Members 
when considering Scrutiny Board inquiries, in order to ensure that they had 
access to all relevant details.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the responses to the Scrutiny Board (City Development) 

recommendations arising from its inquiry into Cemeteries and 
Crematoria Horticultural Maintenance be noted. 

 
(b) That in respect of recommendation two of the Scrutiny Board 

Inquiry Report, further work on this matter be undertaken with a 
report being submitted to a future meeting of the Executive Board 
outlining proposals for a way forward. 

 
ADULT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
 

233 Review of Consultation Process for Building Based Services  
The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report advising that 
following the resolutions made by Executive Board at its meeting on 11th 
February 2011 (Minute No. 163 referred) regarding mental health day service 
provision, representations on such matters had been made to the Scrutiny 
Board (Adult Social Care) and therefore, the report invited Executive Board to 
review the decisions taken in February 2011.    
 
In response to enquiries, Members were provided with reassurance regarding 
the nature and extent of the consultation process which was proposed. 
 
RESOLVED -  
(a) That in view of the issues highlighted within the submitted report, the 

decision of the February 2011 Executive Board regarding the 
consolidation of buildings based services to one site not be 
implemented. 

Page 57



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2011 

 

 
(b) That the Board’s support for the other recommendations, as outlined in 

paragraph 2.4 of the submitted report, regarding  the direction of travel 
for the modernisation of Mental Health Day Services in Leeds be noted 
and confirmed. 

 
(c) That it be noted that the consultation process regarding the decision to 

consolidate the day service buildings base will be specific and will 
focus upon an interim model of provision for in house service, and that 
the findings from the consultation process will be joined with the 
consultation on the future commissioning of all community based 
mental health services 

 
(d) That a further report be submitted to the Executive Board detailing the 

outcomes from the consultation process. 
 

234 Councillors Murray, Dowson and A Blackburn  
On behalf of the Board, the Chair paid tribute to and thanked Councillors 
Murray, Dowson and A Blackburn for their services to the Board, as this 
marked their final meeting as Executive Board Members. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  20TH MAY 2011 
 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 27TH MAY 2011 (5.00 P.M.) 
 
(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12noon on 31st 
May 2011) 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 
(relevant to Children and Families Scrutiny Board) 

 
 

1 July 2011 – 31 October 2011 
 

 

P
a
g
e
 5

9



Key Decisions Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 
Decision 

Proposed  
Consultation 

Documents to be 
Considered by Decision 

Maker 

Lead Officer 
(To whom 

representations should 
be made and email 

address to send 
representations to) 

 

Primary Basic Need 2013 - 
Permission to consult on 
proposals for expansion of 
Primary Provision in 2013 
Permission to consult on 
proposals 

Executive Board 
(Portfolio: Children's 
Services) 
 

27/7/11 12 Sept – 21st Oct 
2011 
 
 

The report to be issued to 
the decision maker with the 
agenda for the meeting 
 

 
lesley.savage@leeds.g
ov.uk 
 

Primary Basic Need 2012 - 
Outcome of statutory 
notices for the expansion of 
primary provision in 2012 
Final decision to approve 
the proposals 

Executive Board 
(Portfolio: Children's 
Services) 
 

27/7/11 5th Jan – 18th Feb 
 
 

The report to be issued to 
the decision maker with the 
agenda for the meeting 
 

 
lesley.savage@leeds.g
ov.uk 
 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

0



 

 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) 
 
Date:  23 June 2011 
 
Subject: Work Schedule 

 

        
 
 

1 Purpose of this report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 
forthcoming municipal year. 

 
2 Main issues 
 

2.1 Further to the discussions already held with the Director and Executive Board Member 
during today’s meeting, Members are now requested to consider the Board’s work 
schedule for the forthcoming municipal year. 

 
Draft Work Schedule 

 
2.2 A draft work schedule is attached, incorporating the areas of review within the Board’s 

terms of reference.  As the scope of each review is yet to be considered and agreed by 
the Board, the draft work schedule only seeks to prioritise the timing of the Board’s 
reviews at this stage.   

 
2.3 Already included within the draft work schedule are the traditional items of Scrutiny 

work.  These involve performance monitoring, recommendation tracking and Budget 
and Policy Framework Plans.   

 
2.4 The draft work schedule is subject to change pending the Board’s decision to conduct 

any further pieces of work in accordance with its terms of reference. 
 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  
 
All  
 

Originator: Kate Arscott  
 

Tel: 247 4189 

 

 

 
   Ward Members consulted 
   (referred to in report)  

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 61



2.5 Following the Board’s discussion with the Director and Executive Board Member during 
today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider the Board’s work schedule for the 
forthcoming municipal year.  

 
3 Recommendations 
 
3.1 Members are asked to consider: 

a) the attached draft work schedule 
b) the potential scope for each of the areas of review 
c) any additional pieces of Scrutiny work to be undertaken in line with the Board’s 

terms of reference  
 

 

Background papers 

None used 

Page 62



Draft Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) Work Schedule for 2011/2012 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

  Schedule of meetings/visits during 2011/12 

Area of review June July August 
 

reducing the numbers of 
looked after children 

Consider potential scope of review 
SB 23/06/11 @ 9.45am 

Agree scope of review 
SB 21/07/11@ 9.45am 
 

 

improving attendance Consider potential scope of review 
SB 23/06/11 @ 9.45am 

  

increasing the number of 
young people in 
employment, education 
and training 

Consider potential scope of review 
SB 23/06/11 @ 9.45am 

  

Board initiated piece of 
Scrutiny work (if applicable) 
 

Consider potential areas of review   

Board initiated piece of 
Scrutiny work (if applicable) 
 

Consider potential areas of review   

Recommendation Tracking  Formal response to the Scrutiny Inquiry 
into School Balances 
Quarterly recommendation tracking 
report 
SB 21/07/11 @ 9.45am 
 

 
 
 

Performance Monitoring  
 
 

  

 
 
 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

3



Draft Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) Work Schedule for 2011/2012 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 
 
 

 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2011/12 

Area of review September October November 
 

reducing the numbers of 
looked after children 

Evidence gathering (TBC) Evidence gathering (TBC) 
 

 

improving attendance Agree scope of review 
SB  
 

 Evidence gathering (TBC) 
 

increasing the number of 
young people in 
employment, education 
and training 

  
 

Agree scope of review 
SB 

 

Board initiated piece of 
Scrutiny work (if applicable) 
 

   

Board initiated piece of 
Scrutiny work (if applicable) 
 

   

Recommendation Tracking  Quarterly recommendation tracking 
report 
SB 6/10/11 @ 9.45am 

 

Performance Monitoring  
 

Quarter 1 performance report 
SB 6/10/11 @ 9.45am 
 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

4



Draft Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) Work Schedule for 2011/2012 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 
 

 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2011/12 

Area of review December January February 

reducing the numbers of 
looked after children 

   

improving attendance Evidence gathering (TBC) 
 

  

increasing the number of 
young people in 
employment, education 
and training 

 Evidence gathering (TBC) Evidence gathering (TBC) 

Board initiated piece of 
Scrutiny work (if applicable) 
 

   

Board initiated piece of 
Scrutiny work (if applicable) 
 

   

Recommendation Tracking  
Quarterly recommendation tracking report 
SB 8/12/11 @ 9.45am 

  

Performance Monitoring Quarter 2 performance report 
SB 8/12/11 @ 9.45am 
 

  

 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 6

5



Draft Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) Work Schedule for 2011/2012 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 
 
 

 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2011/12 

Area of review March April May 

reducing the numbers of 
looked after children 

 
 

  

improving attendance    

increasing the number of 
young people in 
employment, education 
and training 

  
 

 

Board initiated piece of 
Scrutiny work (if applicable) 
 

   

Board initiated piece of 
Scrutiny work (if applicable) 
 

   

Recommendation Tracking  
Quarterly recommendation tracking report 
SB 13/03/11 @ 9.45am 

  

Performance Monitoring Quarter 3 performance report 
SB 15/03/12 @9.45 am  
 

  

 

P
a
g
e
 6

6



 

 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Children and Families) 
 
Date:  23 June 2011 
 
Subject: Green Paper - Support and aspiration: a new approach to special educational 
needs and disability 
 

        
 
 
 
1 Purpose of this report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to invite the Scrutiny Board to contribute to the council’s 
response to the recent government Green Paper on special educational needs and 
disability. 

 
2 Background information 
 

2.1 The government published a Green Paper in March 2011 entitled Support and 
aspiration: a new approach to special educational needs and disability. A copy of the 
Green Paper is attached. Consultation on the paper closes on 30 June.  

 
2.2 Following a request from a member of the Scrutiny Board, this paper is brought to the 

Board in order that members may feed into the corporate response that is being 
prepared by Children’s Services. Relevant officers will attend the meeting, and will brief 
the Board on the development of the consultation response.  

 
 
3 Recommendation  
 

3.1 That the Board considers any comments for inclusion in the corporate response to the 
Green Paper. 

 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected: All  
 

Originator: Kate Arscott 
 

Tel: 247 4189 

 

 

 
   Ward Members consulted 
   (referred to in report)  

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



Support and 
aspiration: 
A new approach 
to special 
educational needs 
and disability 

A consultation A consultation 

Page 69



Department for Education 

Support and aspiration:  
A new approach to special  

educational needs  
and disability 

A consultation 

Presented to Parliament  
by the Secretary of State for Education 

by Command of Her Majesty 

March 2011 

Cm 8027 £28.50 

Page 70



© Crown copyright 2011 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the  
Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/  

or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU,  
or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at www.education.gov.uk/help/contacts 

This publication is also available on http://www.official-documents.gov.uk/ 

ISBN: 9780101802727 

Printed in the UK by The Stationery Office Limited 
on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 

ID P002417139 03/11 

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum. 

Page 71



11 

Contents 
Foreword 2 

Executive summary 4 

Introduction 14 

1 Early identification and assessment 28 

2 Giving parents control 41 

3 Learning and achieving 57 

4 Preparing for adulthood 80 

5 Services working together for families 93 

Next steps 114 

Consultation questions 115 

How to get involved 120 

Bibliography 121 

Page 72



2 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Foreword  

This Green Paper is about all the children and young people in this country who are 
disabled, or identified as having a special educational need. It is about their aspirations 
and their hopes. Their desire to become, like every child and young person, independent 
and successful in their chosen future, and, to the greatest extent possible, the author of 
their own life story. 

It is about their families – who have consistently called for better support for their 
children and themselves. Families of the most disabled children who are providing 
24-hour care from birth, or the families of children struggling at school and who don’t 
know where to turn for help. 

It is also about their teachers, their college lecturers, and the many skilled staff from the 
health and social care professions who do their best, day in and day out, to provide the 
right support and encourage the highest aspirations. 

There is much that is excellent in the support for these children, young people and their 
families. The case studies in this Green Paper describe just a few examples of 
inspirational teachers, expert services and world-class practice. Highly-skilled 
professionals who strive to understand the individual needs of every disabled child or 
child with a special educational need and to give them the best possible support and 
best teaching. Experienced managers in health services and local authorities who listen 
to what families are asking for and work out how the system can respond. 

But we also know that this isn’t happening nearly enough. Successive reports, such as 
the 2006 report of the Education Select Committee and Brian Lamb’s report in 2009, 
have described a system where parents feel they have to battle for the support they 
need, where they are passed from pillar to post, and where bureaucracy and frustration 
face them at every step. According to the Council for Disabled Children, on average a 
disabled child experiences 32 assessments as they grow up. That is unacceptable. 
Resources that could be spent on support and teaching are diverted into bureaucracy. 
That is inefficient. Children and young people with SEN don’t achieve as they could – 
by the time they leave school these young people are more than twice as likely to be 
out of education, training or employment as those without. That is wrong. 

We are letting these children and young people down. 

The case for change is clear. 

We want to give children the best chance to succeed by spotting any problems early, 
extending early education and childcare, and bringing together the services they need 
into a single assessment and a single plan covering education, health and care. 

Page 73



3Foreword 

We want to make the system less stressful for families and less costly to run by 
promoting mediation before appeals, giving parents more information about the 
services and expertise available locally and more support in navigating their way 
through the assessment system. Our proposals will also mean that children themselves 
can appeal if they feel they aren’t getting the support they need. 

We want to give parents more control by offering every family with a single plan the 
right to a personal budget by 2014, making a wider range of short breaks available in all 
areas, and ensuring more choice by allowing parents to name in their child’s plan, a 
preference for any state-funded school. By encouraging the setting up of special Free 
Schools we will make it less likely that existing special schools will close and create the 
opportunity for voluntary organisations and parents groups to establish new schools. 

Our proposals are designed to support teachers in giving every child the support they 
need to succeed – focusing on achievement not labels, funding additional training for 
teachers and building expertise by collaboration between schools. And they are 
designed to reinforce the strong strategic role of local authorities in working together 
with health services and with other local areas to secure the right provision whilst 
ensuring services are cost-effective. 

The proposals in this Green Paper are wide-ranging. They cover the circumstances of the 
child with complex ongoing medical needs and the young person who is falling behind 
at school. They are part of a wider set of reforms that will benefit this group of families 
and their children. The introduction of a Universal Credit will mean that people will be 
consistently and transparently better off for each hour they work and every pound they 
earn. Reforms to the National Health Service will mean greater freedoms for 
professionals to take decisions in the best interests of patients, and likewise, our 
significant changes to education will mean teachers are free to decide what happens 
in their classrooms and make sure every child is able to benefit from learning. 

We encourage you to respond to our consultation. If you are a parent, or someone caring 
for a disabled child or a child with special educational needs, please talk to your friends 
and family and let us know whether our proposals will make things better for you. If you 
are a teacher, a health professional or an expert in this field, we want you to discuss our 
proposals with your colleagues and give us your views on whether they will make the 
system better. If you work in a local authority or the health service, we would like to know 
if our proposals will make the system less bureaucratic, more cost effective and help you 
to deliver better services for the people you serve. We also encourage you to come 
forward with plans to test our ideas, and to consider how they might work in practice. 

Every child who is disabled or identified as having a special educational need deserves 
our support, so that they, like every other child, can achieve their aspirations. We can 
only achieve that by working together. 

Michael Gove Sarah Teather 
Secretary of State for Education Minister of State for Children and Families 

Page 74



4

Executive summary 
Case for change 
1. Every child deserves a fair start in life, with the very best opportunity to succeed. 

Currently, life chances for the approximately two million children and young 
people in England who are identified as having a special educational need (SEN), 
or who are disabled, are disproportionately poor. 

2. Disabled children and children with SEN tell us that they can feel frustrated by a
lack of the right help at school or from other services. For children with the most 
complex support needs, this can significantly affect their quality of life. Hundreds 
of thousands of families have a disabled child or a child with SEN, and parents say 
that the system is bureaucratic, bewildering and adversarial and that it does not 
sufficiently reflect the needs of their child and their family life. 

3. Whilst the circumstances of children, young people and their parents differ 
greatly; from young people requiring a few adjustments in class to children with 
life-limiting long-term conditions, families have many shared concerns. The 
system to support children and young people who are disabled or who have SEN 
often works against the wishes of families. Children’s support needs can be 
identified late; families are made to put up with a culture of low expectations 
about what their child can achieve at school; parents don’t have good information 
about what they can expect and have limited choices about the best schools and 
care for their child; and families are forced to negotiate each bit of their support 
separately. 

Our vision 
4. Our proposed reforms respond to the frustrations of children and young people, 

their families and the professionals who work with them. We want to put in place 
a radically different system to support better life outcomes for young people; give 
parents confidence by giving them more control; and transfer power to 
professionals on the front line and to local communities. 

5. To support better life outcomes for young people from birth to adulthood we 
will help professionals: identify and meet children’s needs early by ensuring that 
health services and early education and childcare are accessible to all children; 
work in partnership with parents to give each child support to fulfil their potential; 
and join up education, health and social care to provide families with a package of 
support that reflects all of their needs. We propose: 

a new approach to identifying SEN in early years settings and schools to 
challenge a culture of low expectations for children with SEN and give them 
effective support to succeed. A new single early years setting- and school-
based category of SEN will build on our fundamental reforms to education 
which place sharper accountability on schools to make sure that every child 
fulfils his or her potential; and 

Page 75



5Executive summary 

a new single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ by 
2014 to replace the statutory SEN assessment and statement, bringing 
together the support on which children and their families rely across 
education, health and social care. Services will work together with the family 
to agree a straightforward plan that reflects the family’s ambitions for their 
child from the early years to adulthood, which is reviewed regularly to reflect 
their changing needs, and is clear about who is responsible for provision. 
The new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ will provide the same statutory 
protection to parents as the statement of SEN and will include a commitment 
from all parties to provide their services, with local assessment and plan 
pathfinders testing the best way to achieve this. 

6. To give parents confidence by giving them more control over the support their 
family receives, we will introduce more transparency in the provision of services 
for children and young people who are disabled or who have SEN. Parents will 
have real choice over their child’s education and the opportunity for direct control 
over support for their family. We propose: 

local authorities and other services will set out a local offer of all services 
available to support children who are disabled or who have SEN and their 
families. This easy-to-understand information for parents will set out what is 
normally available in schools to help children with lower-level SEN, as well as 
the options available to support families who need additional help to care for 
their child; and 

the option of a personal budget by 2014 for all families with children with a
statement of SEN or a new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’, many of whom 
will have complex support needs. Key workers will be trained to advise families 
and help them navigate the range of help available across health, education 
and social care. 

7. To transfer power to professionals on the front line and to local communities 
we will: strip away unnecessary bureaucracy so that professionals can innovate 
and use their judgement; establish a clearer system so that professionals from 
different services and the voluntary and community sector can work together; 
and give parents and communities much more influence over local services. 
We propose to: 

give parents a real choice of school, either a mainstream or special school. 
We will remove the bias towards inclusion and propose to strengthen parental 
choice by improving the range and diversity of schools from which parents can 
choose, making sure they are aware of the options available to them and by 
changing statutory guidance for local authorities. Parents of children with 
statements of SEN will be able to express a preference for any state-funded 
school – including special schools, Academies and Free Schools – and have 
their preference met unless it would not meet the needs of the child, be 
incompatible with the efficient education of other children, or be an inefficient 
use of resources. We will also prevent the unnecessary closure of special schools 
by giving parents and community groups the power to take them over; and 

Page 76



6 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

introduce greater independence to the assessment of children’s needs,
testing how the voluntary and community sector could coordinate assessment 
and input from across education, health and social care as part of our 
proposals to move to a single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and 
Care Plan’. 

8. We must provide the best quality of life possible to the most vulnerable children 
and young people in our society. Many of the reforms we propose in this 
document focus on helping families with children who have the most complex 
support needs, including those with life-limiting long-term conditions. We know 
that the vast majority of these children will have their disability identified before 
or shortly after their birth. Here, we set out our ambition to: put early support in 
place for parents to help them navigate the system and influence their child’s 
package of care; to provide ongoing respite care and short breaks for children to 
help families cope with their day-to-day caring responsibilities; and to help 
families who are worried about their child’s future and independence. 

9. Central government cannot achieve this ambitious programme of reform through 
directing and managing change itself. The vision set out in this Green Paper is 
informed by the views and expertise of families and national and local 
organisations working with them. The proposals we set out are for widespread 
consultation as well as practical testing in local areas. From September 2011, 
local pathfinders will help demonstrate the best way to achieve our key reforms. 
This Green Paper marks an important milestone in the development of the 
Government’s approach to supporting children and young people with SEN or 
who are disabled and their families. 

10. We set out our detailed proposals and questions for consultation in five chapters: 
early identification and support; giving parents more control; learning and 
achieving; preparing for adulthood; and services working together for families. 
The final section of this Green Paper explains our next steps and how to respond 
to our consultation. Based on the feedback we receive, we will set out our detailed 
plans by the end of the year, and how these reforms and the ongoing testing in 
local areas will form part of the Government’s broader agenda for public service 
reform. 

Early identification and support 
11. Identifying children’s support needs early is vital if they are to thrive, and enables 

parents and professionals to put the right approach in place quickly. Graham 
Allen’s review of early intervention highlighted the value of intervening as soon 
as possible, not just for children and their families, but also for wider society. 

12. Too often, the particular support that children and their families require is put in 
place needlessly late. Although some impairments are normally identified at birth 
or soon after, other types of need emerge as children grow up. Not knowing why 
children are developing differently can be tremendously stressful for the child and 
for their parents. And even when needs have been identified, parents tell us that it 
can feel like a struggle to get the right support for their family from education, 
health and social care services. It can be slow and complicated, with different 
services working in isolation and each having its own approach. 

Page 77



7Executive summary 

13. We must put in place a system which works well for every child and every family. 
The proposals in this chapter are intended to ensure high quality early 
identification and intervention for all children where they need it, such as the 
health and development review for children aged between 2 and 2½ years, as well 
as effective integrated support for children with the most complex needs. Our 
proposals would mean that: 

professionals from health services, such as health visitors, and from early years 
settings work with parents to assess the development of all children to clarify 
where they need additional support or a different approach; 

high quality early education and childcare is accessible to all children; and 

by 2014, children and young people who would currently have a statement of 
SEN or learning difficulty assessment will have a single assessment process and 
‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ for their support from birth to 25. The new 
plan will afford parents the same statutory protection as the statement of SEN. 
All the services on which the child and their family rely would work together 
with the family to agree an ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ which reflects the 
family’s needs and ambitions for the child’s future covering education, health, 
employment and independence. The plan will be clear about who is 
responsible for which services, and will include a commitment from all parties 
across education, health and social care to provide their services. 

14. To work towards this: 

we will test how to reform radically the statutory SEN assessment and 
statement. Local pathfinders will explore the best replacement, including 
whether the voluntary and community sector could coordinate assessment 
and bring greater independence to the process; and 

before introducing the new single assessment process and ‘Education, Health 
and Care Plan’, for statements of SEN, we intend to reduce the time the current 
statutory assessment process takes and explore how to tackle delays in the 
provision of advice for the statutory assessment. 

Giving parents control 
15. Early intervention from all the services on which families rely is essential, but the 

effectiveness of this support is undermined if it doesn’t reflect each family’s 
unique circumstances. Parents know their child best. As well as giving their own 
love and care, parents rely on health services, early years settings, schools and 
other people to help look after their child and help him or her have a happy 
childhood and fulfil his or her potential. Disabled children and children with SEN 
may require a different approach in these health and education settings to their 
peers, or extra support from social care or specialist services. It is crucial to families 
that these services work well together and that parents are empowered to make 
decisions about their child. Unfortunately, this is not what many families 
experience. 

Page 78



8 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

16. Children, young people and their parents have a variety of different 
circumstances, but many families share a concern that the system can feel 
impenetrable, bureaucratic and inefficient, and does not sufficiently reflect their 
family life. Parents may feel that their choices are limited and their options don’t 
always meet the basic needs of their child. This is particularly the case where a
child relies on specialist services or equipment – such as incontinence pads, 
computer software and wheelchairs – to support their physical and 
communication needs to help improve the quality of their life. These problems 
may also be compounded by disadvantage, and some parents might have poor 
health, live in poverty, or have difficult family circumstances on top of juggling a
range of support for their child. 

17. Our aim is to give parents more control over support for their child and family. 
This will mean ending the frustration, complexity and confrontation inherent in 
today’s system, which in itself can undermine family life. The proposals in this 
chapter are intended to extend parents’ influence, build their confidence in the 
system and minimise its adversarial nature, and would mean that: 

local authorities and other local services communicate a clear local offer for 
families to clarify what support is available and from whom; 

parents have the option of personalised funding by 2014 to give them greater 
control over their child’s support, with trained key workers helping them to 
navigate different services; 

parents have access to transparent information about the funding which 
supports their child’s needs; 

parents of disabled children continue to have access to a short break from 
caring while their child enjoys activities with their peers; 

parents have a clear choice of school; and 

if local authorities and parents disagree, they always try mediation first, to 
resolve problems in a less adversarial way than having to take their case to the 
Tribunal. 

18. As first steps towards this aim: 

local authorities and health services will explore how to extend the scope of 
personalised funding; 

we will give parents the right to express a preference for any state-funded 
school, including Academies and Free Schools. 

Learning and achieving 
19. Parents’ confidence that their child’s needs are being met is vital to making the 

system feel less adversarial. A central piece of this jigsaw is the capacity and 
commitment of the education system to give every child and young person the 
chance to succeed. Every child, whether in a mainstream or special setting, 
deserves a world-class education to ensure that they fulfil their potential. 

Page 79



9Executive summary 

Everyone who works with disabled children and children with SEN should have 
high expectations of them and the skills to help them to learn. 

20. But the system doesn’t always work in the way it should for disabled children and 
young people and those with SEN. Too many face significant barriers to their 
progress and achieve less well than their peers at school and in further education. 
Disabled children and children with SEN are more likely to be bullied or excluded 
than their peers. They also tell us that they want to be educated by people who 
understand their impairments, without fear of being stigmatised by their peers 
and in an environment where poor behaviour is not tolerated. 

21. To provide the best opportunities for all children and young people, we must 
confront the weaknesses of our education system. Children’s needs should be 
picked up as early as possible, but teachers tell us that they have not always had 
training to identify children’s needs, or to provide the right help. Head teachers 
have been overwhelmed with top-down initiatives rather than having the 
freedom to drive improvements. 

22. Previous measures of school performance created perverse incentives to over-
identify children as having SEN. There is compelling evidence that these labels of 
SEN have perpetuated a culture of low expectations and have not led to the right 
support being put in place. 

23. In our Schools White Paper, The Importance of Teaching, we set out our vision to 
match the best education systems in the world. Building on that, our proposals in 
this Green Paper will mean that: 

teachers and other staff in schools and colleges are well trained and confident 
to: identify and overcome a range of barriers to learning; manage challenging 
behaviour; address bullying; and intervene early when problems emerge; 

schools will have additional flexibility to support the needs of all pupils, and 
will have additional funding to support disadvantaged pupils through the 
pupil premium; 

teachers feel able to identify effectively what a child needs to help them to 
learn and to plan support to help every child progress well, reflecting the 
specific needs of children with SEN and those who may just be struggling with 
learning and need school-based catch-up support which is normally available; 

parents have the information they need about how the school is supporting 
their child; 

schools are more clearly accountable to parents, governors and Ofsted; and 

special schools share their expertise and services to support the education, 
progress and development of pupils in other special and mainstream schools, 
leading to a greater choice of specialist provision. 

Page 80



10 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

24. To work towards this: 

we intend to tackle the practice of over-identification by replacing the current 
SEN identification levels of School Action and School Action Plus with a new 
single school-based SEN category for children whose needs exceed what is 
normally available in schools; revising statutory guidance on SEN identification 
to make it clearer for professionals; and supporting the best schools to share 
their practices. This will help teachers to spot quickly and accurately any 
barriers to learning and provide the right support to help each child progress; 

we will introduce an indicator in performance tables which will give parents 
clear information on the progress of the lowest attaining pupils; 

starting with those judged by Ofsted to be outstanding, all maintained special 
schools will in due course have the opportunity to become Academies; and 

parents and members of local communities will be able to establish new 
special Free Schools. 

Preparing for adulthood 
25. By 2015, all young people will continue in education or training until the age of 

18. Schools and colleges play a key role in helping young people make successful 
transition to adulthood, but young people also need wider opportunities and 
support to make the most of their future and give them the best chance of a
fulfilling adulthood with employment, good health and independence. However, 
many young people who are disabled or who have SEN can face additional 
challenges during their teenage years. Too often the opportunities and support 
available to disabled young people and young people with SEN fall short of what 
they need to make a successful transition to adult life. 

26. Like school-aged children, young people who are disabled or who have SEN and 
their parents tell us that to get the help they need they have to cope with 
disjointed and confusing assessment processes from their local authority, school 
or college and health providers. Too often, professionals working with these 
young people are not encouraged to focus on young people’s ambitions for 
adulthood and how best to help them prepare. Such poor planning of support is 
exacerbated by a lack of choice and opportunities for young people: for example, 
a limited choice of entry-level courses in further education that do not build on 
what has gone before, or prepare young people for life and work; poor quality 
work experience; and a lack of supported employment opportunities to help them 
prepare for, find and retain work. In addition, the transition from children’s to 
adult health services is often badly coordinated, which can lead to a deterioration 
in young people’s health. 

Page 81



Executive summary 11 

27. Our goal is for disabled young people and young people with SEN to have the 
best opportunities and support so that as far as possible they can succeed in 
education and their careers, live as independently and healthily as they are able to 
and be active members of their communities. For a small number of young 
people, independent living may not be possible, and their families may be anxious 
about their ongoing care responsibilities. For these young people, we want to 
ensure the best quality of life with support for them to fulfil their potential and 
support for their parents and carers. 

28. We recognise the challenge of realising our ambitions, and we will take forward a
programme of action across government and with local partners, setting out more 
detail by the end of this year, so that by 2015 disabled young people and young 
people with SEN will have: 

early and well-integrated support for, and advice on, their future as part of the 
proposed birth to 25 single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and 
Care Plan’, spanning education, health, social care, and support into 
employment; 

access to better quality vocational and work-related learning options to enable 
young people to progress in their learning post-16; 

good opportunities and support in order to get and keep a job; and 

a well-coordinated transition from children’s to adult health services, and we 
will explore the feasibility of annual health checks from GPs for all disabled 
young people from the age of 16. 

Services working together for families 
29. The reforms we set out in this Green Paper aim to provide families with 

confidence in, and greater control over, the services that they use and receive. 
For too many parents, their expectations that services will provide comprehensive 
packages of support that are tailored to the specific needs of their child and their 
family are not matched by their experiences, just as frontline professionals too 
often are hampered and frustrated by excessively bureaucratic processes and 
complex funding systems. 

30. Rather than directing change from Whitehall, we want to make it easier for 
professionals and services to work together, and we want to create the conditions 
that encourage innovative and collaborative ways of providing better support for 
children, young people and families. The proposals in this chapter would mean 
that: 

by developing stronger local strategic planning and commissioning 
arrangements, local authorities and local health services will play a pivotal 
role in ensuring that children and young people with SEN or who are disabled 
receive high quality support, and that parents are able to make informed 
choices about what is right for their family; 

Page 82



12 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

frontline professionals will have the freedom to work together to develop 
better services for children, young people and families; and 

the way in which services for children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled are funded will facilitate integrated and collaborative approaches by 
local professionals, be more transparent to parents, and secure better value for 
money. 

31. To work towards this we propose to: 

work with the health sector and with the new Health and Wellbeing Boards to 
consider how the needs of children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled can best be taken into account through the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, joint health and wellbeing strategies, guidelines and standards 
from the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), and health 
service outcomes frameworks; 

work with the GP consortia pathfinders to explore the best ways of providing 
support for the commissioning of healthcare services for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled and their families; 

reduce bureaucratic burdens by simplifying and improving the statutory 
guidance for all professionals working with children and young people with 
SEN or who are disabled from birth to 25 so that it is clear, accessible and 
helpful, and withdrawing guidance that does not provide useful support to 
professionals; 

work with the educational psychology profession and local commissioners to 
review the future training arrangements for educational psychologists; 

encourage greater collaboration between local professionals and services and 
across local boundaries; 

extend the freedom and flexibility with which funding can be used locally; 

provide targeted funding to voluntary and community sector organisations 
that have a strong track record of delivering high quality services, and publish 
a national SEN and disabilities voluntary and community sector prospectus 
that will set out the key areas in which we will make further funding available 
to voluntary and community sector organisations; 

work with a group of local authorities to explore whether and how a national 
banded framework for funding provision for children and young people with 
SEN or who are disabled could improve transparency to parents while 
continuing to allow for local flexibility; and 

explore how the different funding arrangements for special educational 
provision pre-16 and post-16 might be aligned more effectively so as to 
provide a more consistent approach to support for children and young people 
from birth to 25. 

Page 83



Executive summary 13 

Next Steps 
32. The ambitious vision for reform set out in this Green Paper includes wide ranging 

proposals to improve outcomes for children and young people who are disabled 
or have SEN, minimise the adversarial nature of the system for families and 
maximise value for money. 

33. This publication marks the start of a four month period of consultation and a
period of testing proposals in local areas from September 2011. We will work 
across government and with local and national partners to set out detailed plans 
by the end of the year. This will form the basis for any necessary legislative 
changes to be taken forward from May 2012 at the earliest. 

Page 84



14 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Introduction 
Children who are disabled or who have special 
educational needs (SEN) have disproportionately poor 
outcomes
1. Every child deserves a fair start in life, with the very best opportunity to succeed. 

At the moment, life chances for the approximately two million children in England 
identified with SEN or who are disabled are disproportionately poor. Young 
people with SEN are twice as likely not to be in education, employment or 
training,1 and many young people with complex support needs find it hard to 
make a successful transition from school to an adult life with work, friendships, 
good health and independence. 

2. Disabled children and children with SEN experience a wide range of barriers 
because of physical and sensory impairments, learning difficulties such as 
dyslexia, or a variety of other needs. But properly supported from childhood, 
many of these barriers should not hold young people back from leading a fulfilling 
adolescence and adulthood. 

3. The kind of day-to-day support that can help children and young people who are 
disabled or who have SEN to fulfil their potential varies hugely. Excellent 
classroom practice with skilled teachers is sufficient for many; others will need 
expert, but time-limited, support such as speech and language therapy; and some 
will need 24-hour personal care with input from specialists across health and 
social care. 

A lack of effective support can undermine family life 
4. Hundreds of thousands of families deal with the additional support needs of 

bringing up a disabled child or a child with SEN alongside the day-to-day 
demands of work and managing family finances. 

5. We know from the strength of feeling of families that at the moment the support 
they receive is falling short. This can undermine family life and there are 
significant personal and social costs when problems escalate and more intensive 
help is needed. 

6. Children who are disabled or who have SEN can find themselves feeling isolated 
and unable to get on at school without a welcoming environment and the right 
approach in place. They feel frustrated that the barriers they face aren’t 
understood so that they can learn and enjoy school, and enjoy the best possible 
quality of life. 

7. Whilst the circumstances of children, young people and their parents differ 
greatly, from young people requiring a few adjustments in class, to children with 

1 DfE analysis of LSYPE (2009) 

Page 85



Introduction 15 

life-limiting long-term conditions, families have many shared concerns. Parents 
say that the system is bureaucratic, bewildering and adversarial and does not 
sufficiently reflect the needs of their child and their family circumstances. This is 
particularly the case where a child relies on specialist services or equipment –
such as incontinence pads, computer software and wheelchairs – to support their 
physical and communication needs to help them lead a normal life. Even where 
just a few adjustments are needed, perhaps for a dyslexic child, parents often do 
not know where to turn for help and advice. 

8. These frustrations can be compounded by disadvantage; some parents might be 
struggling with ill-health or difficult family circumstances. While some families deal 
with these challenges on top of juggling a range of support for their child, in many 
households the demands of everyday family life mean that parents are exhausted 
from having to put additional energy into getting the help their child needs. 

The system needs radical reform 
9. Today’s system for supporting children with SEN is based on a model introduced 

30 years ago. It is no longer fit for purpose and has not kept pace with wider 
reforms; it fails children and undermines the effective use of resources, and it does 
not make the best use of the expertise in the voluntary and community sector. 

10. Over the last three decades, education, health and social care services have 
changed dramatically; parents rightly want much more convenient, personalised 
services over which they have greater control; and professionals’ understanding 
of best practice has moved on. 

11. Well-intentioned reforms have made some progress: they have extended rights 
for children and parents, introduced extensive guidance for professionals, and 
provided redress for parents. But they have also added complexity and 
bureaucracy without always improving outcomes for children, young people 
and families. 

12. Today’s system of support for children and young people who are disabled or 
who have SEN often works against their wishes and their parents’ judgement. 
Children’s needs can be identified late; families are made to put up with a culture of 
low expectations about what their child can achieve at school and about what 
young people’s futures hold; parents suffer from a lack of information about what 
help they can expect and have limited choices about the best schools and care for 
their child; and families are forced to negotiate each bit of their support separately. 

13. This Government has put in place an ambitious programme of public service 
reform across education and health, providing a strong platform for the radical 
reforms necessary to support children and young people who are disabled or who 
have SEN. 

14. As in every public service, the challenge today is to use resources in the most 
efficient way possible. The current financial climate does not allow any 
government to be careless with resources. We, as well as local partners, must 
invest in a way that enables professionals to provide the best possible support for 
families and base this investment on evidence of what works. 

Page 86



16 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

15. The Government committed in May 2010 to addressing the key problems in 
relation to care for adults and children, including those who are disabled or who 
have SEN. Building on this, the comprehensive proposals for reform set out in this 
Green Paper are informed by local success and international evidence; calls for 
reform from Ofsted and independent reviews from Brian Lamb, John Bercow, 
Toby Salt and others; hundreds of people working with and caring for disabled 
children and children with SEN; and 1,800 responses to our Call for Views, 40 per 
cent of which were from parents. 

Our vision 
16. Our proposed reforms respond to the frustrations of children and young people, 

their families and the professionals who work with them. We want to put in place 
a radically different system to support better life outcomes for young people, give 
parents confidence by giving them more control, and transfer power to 
professionals on the front line and to local communities. 

17. We set out our proposals for supporting disabled children and children with SEN 
and their families from the early years, as they learn and achieve at school and as 
they prepare for adulthood. 

18. To support better life outcomes for young people from birth to adulthood we 
will help professionals: identify and meet children’s needs early, by ensuring that 
health services and early education and childcare is accessible to all children; work 
in partnership with parents to give each child support to fulfil their potential; and 
join up education, health and social care to provide families with a package of 
support that reflects their needs. We propose: 

a new approach to identifying SEN in early years settings and schools to 
challenge a culture of low expectations for children with SEN and give them 
effective support to succeed. A new single early years setting- and school-
based category of SEN will build on our fundamental reforms to education 
which place sharper accountability on schools to make sure that every child 
fulfils his or her potential; and 

a new single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ by 
2014 to replace the statutory SEN assessment and statement for children, 
bringing together the support on which children and their families rely across 
education, health and social care. Services will work together with the family 
to agree a straightforward, single plan that reflects the family’s ambitions for 
their child from early years to adulthood, which is reviewed regularly to reflect 
their changing needs, and is clear about who is responsible for provision. The 
new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ will provide the same statutory 
protection to parents as the statement of SEN and will include a commitment 
from all parties to provide their services, with local assessment and plan 
pathfinders testing the best way to achieve this. 

19. To give parents confidence by giving them more control over the support their 
family receives, we will introduce more transparency in the provision of services 
for children and young people who are disabled or who have SEN. Parents will 

Page 87



Introduction 17 

have real choice over their child’s education and the opportunity for direct control 
over support for their family. We propose: 

local authorities and other services will set out a local offer of all services 
available to support disabled children and children with SEN and their 
families. This easy-to-understand information for parents will set out what is 
normally available in schools to help children with lower-level SEN as well as 
the options available to support families who need additional help to care for 
their child; and 

the option of a personal budget by 2014 for all families with children with a
statement of SEN or a new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’, many of whom 
will have complex support needs. Key workers will be trained to advise families 
and help them navigate the range of help available across health, education 
and social care. 

20. To transfer power to professionals on the front line and to local communities 
we will: strip away unnecessary bureaucracy so that professionals can innovate 
and use their judgement; establish a clearer system so that professionals from 
different services and the voluntary and community sector can work together; 
and give parents and communities much more influence over local services. 
We propose to: 

give parents a real choice of school, either a mainstream or special school. 
Many parents have told us that they do not have a real choice of school that 
they believe is right for their child: some want a mainstream school and feel 
frustrated that the school they seek is not able to take the reasonable steps 
needed to include their child, others want their child to attend a special school 
but feel frustrated by not being given that choice by their local authority. 
We will remove the bias towards inclusion and propose to strengthen parental 
choice by improving the range and diversity of schools from which parents 
can choose, making sure they are aware of the options available to them and by 
changing statutory guidance for local authorities. Parents of children with 
statements of SEN will be able to express a preference for any state-funded 
school – including special schools, Academies and Free Schools – and have their 
preference met unless it would not meet the needs of the child, be incompatible 
with the efficient education of other children, or be an inefficient use of 
resources. We will also prevent the unnecessary closure of special schools by 
giving parents and community groups the power to take them over. 

introduce greater independence to the assessment of children’s needs,
testing how the voluntary and community sector could coordinate assessment 
and input from across education, health and social care as part of our proposal 
to move to a single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’. 

Next steps 
21. Improving support for children and young people who are disabled or who have 

SEN is a sensitive area that goes to the heart of family life in hundreds of 
thousands of households, and solutions will not necessarily be easy or come from 
central government directing and managing change. 

Page 88



18 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

22. Our ambitious vision of reform set out in this Green Paper is for widespread 
consultation and testing in local areas. Local pathfinders will show us what is 
possible and whether central government must act to facilitate local innovation, 
working with local areas and the voluntary and community sector to drive 
reforms. We will set out our detailed plans by the end of the year. 

Children and young people who are disabled or who 
have SEN and their families 

Definitions and context 
23. Disabled children and young people, and children and young people with SEN, 

are covered by a range of statutory provisions. For example, they may be disabled 
as defined by the Equality Act 2010 or have SEN as defined in the Education Act 
1996, and if they are in further education or training may have learning difficulties 
and disabilities as defined in statutory guidance. 

24. School-aged children are defined as having SEN if they have a significantly greater 
difficulty in learning than the majority of children of their age which calls for 
additional or different educational provision to be made for them.2 In January 
2010, 21 per cent of the school population were identified as having SEN.3

25. There are currently three levels of intervention for pupils with SEN in England:4

School Action – where the teacher or the school Special Educational Needs 
Coordinator (SENCO) decides to provide something for the child additional to 
or different from the school’s usual differentiated approach to help children 
learn. In January 2010, 11.4 per cent of the school population were identified 
at School Action level, approximately 916,000 pupils; 

School Action Plus – where the school consults specialists and requests help 
from external services. In January 2010, 6.2 per cent of the school population 
were at School Action Plus level, approximately 496,000 pupils; and 

Statement – where the child requires support beyond that which the school 
can provide and the local authority arranges appropriate provision. In January 
2010, 2.7 per cent of the school population or 221,000 pupils had a statement 
of SEN. 

2 Definitions of SEN from the SEN Code of Practice http://www.education.gov.uk/publications// 
eOrderingDownload/DfES%200581%20200MIG2228.pdf 

3 All data and local authority data from DfE SEN SFR (2010). Note: the total proportion of children with SEN is higher 
than the sum of those at School Action level, School Action Plus level or with a statement of SEN, as some children 
are reported as having SEN (but not a statement), but whether they are at School Action or School Action Plus 
level is not reported. 

4 Funding for school-based SEN support for children at School Action is part of each school’s general budget share 
of the Individual Schools Budget and not identified separately. Resources for School Action Plus, where some 
additional help is provided from outside the school, are usually allocated to schools through an SEN delegated 
budget. This is calculated using proxy indicators such as social deprivation, prior attainment and other factors 
(rather than the numbers of children identified as having SEN). In some areas resources for School Action Plus are 
held by the local authority for schools to draw on. Local authorities are responsible for arranging funding for the 
special educational provision set out in statements; some fund this direct but increasingly local authorities have 
been delegating funding for statements to schools. Local Schools Forums are consulted by local authorities when 
they draw up their schemes for delegating SEN funds. 

Page 89



Introduction 19 

26. There is a parallel system for children aged under 5, with Early Years Action, 
similar to School Action, and Early Years Action Plus, similar to School Action Plus, 
as well as statements of SEN. Around a quarter of statements of SEN are made 
before the child starts compulsory schooling, when he or she requires special 
educational provision in an early years setting. In most cases, statements are 
made during a child’s time at school. 

27. The post-16 definition of ‘learning difficulties’, which is similar to the school-aged 
SEN definition, includes disabled learners who are prevented or hindered from 
using ‘normal’ educational facilities. In the academic year 2008/09 there were 
approximately 163,000 learners aged 16 to 24 with a self-declared learning 
difficulty or disability in further education. Local authorities have a duty to carry 
out a learning difficulty assessment for those who had a statement of SEN at 
school and a power to carry an assessment out for anybody else they think may 
need one. 

28. There is wide local variation in the proportion of pupils identified with SEN. The 
total proportion of pupils with SEN by local authority in January 2010 ranged from 
11.9 per cent to 33.5 per cent. 

29. The term SEN encompasses a wide range of types of need. The established 
categories of SEN are: specific learning difficulty, moderate learning difficulty, 
severe learning difficulty, profound and multiple learning difficulty, behavioural, 
emotional and social difficulties, speech, language and communications needs, 
hearing impairment, visual impairment, multi-sensory impairment, physical 
disability and autistic spectrum disorder.5

30. The Equality Act 2010 defines a person with a disability as someone who has a
physical or mental impairment that has a substantial and long-term adverse effect 
on his or her ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. The definition of 
disability encompasses a broader range of impairments than might be commonly 
assumed, including children on the autistic spectrum, those with Tourette’s 
syndrome and those with communication difficulties. Estimates of the proportion 
of children with a disability vary, some research suggests that around 6 to 7 per 
cent of children are disabled.6 There is a significant overlap between disabled 
children and those with SEN; research suggests that around three-quarters of 
disabled children also have SEN.7

31. Unless otherwise stated, we refer to disabled children and young people and 
children and young people with SEN or with a learning difficulty aged birth to 19 
years old, or up to 25 years old if they have a learning difficulty assessment. Where 
we refer to young people with SEN in the document, this includes young people 
aged 16 to 25 with learning difficulties and disabilities. 

32. Under the Equality Act 2010, there is a duty on public sector bodies, including 
schools, to consider how they can eliminate discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity, and foster good relations in relation to disability. This duty extends 
to pupils as well as employees and other users of the school, including parents, 

5 DfE SEN SFR (2010) 
6 Read (2007) 
7 Porter et al (2008) 

Page 90



20 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

and covers a wide range of issues such as school admissions, providing education, 
bullying, exclusions, and school trips. 

33. No one type of school placement (such as full inclusion in mainstream provision, 
special schools, or specialist units in a mainstream setting) is the most effective at 
meeting children’s SEN. Ofsted reports that the most important factor in 
determining the best outcomes for children with SEN is the quality of the 
provision.8

34. There are, nevertheless, specific types of provision and support that individual 
children may require wherever they are placed. This can include specialist 
equipment such as an adapted computer or software, a different lesson plan, 
adapted physical environments with, for example a hearing loop or an adjustable 
desk, input from specialist support services such as speech and language 
therapists or mental health services, teachers with specialist knowledge, skilled 
job coaches, advice on mobility and getting around, or training for children and 
young people on managing their own behaviour and improving their social skills 
and understanding. 

35. Children within the same category of SEN differ in the extent of their individual 
difficulties and in the type of provision they need. Autism, or an autistic spectrum 
disorder, for example, covers a broad spectrum: children with autism may require 
support with communication, social understanding and thinking and behaving 
flexibly, and may, to a greater or lesser extent, require support to carry out basic 
tasks such as eating, drinking, washing, dressing and going to the toilet. 

The increase in SEN 
36. Although the proportion of pupils with statements of SEN has remained relatively 

stable over time, there has been a considerable increase in recent years in the 
number of pupils with SEN without statements,9 from 10 per cent of all pupils in 
1995 to 18.2 per cent or 1.5 million pupils in 2010.10 

37. There has been a marked increase in certain primary need types of SEN in recent 
years.11 For example, the numbers of pupils with behavioural, emotional and 
social difficulties has increased by 23 per cent between 2005 and 2010, to 158,000 
pupils; the number of pupils with speech, language and communication needs 
has increased by 58 per cent, to 113,000 pupils; and the number of children with 
autistic spectrum disorder has increased by 61 per cent, to 56,000 pupils.12 

38. The Lamb Inquiry (2009) reported that SEN can sometimes be ‘unhelpfully 
collated’ with falling behind, and this may have contributed to the growing 
number of pupils at School Action and Action Plus.13 This effect may be evident in 
the over-representation of groups such as summer-born pupils in the SEN 

8 Ofsted (2006) and Ofsted (2010) 
9 A new SEN Code of Practice in 2002/03 (the new Code of Practice replaced the previous five stages of SEN with a 

new system of three classifications: School Action; School Action Plus; and statement led to a drop in the 
proportion of pupils with SEN without statements, but this has been rising steadily since then). 

10 DfE SEN SFRs (1995) to (2010) and DfES (2004). Note: the proportion of children without a statement is slightly 
higher than the proportion of children at School Action and School Action Plus. 

11 Primary need type is only collected for School Action Plus and statement (not School Action). 
12 DfE SEN SFRs (2005) and (2010) 
13 Lamb (2009) 

Page 91



Introduction 21 

population. At the end of Key Stage 2, August-born pupils are 60 per cent more 
likely to be identified as having SEN than September-born pupils. This relationship 
is strongest for School Action, and weakest for pupils with statements. 

Children with low-incidence needs 
39. Low-incidence need is often used to refer to multi-sensory impairment, visual, 

hearing or physical impairment, profound and multiple learning difficulties, 
severe learning difficulties and autistic spectrum disorder. Low-incidence needs 
are defined not simply by their rarity but also because they have a functional 
element, with an emphasis on the complex nature of the support required and 
provision for the children concerned, and the nature of the skills and organisation 
that are required to ensure that all their needs are properly addressed.14 

40. In January 2010, there were 9,480 pupils with profound and multiple learning 
difficulties; this had increased from 8,050 in 2005.15 Research estimates that the 
number of adults with profound and multiple learning difficulties (currently 
around 16,000) is forecast to increase at 1.8 per cent annually.16 

41. Evidence suggests that the prevalence of conditions normally resulting in reduced 
life expectancy and requiring palliative care services is increasing, at least partly 
due to improved survival of low-birth-weight babies and extremely pre-term 
babies (born before 26 weeks).17 And children and young people with some very 
complex and life-threatening conditions appear to be living longer. Children with 
particularly complicated needs include an estimated 18,000 children needing 
palliative care.18 

Where children with SEN go to school 
42. Almost all children in special schools have a statement of SEN. Over time, the 

number of special schools has decreased from 1,161 in 2002 to 1,054 in 2010, but 
the proportion of pupils with statements placed in them has increased slightly in 
recent years, from 40 per cent in 2006 to 44 per cent in 2010. In 2006, 89,390 
pupils were on roll in maintained and non-maintained special schools, this 
increased to 90,760 in 2010.19 

43. The majority of children with statements of SEN attend maintained mainstream 
schools or Academies; in January 2010, 26 per cent of pupils with a statement 
were at maintained primary schools, 29 per cent were at maintained secondary 
schools and 38 per cent were at maintained special schools. Other pupils with 
statements attend independent schools (4 per cent), non-maintained special 
schools (2 per cent) or pupil referral units (0.8 per cent).20 

14 Gray (2006)  
15 DfE SEN SFRs (1995) to (2010)  
16 Emerson and Hatton (2009)  
17 EPICure (2008)  
18 Cochrane et al (2007) 
19 Ofsted (2006) 
20 DfE SEN SFR (2010)  

Page 92



22 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

44. There is significant local variation in where children with statements of SEN attend 
school. In 2010, the percentage of pupils with statements placed by local 
authorities in maintained special schools varied from 7 per cent to 68 per cent; 
those placed in maintained mainstream schools varied from 16 per cent to 67 per 
cent; and those placed in non-maintained special or independent special schools 
varied from 1 per cent to 23 per cent. This variation is partly explained by the 
differences in local provision. 

Destinations after school 
45. 77 per cent of young people who had never been categorised as having SEN at 

school were in full-time education at age 16. Of those in school, 38 per cent were 
in maintained school, 11 per cent in 6th form college and 20 per cent in further 
education college. For those young people who previously held a statement of 
SEN, 24 per cent were in maintained school, 4 per cent in 6th form college and 28 
per cent in further education college. Similarly, the majority of young people 
previously at School Action and School Action Plus were in further education 
colleges at the age of 16.21 

46. 46 per cent of young people who had never been categorised as having SEN at 
school were in full-time education at age 18, 12 per cent were in a job with 
training, 23 per cent in a job without training and 13 per cent were not in any 
form of education, employment or training. For those young people who 
previously had a statement of SEN, 42 per cent were in full-time education, 7 per 
cent and 13 per cent in jobs with and without training, and 30 per cent were not 
in education, employment or training.22 

Children and young people’s outcomes 
47. Compared with their peers, children and young people who are disabled or who 

have SEN are considerably more likely to be at risk of poorer outcomes. They are 
less likely to achieve well at school and are four times less likely to participate in 
higher education. Pupils with SEN are more than twice as likely to be eligible for 
free school meals than their peers; and pupils at School Action Plus are 20 times 
more likely to receive a permanent exclusion and seven times more likely to 
receive a fixed-period exclusion than pupils with no identified SEN. Looked after 
children are three-and-a-half times more likely to have SEN compared with all 
children.23 

21 YCS and LSYPE (2007). Note: percentages may not add to the total number in full-time education as a small 
minority of young people were in other forms of education or an unknown institution. 

22 YCS and LSYPE (2009) 
23 DfE LAC SFR (2010) and DfE SEN an analysis (2010) 

Page 93



0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Figure 1: Children and young people with SEN or who are disabled 
and other factors24 

Pupils Disabled Looked after Children with Permanently Free School 
children children a diagnosable excluded Meals 

mental health pupils 
disorder 

No SEN SEN without a statement Statemented SEN All SEN 

Note: ‘All SEN’ has been used when the data could not be split into statemented or without statement. 

Introduction 23 

Education 
48. Evidence suggests that pupils with SEN are less likely to achieve five or more A*–C 

grade GCSEs or equivalent (Level 2 qualification) by the age of 19 than pupils with 
no identified SEN. Some groups of pupils with SEN are much further behind (see 
Figure 2). 

49. If more effective support of disabled children and children with SEN prompted 
greater achievement, it could result in higher productivity gains and growth for 
the economy, thereby benefiting both the individual and society. For example, 
men with between one and four GCSEs at A*–C are expected to earn around 
£85,000 more over their working lives than those who do not achieve any GCSEs 
at grades A*–C, for women this figure is £60,000.25 

24 DfE SEN SFR (2010); DfE LAC SFR (2010); DfE Exclusions SFR (2008/09); Read (2007); and ONS (2004) 
25 These are best estimates and discounted lifetime earnings. Analysis based on Jenkins et al (2007) 

Page 94



Figure 2: Percentage of pupils achieving five or more A*–C grade 
GCSEs, including English and maths, in 200926 

61% of children without SEN 
and 21% of children at Action 
level, achieved 5 or more 
A*–C at GCSE, including 
English and Maths in 2009. 

65%

60%

55%

50%

45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

%
 o

f p
u

p
ils

 

SpLD MLD SLD PMLD BESD SLCN Hearing Visual Multi- Physical ASD Other 
Impaired Impaired Sensory Disability

Impaired
School Action Plus Statement

24 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Exclusion 
50. School Census data from the academic year 2008/09 show that 64 per cent of all 

permanently excluded pupils were pupils identified as having SEN without a 
statement and 8 per cent were pupils with a statement of SEN.27 Research 
evidence shows that the estimated cost of lost lifetime future earnings as a result 
of exclusions is approximately £14,000 in 2005 prices. If wider costs are included, 
the estimated total cost to society of one exclusion is £64,000 (this includes 
estimated costs of lost earnings plus health, education, crime and social 
services costs).28 

Young people not in education, employment or training 
51. Young people with SEN are more than twice as likely not to be in education, 

employment or training. Analysis in 2009 showed that 30 per cent of those who 
had statements of SEN at Year 11 and 27 per cent of those who were identified as 
SEN without statements were not in education, employment or training at the age 
of 18. This is compared with 13 per cent for those with no special provision at Year 
11. This study also found that disabled young people are more likely not to be in 
education, employment or training at 18 than others.29 

26 DfE SEN an analysis (2010). Full SEN categories set out in paragraph 7. ‘Other’ recorded as a primary need type in 
the School Census. 

27 DfE Exclusions SFR (2008/09) 
28 Brookes et al (2007) 
29 Analysis based on DfE analysis of LSYPE and YCS (2009) 

Page 95



Introduction 25 

Crime 
52. Research suggests that young people with statements are over-represented in the 

population of young offenders: 15 per cent of young offenders have a statement 
of SEN compared with approximately 3 per cent of the general population.30 

Health and wellbeing 
53. Parents with disabled children have higher levels of stress and lower levels of 

wellbeing than parents with non-disabled children.31 There are a number of 
preventable costs that could be saved if the stress involved in caring were 
eradicated. These costs amount to around £5,600 per year per disabled child 
(made up of lost earnings, sick days, GP visits, residential care, foster care and 
family breakdown costs). 

54. For example, short breaks can provide a number of benefits to a disabled child 
and their family, and wider society, mostly through costs avoided. Research has 
estimated approximately £2,500 of economic benefits per year per disabled child 
from preventing lost earnings, sick days, GP visits, school costs for siblings, 
residential care, foster care and family breakdown. 

55. Due to the demands of caring and the accompanying stress, in 2000, the average 
weekly income of households with disabled children was £50 less than that of 
households with no disabled child.32 

56. Children and young people with SEN are more likely to live in poverty than their 
peers. Free school meals eligibility is used as a proxy for deprivation, and, in 
January 2010, 28 per cent of children with an identified SEN were eligible for free 
school meals compared with only 13 per cent of children without SEN.33 

57. Children and young people who report being disabled are less likely to say that 
they are happy (59 per cent said they felt happy compared with 67 per cent of 
other children and young people). A greater proportion of these children are 
worried about being bullied (38 per cent compared with 25 per cent of other 
children and young people) and are less likely to say they have friends (59 per 
cent compared with 92 per cent).34 SEN status is the strongest predictor of a
deterioration in wellbeing for boys and girls.35 

30 Baker et al (2004)  
31 Emerson et al (2004) and Robertson et al (2010) 
32 In 2000 prices, Copps and Heady (2007)  
33 DfE SEN SFR (2010)  
34 Chamberlain et al (2010)  
35 Gutman et al (2010)  

Page 96



26 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

The Call for Views  
58. To help shape this Green Paper and ensure that the proposals we put forward 

reflect the experience and expertise of families and those supporting them, 
we launched a Call for Views which ran from 10 September to 15 October 2010. 
The six questions we asked were: 

1. Are the SEN and disability statutory frameworks – including the SEN 
statementing process – helping children and young people to get what 
they need? If not, what changes could help? 

2. How can we identify children’s special educational needs earlier, and make 
sure that they get the support they need as quickly as possible? 

3. How can we improve the processes for special educational needs and 
disability – in schools, in assessments, and across all services – so that 
professionals can spend more of their time with children and their families? 

4. How can we ensure all schools and colleges have high expectations for 
children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities, 
including their future potential and contribution to society? 

5. How can we improve the choices of schools and services available to 
parents and improve opportunities for them to be involved in decisions 
that affect their family? 

6. How can we improve the transition from school to adult life for young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities and the support 
provided for their families throughout? 

59. We received over 1,800 responses, 40 per cent of which came from parents of 
disabled children and children with SEN. We also heard from a range of 
professionals from health, education, social care and other areas, representative 
bodies, the voluntary and community sector, and talked to children and young 
people and their families and organisations that represent them. 

60. The views and ideas we received and used throughout this document have 
reinforced the case for change and informed the development of the proposals 
set out in this Green Paper. Key areas of concern raised in the Call for Views 
included the following 

the system for supporting children, young people and families is overly 
complex, bureaucratic and adversarial; 

parents want better information on the services available and the choice of 
schools; 

better training is needed for school staff to recognise children’s needs and 
work better with children and their parents; and 

education, health and social care services need to work better together to 
identify and deliver on children’s needs. 

Page 97



Introduction 27 

61. Some of the quotes we received are set out below. The full report of the responses 
to the Call for Views can be found at: www.education.gov.uk/consultations 

‘I know from experiencing the mainstream sector of education that a lot of 
teachers are unaware of visual impairments; a lot of educational organisations 
look at disabilities being physical or extra learning difficulties and usually 
forget about deaf and blind people. I was lucky enough to attend the Royal 
Blind School where this was not the case.’ 

Young person 

‘For some parents and children the system works well, but not for all. Children 
of articulate parents who understand the system tend to get the better deal, 
so disadvantaged children are further disadvantaged. The statementing 
process has become a goal in its own right for many parents and schools, who 
see it as the only means to get funded support. The system is therefore 
resource led rather than needs led, and the emphasis is on gaining more 
support not reducing it.’ 

Local authority 

‘Many parents have spent the majority of their son or daughter’s childhood 
fighting for access for support, to schools and services. As our children get 
closer to 16 or 19 there can be a lot of anxiety generated about what happens 
next. Services post-16 are few and far between in some areas and parents 
often have a sense of ‘hurtling into a void’. We want more choice of services 
that reflect the needs our children have as they approach adulthood.’ 

Parent/carer 

‘If I want to go somewhere I’ve never been before in my car – I get a map. 
A good map shows all the routes and the landscapes and the options. Where is 
the map for families to use if their child is identified with SEN? Here is our 
chance to create a map – one that all people can understand – using common 
language and well explained assessments.’ 

Head teacher 

‘It needs to be clearer to parents what is available and what they are entitled 
to so they can make better decisions. Make sure that parents are truly 
consulted in the decision making process and let them have access to the 
professionals who have the knowledge, expertise and experience in the 
specific area their child has needs.’ 

Parent/carer 

Page 98



28 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability

1  Early identification 
and assessment

Chapter summary

1.1 Identifying children’s support needs early is vital if they are to thrive, and 
enables parents and professionals to put the right approach in place quickly. 
Graham Allen’s review of early intervention highlighted the value of intervening 
as soon as possible, not just for children and their families, but also for wider 
society. 

1.2 Too often, the particular support that children and their families require is put in 
place needlessly late. Although some impairments are normally identified at 
birth or soon after, other types of need emerge as children grow up. Not 
knowing why children are developing differently can be tremendously stressful 
for the child and for their parents. And even when needs have been identified, 
parents tell us that it can feel like a struggle to get the right support for their 
family from education, health and social care services. It can be slow and 
complicated, with different services working in isolation and each having its 
own approach. 

1.3 We must put in place a system which works well for every child and every family. 
The proposals in this chapter are intended to ensure high quality early 
identification and intervention for all children where they need it, such as the 
health and development review for children aged between 2 and 2½ years, as 
well as effective integrated support for children with the most complex needs. 
Our proposals would mean that:

professionals from health services, such as health visitors, and from early 
years settings work with parents to assess the development of all children to 
clarify where they need additional support or a different approach;

high quality early education and childcare is accessible to all children; and

by 2014, children and young people who would currently have a statement 
of SEN or learning difficulty assessment will have a single assessment 
process and ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ for their support from birth to 
25. The new plan will afford parents the same statutory protection as the 
statement of SEN. All the services on which the child and their family rely 
would work together with the family to agree an ‘Education, Health and Care 
Plan’ which reflects the family’s needs and ambitions for the child’s future 
covering education, health, employment and independence. The plan will 
be clear about who is responsible for which services, and will include a 
commitment from all parties across education, health and social care to 
provide their services. 

Page 99



Early identification and assessment 29

1.4 To work towards this:

we will test how to reform radically the statutory SEN assessment and 
statement. Local assessment and plan pathfinders will explore the best 
replacement, including whether the voluntary and community sector could 
coordinate assessment and bring greater independence to the process; and

before introducing the new single assessment process and ‘Education, 
Health and Care Plan’, we intend to reduce the time the current statutory 
assessment process takes and explore how to tackle delays in the provision 
of advice for the statutory assessment.

1.5 This chapter sets out our proposals for improving early identification of need, 
support in the early years from health professionals and accessible high quality 
early years provision, as well as our intention to introduce a new approach to 
statutory assessment for children and young people to replace the current 
process for statements of SEN.

Early identification of need

1.6 According to Ofsted, the current system is effective at identifying the most 
complex impairments, often at birth or soon after, 36 and there have been 
improvements in identifying some impairments at an earlier stage, such as 
through new hearing tests for all newborns.37 As well as checks in pregnancy or in 
the first year of life, health visitors carry out a health and development review for 
children aged 2 to 2½ years and early years practitioners undertake ongoing 
assessment of children’s development. But too many children are still falling 
through the net and starting school without the necessary skills or behaviours for 
more formal learning (particularly in speech, language and communication) 
because of a failure to spot or address a developmental problem.38 This can also 
mean that support is put in put in place needlessly late.

1.7 Through effective early identification and intervention – working with parents and 
families – we can reduce the impact that SEN or disability may have in the long-
run, and enable more young people to lead successful and independent adult 
lives.39 For example, a young child can be frustrated if they have additional 
difficulties in learning words and their meanings. They might find it particularly 
difficult to be understood, which can affect their behaviour at home and in class.40

When parents, early years professionals or teachers are able to identify this early 
on, they can try different approaches to help children’s language development. 

1.8 All professionals who come into contact with families have a part to play in 
identifying those children whose needs are not being adequately met. Many of 
these children will not need a formal statutory assessment, such as that for a 
statement of SEN, but may benefit from an informal assessment, with the family’s 

36 Ofsted (2010) and Lewis et al (2010)
37 Lindsey et al (2010) 
38 Bercow (2008)
39 Bercow (2008), Goswami (2008) and Allen (2011)
40 Bercow (2008) 

Page 100



30 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

consent, using a format common to all local agencies and shared as appropriate. 
This can help to identify where support may be required from a range of services 
and can help put this in place at an early stage. 

1.9 The approach we set out in this Green Paper aims to ensure that professionals 
working in health, early years and education assess the development of all 
children to enable parents and professionals to put in place quickly, for all 
children who need it, a different approach or additional support. 

Support in the early years from health professionals 
1.10 Health professionals are crucial to identifying children’s needs early, and provide 

ongoing support to their families. We set out in our strategy for public health in 
England, the Healthy Lives, Healthy People White Paper, our aim to increase 
children’s self-esteem, confidence and resilience right from infancy, with stronger 
support in the early years and key roles for maternity services, health visitors and 
other health professionals. 

1.11 Maternity services help to prepare and support families who have a baby 
diagnosed with a foetal anomaly in prenatal screening, or where an impairment is 
diagnosed postnatally. In these cases, families should have the opportunity to talk 
to other clinicians and specialists knowledgeable about the child’s condition or 
syndrome. The NHS White Paper, Equity and excellence, provides a framework for 
maternity services to concentrate on the outcomes that women and their families 
want, with a focus on personalised care that reflects women’s individual health 
and wellbeing and encourages strong partnership working with other services. 
For some families with disabled children this care may involve other professionals 
from health and social care from when the child is very young. In many areas, 
professionals are using the popular Early Support approach to put in place 
effective arrangements for working together with parents (this approach is 
explained in chapter two). 

1.12 Health visitors are well placed to identify children who need extra support.41 

However, Frank Field’s review on poverty and life chances found that in some 
areas health visitors do not have the capacity to support all families.42 The Health 
Visitor Implementation Plan sets out our vision for a transformed health visiting 
service and Government plans to recruit and train an additional 4,200 health 
visitors by 2015, in order to deliver a full service and family offer, ranging from 
community and family support to additional services related to SEN or disability. 
As capacity grows, every Sure Start Children’s Centre should have access to a 
named health visitor, working with other health professionals and social workers 
where families have ongoing needs requiring multi-agency support. 

1.13 The expanded health visiting services will ensure as a priority that all families 
are offered the health and development review for children aged between 
2 and 2½ years, so that children who need any additional support can be 
identified and appropriate support offered to the family. 

41 Lewis et al (2010) 
42 Field MP (2010) 

Page 101



Early identification and assessment 31 

1.14 Where families need additional support – particularly the most vulnerable families 
– the health visiting service will have the capacity to provide it, working in 
partnership with GPs, midwives, Sure Start Children’s Centres and other local and 
community organisations. When parents have concerns about their child’s 
development and learning, they will be offered additional support and, where 
appropriate, referred to another health professional such as a speech and 
language therapist or a paediatrician. 

1.15 Paediatricians have extensive knowledge of child health and development, and 
can help to identify any problems with development through consultation and 
clinical assessment. This may require ongoing observation and follow-up during 
childhood. Paediatricians will often need to work closely with other health 
professionals and colleagues from the local authority to put the right support 
in place. 

1.16 Early identification by health professionals followed by appropriate support can 
make a significant difference to children’s lives. The National Institute for Health 
and Clinical Excellence will publish guidelines later this year on the recognition, 
referral and diagnosis of autistic spectrum disorder in children and young people. 
The Department of Health will explore with the National Institute for Health and 
Clinical Excellence the scope for further guidance and quality standards. 

1.17 School nurses play an important role in supporting the good health of children 
and young people at school, and the Department of Health is undertaking further 
work on both the public health role of school nurses and their role with disabled 
children and young people with illness in school. 

Accessible and high quality early years provision 
1.18 Good quality early years services can be crucial to ensuring that children’s 

developmental needs are picked up and addressed early on, drawing in 
professionals across service boundaries. Too many children are starting school 
without the basic skills and behaviours to enable them to learn. We want to 
improve the opportunities available to children in their early years, and the 
Department for Education and the Department for Health will publish later this 
Spring a joint policy statement on the early years, setting out our vision for 
reform. We want a system that is led by the professionals who understand how 
best to deliver these services, and so we will be working closely with experts in 
the early years sector to produce our publication, collaborating on a new vision 
for the crucial foundation years of each child’s life. 

1.19 Staff in early years settings can help to identify SEN and impairments early on 
and provide all children with a broad range of stimulating learning experiences. 
The Tickell Review of the Early Years Foundation Stage is considering 
recommendations on the assessment of young children, as well as how to simplify 
and reduce the bureaucracy of assessment. Our intention is that early assessment 
should focus on those areas that are essential to young children’s good 
development, such as communication and language; social and emotional skills; 
and physical development. 

Page 102



32 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

1.20 Such early assessment – specifically in connection with the 2 to 2½ year health 
and development review undertaken by health visitors – should help to facilitate 
health and early years professionals working together to provide the support that 
individual children require. Commissioners of children’s centre services can 
ensure that their children’s centre provision encourages this joined-up way of 
working. 

1.21 In many cases, young children who are disabled or who have SEN receive effective 
support before school, which can help to reduce the need for special educational 
provision. Local authorities must not, however, have a blanket policy not to 
statement children under five. Parents have a right to request a statutory 
assessment of their children and local authorities must draw up a statement of 
SEN where it is necessary to do so in individual cases. 

1.22 Early learning can have a positive impact on children’s SEN; research has shown 
that the number of children ‘at risk’ of SEN dropped from a third to one in five 
after receiving nursery education,43 but, as described later, families who live in 
poverty or who have children that require different or additional support can find 
early education and childcare particularly expensive. For these reasons, the 
Department for Education is continuing to invest in the free entitlement to early 
years education, and extending this to all disadvantaged 2 year-olds from 2013. 
The Department is trialling with local authorities approaches for the expansion of 
the entitlement for 2 year-olds. The Department for Education will ensure that 
the extended free entitlement of 15 hours of early education for disadvantaged 
2 year-olds is developed to accommodate disadvantaged children with more 
complex support needs and their families. 

1.23 High quality early learning has a particularly positive impact on young children’s 
development and a skilled early years workforce is a vital component of that 
quality.44 There are now over 6,000 people holding Early Years Professional Status. 
The Department for Education is continuing to invest in graduate early years 
programmes, both the Early Years Professional Status and the New Leaders in 
Early Years programmes. As well as supporting the development of a graduate-led 
workforce, the National College will continue to support the development of 
children’s centre leaders through the National Professional Qualification in 
Integrated Centre Leadership and the Children’s Centre Network. Area SENCOs 
and others working in an advisory role with early years settings on SEN and 
disability support effective early assessment and intervention and can provide a 
link between settings, social care and health services. 

1.24 Laying the foundations for early language development is at the heart of a high 
quality early years experience, and is an area of development where many 
disabled children and children with SEN can require a different approach or 
additional support. Many early years practitioners and local authorities have 
improved their support for early language development as part of the Every Child 
A Talker programme, and we will look at how we can provide further support in 
embedding these practices. 

43 Sammons et al (2003)  
44 Sylva et al (2004) and Every Disabled Child Matters (2007)  

Page 103



Early identification and assessment 33 

1.25 The Early Intervention Grant will give local authorities greater control over 
resources for early years training with scope to invest in the quality and 
qualifications of the workforce to meet local needs. Local authorities involved in 
the Disabled Children’s Access to Childcare Programme have adopted a range of 
training approaches that have helped settings move away from costly one-to-one 
support to more effective and less resource-intensive models of support.45 

1.26 Parents tell us that finding childcare for disabled children with can be difficult and 
much more expensive than for children who do not need any extra support or a 
different approach. 46 Families with disabled children are also more likely to 
experience poverty.47 Every Disabled Child Matters found that: ‘It costs three times 
as much to raise a disabled child and 93 per cent of families with disabled children 
have reported facing financial difficulty. One sixth of families have reported going 
without essentials such as food and heating’.48 

1.27 Families with disabled children are less likely to use early years and childcare 
settings even when it is free as they may feel that settings do not offer support 
appropriate for their particular needs.49 For many parents, early years settings are 
often the first time that they entrust the care of their child to anyone outside their 
immediate family. For the parents of disabled children, this can be particularly 
challenging and it can be harder to build up the necessary level of trust with early 
years practitioners. 

1.28 Local authorities, with their role as champions for vulnerable children and 
families, are in a unique position to commission appropriate services and must 
fulfil their duty from the Childcare Act 2006 to ensure sufficient childcare for 
disabled children. Local authorities also have a duty, through their Family 
Information Services, to provide advice for parents on childcare and early years 
services in their area and to help parents find a suitable early years setting. 

1.29 Sure Start Children’s Centres play a key role for disabled children and children 
with SEN and their families.50 They can bring health, early learning and other early 
years services together and offer a space for an integrated response using, for 
example, the Early Support approach described in chapter two. In particular, 
health professionals can work alongside other professionals in Sure Start 
Children’s Centres to improve early identification of SEN and impairments. 

1.30 We have set out our intention to retain the national network of Sure Start 
Children’s Centres with a core universal offer, while also ensuring that they deliver 
proven early intervention programmes to support families with the greatest 
needs. The core purpose of Sure Start Children’s Centres is to improve outcomes 
and narrow gaps, particularly in terms of identifying, reaching and helping the 
families in greatest need to improve their parenting capacity, health and 
wellbeing, child development and school readiness. This focus on outcomes, 
rather than inputs, will give greater flexibility for children’s centres to assess the 

45 NatCen et al (2010) 
46 Reported by parents in research by Campbell-Hall et al (2009) 
47 Blackburn et al (2010) 
48 Every Disabled Child Matters (2010)  
49 Early Education for Two Year Old Children Pilot Evaluation, DCSF (2007) and Pinney (2007) 
50 Pinney (2007)  

Page 104



34 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

needs of families in their area (including families with young disabled children) 
and to provide, or signpost, appropriate integrated support to meet those needs. 

Question 1: How can we strengthen the identification of SEN and 
impairments in the early years, and support for children with them? 

1.31 We know from programmes such as the Early Support programme for young 
disabled children described in chapter two, and Achievement for All concerning 
school’s approaches to SEN described in chapter three, that many children’s 
support needs can be met effectively without the need for a statement of SEN. 
These approaches involve professionals working together with parents right from 
the start to support the child’s learning and development and can have huge 
benefits for the child’s achievement and wellbeing. Learning from parents and 
sharing information with them can give professionals a much better 
understanding of how best to support a child. We say more in subsequent 
chapters about how we will ensure that families who need additional help know 
how to get it and in a timely way. 

1.32 In addition to using effective approaches in the early years, such as Early Support, 
or in school, such as Achievement for All, it is important that all children can start 
school ready to learn, but we know that this can be a particularly difficult time for 
some children with SEN. We will say more in due course about how we might 
strengthen the transition between the early years and Year 1 in the light of 
recommendations from the Tickell Review. 

A new approach to statutory assessment 
1.33 Some children with SEN can require a very different approach and specific input 

from a number of different professionals that is not available in an early years 
setting, school or college. For these children, the statement of SEN describes the 
child’s needs and provides a guarantee for families about how the child or young 
person will be supported, setting out in detail the special educational support 
they will receive. The statement can also describe the child’s non-educational 
needs and the non-educational provision to meet those needs. However, parents 
tell us that there are serious problems with the statutory assessment process – it 
can be slow and it can feel like a battle to secure the right help.51 

‘The statutory assessment process is too bureaucratic, lengthy, time 
consuming and inaccessible to parents.’ 

Parent/carer 

1.34 SEN statutory assessment can be complicated, and for some disabled children it is 
just one of many assessments. Some of these might overlap with the statutory 
assessment of SEN, for example, where a looked after child has a personal 
education plan, or a disabled child has a short break. The Council for Disabled 
Children estimates that, on average, a disabled child experiences 32 assessments. 
This can result in inconsistent plans for their support,52 and families are often 

51 Problems with the statutory assessment process outlined in the Lamb (2009), Boddy et al (2006) and Ofsted (2010) 
52 Ofsted (2010) 

Page 105



Early identification and assessment 35 

forced to repeat themselves by, for example, providing overlapping information 
for the SEN statutory assessment and their claim for the Disability Living 
Allowance. 

1.35 Assessment and planning can be particularly complicated for looked after 
children, many of whom face barriers in several areas of their development.53 

Their lives often involve a number of different professionals and the assessment 
of their needs as part of the care planning and review process does not always fit 
well with assessment for SEN, even though it is important that looked after 
children should have any SEN identified early as part of the care planning process. 
Almost all local authorities have a virtual school head or equivalent champion of 
the education of looked after children and together with designated teachers, 
they can play a powerful role in making sure that the SEN of looked after children 
are appropriately assessed at the right time and with minimum delay. 

1.36 The assessment process is different for young people with statements entering 
further education, who are supported by a different legal framework to those at 
school. They can be reassessed at age 16, possibly by a new person, and, too 
often, plans for their education do not build effectively on their arrangements at 
school or plan for their adult life.54 

1.37 In many cases the length of the statutory assessment process means that a young 
person with SEN may not be receiving the right support for six months or more, 
often at a crucial point in their development. This can increase to over a year once 
any appeals to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) are taken into account. 
Research commissioned by the Department for Education found that: ‘Overall,
even where the assessment process went relatively smoothly, it could be experienced 
as stressful by parents simply because of the length of time involved…’ .55 Even when 
children or young people have a statement, if their needs change, or if a condition 
worsens or improves, the system is often too slow to adapt. This can be 
detrimental both for the child and family and can represent an ineffective use of 
resources, with local services providing more expensive support rather than 
intervening earlier and more cost-effectively. 

1.38 The responsibilities of local services for supporting children with a statement of 
SEN and their families differ. Local authorities have a duty to ensure that services 
specified in the education part of the statement are provided. Health legislation 
takes a different form; there is no corresponding requirement on health agencies, 
and there are different routes for redress. It is often unclear who is responsible for 
the delivery of services such as speech and language therapy, which may appear 
in the education part of the statement although they are funded and 
commissioned by local health services.56 This can lead to children with SEN not 
receiving the support that they need. 

53 National Implementation Team (2010) 
54 Ofsted (2007) found that there is often poor transition planning 
55 Penfold et al (2009) 
56 Ofsted (2010) 

Page 106



36 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

‘Statements should be binding on health services (e.g. speech therapy and 
occupational health services) as well as local authorities, otherwise they are 
meaningless for those children who need services which are provided by 
health authorities rather than local authorities…’ 

Parent/carer 

1.39 Even though the local authority has a duty to ensure special educational 
provision, some parents tell us that local authorities holding this responsibility 
alongside their duties in relation to assessment can appear to present a conflict 
of interests in providing the right support for children. 57 

1.40 While it is important to retain the protection of support offered by a statement of 
SEN, we need a new approach. We propose that children and young people who 
would currently have a statement or statutory assessment of learning difficulty 
for further education and skills training should have a single statutory 
assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’, from birth to 25. 
All the services on which the child and their family rely would work together 
with the family to agree an ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ which reflects 
their ambitions, for now and for the future; is clear about who is responsible 
across education, health and social care for which services; and includes a 
commitment from all parties to provide their services. Under our proposal, by 
2014, all children who would currently have a statement of SEN or learning 
difficulty assessment would be entitled to a new single assessment process and 
‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ to identify their support needs. 

1.41 We know that effective multi-agency assessments look at the child’s overall needs 
and are used as a dynamic process rather than representing a snapshot of their 
support needs.58 Our proposal is that the ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ would, 
like a statement of SEN, specify in detail the child’s needs and support, but would 
also set out the learning and life outcomes sought for children and young people, 
with reviews focused on their progress towards life outcomes across education, 
health, employment, and an independent life. The plan would include provision 
from education, health, social care and other services and the way in which the 
child is supported would evolve over time as the child progresses, including from 
primary to secondary education and as they prepare for adulthood, including 
employment. The ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ would be transparent about 
funding for the package of support. 

Question 2: Do you agree with our proposal to replace the statement of SEN 
and learning difficulty assessment for children and young people with a 
single statutory assessment process and an ‘Education, Health and Care 
Plan’, bringing together all services across education, health and social care? 

Question 3: How could the new single assessment process and ‘Education, 
Health and Care Plan’ better support children’s needs, be a better process for 
families and represent a more cost-effective approach for services? 

57 HCESC (2006) 
58 Boddy et al (2006) 

Page 107



Early identification and assessment 37 

1.42 This single process would replace the statement of SEN and the statutory learning 
difficulty assessment for further education and skills training, and could 
incorporate or reduce the need for separate assessments in relation to health, 
education, social care and employment. So, the new assessment process would 
apply to those in the 16 to 19 age group, and those aged 19 to 25 who would 
previously have had a statement of SEN or learning difficulty assessment. 

1.43 Our proposals would involve fundamental changes for families and professionals, 
and we will test how to reform radically the statutory assessment and 
statement of SEN. We will invite proposals from local areas to explore the best 
approach to a single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’, 
including whether the voluntary and community sector could coordinate 
assessment across the agencies involved, as well as the cost implications of this 
change. 

1.44 In order to reduce the number of assessments a family has to undergo, we will use 
learning from these assessment and plan pathfinders in local areas to explore 
whether the single assessment process might also be used to support claims for 
the Disability Living Allowance and Personal Independence Payment. 

1.45 We will test this new approach to assessment, giving careful consideration to the 
cost and impact. We will test this alongside additional pilots, detailed in chapter 
two, which will further test approaches to personal budgets. We will ask local 
authorities to apply with their local partners to be assessment and plan 
pathfinders in collaborative groups. 

Question 4: What processes or assessments should be incorporated within 
the proposed single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care 
Plan’? 

Question 5: What is the potential impact of expanding the scope of the 
proposed single assessment process and plan beyond education, 
health, social care and employment? 

1.46 We intend to explore two different approaches through the pathfinders, working 
with local authorities and their local partners. We will test how to improve a 
multi-agency approach to assessment and planning. Currently, local authorities 
often take decisions based on correspondence with other agencies, and we would 
like to see a less bureaucratic and less adversarial approach where agencies come 
together to agree their support with parents, and the responsibilities of different 
agencies are clear. 

1.47 Secondly, we will explore how we could use the voluntary and community sector 
to introduce more independence to the process. The local authority has a duty to 
arrange the special educational provision for a child with a statement. Some 
parents tell us that local authorities holding this responsibility alongside their 
duties in relation to assessment can appear to present a conflict of interests and 
lead to a lack of confidence in the process and in the decisions reached about the 
support for their child. 

Page 108



38 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

1.48 As well as ensuring that children have their support needs met, local authorities 
will always be responsible for using public funds efficiently, including their 
management of funding for special educational provision. We know that many 
families value support from charities and local support groups,59 and in order to 
address the issues outlined above we want to explore with the voluntary and 
community sector, what roles they could play. These might include: providing 
information on the assessment process so that families know what to expect, 
acting as an advocate for families, supporting families through the process and 
putting together, with the family, a support package that reflects their 
circumstances and ambitions. 

Question 6: What role should the voluntary and community sector play in the 
statutory assessment of children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled? How could this help to give parents greater confidence in the 
statutory assessment process? 

1.49 In both approaches we could include testing greater parental control through 
the use of personal budgets and a more coordinated approach to mediation for 
parents across education, health and social care when families are not content. 

1.50 The assessment and plan pathfinders will test with colleges and other partners 
how to better manage assessment and planning when young people are nearing 
adulthood and how to improve progression and employment outcomes, as well 
as how to take a more holistic approach for looked after children, making better 
links between the process for reviewing their needs as part of care planning and 
processes for SEN and disability. 

1.51 The pathfinders will also explore how to make sure that responsibility for the 
provision of services in the new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ is clear and that 
the services set out in it are provided in a timely way. 

1.52 The Department for Education and the Department of Health will work together 
with other departments and with local areas to develop the scope of the 
pathfinders so that they can test how the ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ can set 
out clearly the full combination of entitlements for families in relation to local 
authority and NHS services. The pathfinders will also explore how to make 
improvements so that services are put in place in line with the commitments set 
out in the plan. 

1.53 Social care provision can be particularly important for disabled children and their 
families. As part of the Munro Review of Child Protection we are trialling a more 
flexible assessment processes in four local authority areas which will mean that 
single flexible assessments can be carried out rather than a two stage initial and 
core assessment, and that the assessment is conducted at a depth and timescale 
determined by a qualified and experienced social worker. We will review the 
outcome of the trials to see if there are lessons to be learned for the development 
of the Education, Health and Care Plan. 

1.54 We know that, where disabled children receive social care support, they may 
experience a gap in provision when moving to a new area while the new local 

59 Slade et al (2009) 

Page 109



Early identification and assessment 39 

authority reassesses the child’s social care needs and arranges support. As well as 
the difficulties this can cause families, it also leads to a duplication of assessments. 
We believe that the single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care 
Plan’ will help address this difficulty. We would expect that local authorities will 
do their best to replicate the social care support set out in the plan, depending on 
the provision that is available in the area, until they decide to reassess the child’s 
social care needs. The reassessment would be informed by the plan so that 
parents do not have to repeat themselves and the local authority is clear about 
previous arrangements. We will use the pathfinders to test out whether this leads 
to more continuous social care support when families move between local 
authority areas. 

Question 7: How could the proposed single assessment process and 
‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ improve continuity of social care support 
for disabled children? 

1.55 It is often not clear for parents what eligibility their children have for social care 
support. Guidance is available, in particular in the advice which will accompany 
the new short breaks duty, but it is not brought together in one place or easily 
accessible. We intend make clear in a revised SEN Code of Practice what 
obligations there are on local authorities in relation to social care provision for 
families with disabled children. 

1.56 The assessment and plan pathfinders will build on work already done to improve 
transition outcomes, including in the Getting A Life sites and Transition Support 
Programme explained in chapter four. To support the pathfinders we will fund 
the voluntary and community sector to share good practice from the Getting 
A Life demonstration sites, the Individual Budget pilots and the Transition 
Support Programme, providing the pathfinders with professional advice and 
support. We will encourage the pathfinders to link to local work to develop the 
new Health and Wellbeing Boards. 

1.57 We will look carefully at the findings of the pathfinders with local partners, and 
take all necessary action to facilitate the improvements to the system which are 
required to bring about the change needed for children and families. 

A more efficient statutory assessment process 
1.58 It will take time to implement a new approach to statutory assessment so, in the 

meantime, we intend to make the current statutory assessment process faster. 
Efficient assessment processes can ensure that children and young people with 
SEN get the support that they need as soon as possible. Ofsted found that: ‘Good 
assessment and quick access to appropriate and high quality services were being 
achieved in the best areas visited by the review, and this reduced the likelihood of poor 
achievement’ by children and young people.60 

60 Ofsted (2010) 

Page 110



40 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

1.59 We know that there can be a delay in receiving the medical advice for statutory 
assessments from busy health professionals (normally paediatricians). Health 
advice is requested for every statutory assessment, but detailed advice is not 
always necessary as some children with statements of SEN do not require different 
or additional input from health services. Working with health professionals, the 
Department of Health will explore how to improve the provision and timeliness 
of health advice for the statutory assessment. 

Question 8: How could the arrangements for provision of health advice for 
existing statutory SEN assessments be improved? 

1.60 We propose to reduce the time limit for the statutory assessment process from 
26 weeks to 20 weeks by reducing the maximum time local authorities have to 
decide whether to assess, to conduct the assessment, and to finalise the 
statement. However, this is the maximum time and we want to see the statutory 
assessment process happening faster than this wherever possible. 

1.61 Our proposal involves reducing the time local authorities have to decide whether 
to assess a child from six to three weeks. The current six weeks includes 29 days 
when parents can make representations to the authority. Most parents are aware 
that the local authority is making an assessment, and this time is normally 
unnecessary. We believe that three weeks would allow sufficient time for parents 
to make representations if needed while allowing local authorities to move ahead 
with the statutory assessment process more quickly. 

1.62 Our proposal for reducing the maximum time for the statutory assessment 
process also involves reducing from twelve to nine weeks the time local 
authorities have to assess children and young people and draft the statement. 
The current twelve weeks consists of six weeks for the local authority to gather 
advice, four weeks to decide whether to draw up a statement and two weeks to 
draft the statement. We believe that the local authority can consider the advice it 
has received and work towards the content of a draft statement in parallel, and we 
believe that the four weeks to decide whether to draw up a statement plus the 
two weeks to draft it can be reduced to three weeks overall. 

1.63 We do not believe that our proposal to reduce the time limit for the current 
statutory assessment process will incur additional costs as it involves cutting out 
unnecessary time at the beginning of the process when local authorities are 
waiting to see whether parents will submit evidence and time towards the end of 
the process where local authorities can combine activities, with a possible saving 
in staff time. 

Question 9: How can we make the current SEN statutory assessment process 
faster and less burdensome for parents? 

1.64 Assessments, statements and annual reviews can place bureaucratic burdens on 
schools. For example, following an annual review meeting schools have to send a 
report of the meeting to the local authority and some schools feel that they need 
to provide an extensive report. We will develop a simple, short non-statutory 
pro-forma which schools and local authorities can use if they wish to for the 
annual review meeting reports. 

Page 111



Giving parents control 41

2  Giving parents 
control

Chapter summary
2.1 Early intervention from all the services on which families rely is essential, but the 

effectiveness of this support is undermined if it doesn’t reflect each family’s 
unique circumstances. Parents know their child best. As well as giving their own 
love and care, parents rely on health services, early years settings, schools and 
other people to help look after their child and help him or her have a happy 
childhood and fulfil his or her potential. Disabled children and children with SEN 
may require a different approach in these health and education settings to their 
peers, or extra support from social care or specialist services. It is crucial to 
families that these services work well together and that parents are empowered 
to make decisions about their child. Unfortunately, this is not what many 
families experience.

2.2 Children, young people and their parents have a variety of different 
circumstances, but many families share a concern that the system can feel 
impenetrable, bureaucratic and inefficient, and does not sufficiently reflect their 
family life. Parents may feel that their choices are limited and their options don’t 
always meet the basic needs of their child. This is particularly the case where a 
child relies on specialist services or equipment – such as incontinence pads, 
computer software and wheelchairs – to support their physical and 
communication needs to help improve the quality of their life. These problems 
may also be compounded by disadvantage, and some parents might have poor 
health, live in poverty, or have difficult family circumstances on top of juggling a 
range of support for their child.

2.3 Our aim is to give parents more control over support for their child and family. 
This will mean ending the frustration, complexity and confrontation inherent in 
today’s system, which in itself can undermine family life. The proposals in this 
chapter are intended to extend parents’ influence, build their confidence in the 
system and minimise its adversarial nature, and would mean that:

local authorities and other local services communicate a clear local offer for 
families to clarify what support is available and from whom;

parents have the option of personalised funding by 2014 to give them 
greater control over their child’s support, with trained key workers helping 
them to navigate different services; 

parents have access to transparent information about the funding which 
supports their child’s needs;

Page 112



42 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability

parents of disabled children continue to have access to a short break from 
caring while their child enjoys activities with their peers;

parents have a clear choice of school; and

if local authorities and parents disagree, they always try mediation first, to 
resolve problems in a less adversarial way than having to take their case to 
the Tribunal.

2.4 As first steps towards this aim:

local authorities and health services will explore how to extend the scope of 
personalised funding; and

we will give parents the right to express a preference for any state-funded 
school, including Academies and Free Schools.

2.5 This chapter sets out our proposals to give parents better support and more 
control. Parents should feel well supported through the system with clear 
information on how it works and who does what, and what the funding is. Parents 
know their children best and should receive support that works flexibly with their 
family circumstances. They should have more influence over support for their 
child through personalised funding, be able to participate in local decisions, have 
a clear choice of school and access to short breaks from caring. When parents and 
professionals disagree on the right approach for a child, they should use 
mediation to resolve disagreements over their support. 

Supporting families through the system
2.6 When children are identified as being disabled, often during pregnancy or shortly 

after birth, parents can feel overwhelmed. They may be coming to terms with a 
future very different from the one they had imagined, and can encounter an 
unfamiliar and seemingly complicated system. Bringing up a disabled child can 
be made difficult where families experience multiple problems, including poverty, 
mental health problems or poor housing, or parents may be disabled or have 
learning difficulties themselves.61

2.7 We want parents to feel well supported from the start. Approaches such as Early 
Support can help to improve the quality and coordination of services for young 
disabled children and their families. Early Support is particularly valuable where 
families are in contact with lots of different professionals.

2.8 Early Support involves professionals working in partnership with families so 
that parents are at the heart of any discussions or decisions about their child. 
It provides clear ‘parent-friendly’ information such as the Family File, which 
contains core information about the child, and a parent-held Family Service Plan, 
which sets out what support the child needs and who will provide it. And Early 
Support Developmental Journals enable parents to track and celebrate their 
child’s progress. It also involves trained key workers to provide a single point of 

61 Pinney (2007) 

Page 113



Giving parents control 43 

contact for families requiring support from a wide range of services. The Early 
Support training, for professionals from different services and parents, helps to 
underpin integrated working practice and partnership working between parents 
and professionals. 

2.9 Early Support is highly regarded by parents and professionals alike and has been 
proven to make a significant difference to families. The programme was 
independently evaluated by Manchester University and was found to have 
positive effects on the quality of service provision, the wellbeing of families and 
the appropriate support and development of disabled children.62 By 2009 over 
10,000 families had used this service in the early years. 

‘It’s [Early Support is] a brilliant and well coordinated service on which you can 
rely. It made a massive difference in helping us to get the relevant therapists 
involved with our child. It relieved any potential stress with having to find 
information and coordinating services ourselves, which has happened in the 
past. In the beginning, when I needed most help, my key worker was there at a
drop of a call – she checked regularly how things were going and helped with 
paperwork. When I started to need less help, my key worker understood 
intuitively and drew back. She supported and encouraged me and we joined 
some new groups – we have not looked back since.’ 

Parent 

2.10 Early Support has been used by many local authorities for families with disabled 
babies or children under 5, but the approach of clear information and resources 
with parents holding the plan for their child’s support is relevant to older children 
too. The existing Early Support resources have been developed in partnership 
with parents and voluntary and community sector organisations, using their 
expertise to develop resources that give families confidence. The Department for 
Education will fund voluntary and community sector organisations to maintain 
the existing Early Support resources, including the training materials, and 
amend them in partnership with parents to extend their use to families with 
school-aged children. 

2.11 Parents with disabled children are likely to face higher levels of stress,63 and they 
value the practical and emotional support of a key worker.64 Key workers can help 
to reduce this stress, help parents to navigate the system and help them agree the 
right support for their child. Most local authorities are already using key working 
to some extent. Although some local authorities use dedicated key workers, most 
train professionals who are already in contact with the family, such as a health 
visitor or social worker, to act as a key worker. 

2.12 In order to extend the use of key workers for families with disabled children, we 
need more people to be trained as key workers from a wider field of professionals 
with relevant knowledge about working with families and about disabled children 
and children with SEN. The Department for Education will fund the voluntary 

62 University of Manchester (2006) 
63 Pinney (2007)  
64 University of Manchester (2006) 

Page 114



44 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

and community sector to provide free training on key working for a range of 
professionals. The Department will test the role of key workers in the single 
assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ in the pathfinder areas 
as well as their role in supporting parents with increased control over funding for 
their child’s support. 

2.13 Many families with disabled children are frequently faced with unexpected events 
such as extra trips to the hospital, the need for a new washing machine or 
replacement bedding. The cost of responding to such events can be difficult for 
low income families to meet. The statutory sector cannot always provide financial 
support to meet these unpredictable needs, so for this reason we have announced 
our intention to continue to fund a direct grant payment programme, currently 
administered on our behalf by the Family Fund Trust. Over the next four years we 
will provide at least £27 million per year to help low income families with severely 
disabled children meet the additional costs of caring. 

Clear information for parents 
2.14 For parents to be empowered to take greater control over their support, they 

need to be clear about their options and understand how decisions are made that 
affect their child’s support. We know from the Lamb Inquiry that providing this 
transparency reduces conflict and builds trust. Here we set out our approach to 
achieving this clarity by encouraging schools and local authorities to set out what 
provision is normally available and by streamlining the information that schools 
have to provide to parents. 

2.15 There is already good practice in some areas. Many parents benefit from advice 
and information from their local Parent Partnership Services which exist to 
provide impartial information and advice to parents about their child’s SEN. The 
National Parent Partnership Network provides training and guidance for Parent 
Partnership Services on SEN duties and on best practice. The most effective 
Partnerships provide an independent supporter for parents who want one and 
support to challenge local SEN policy and practice. 

2.16 There is some excellent practice in schools, such as the approach used by 
Achievement for All schools which we set out in more detail in chapter three. 65 

Through this project, teachers have been trained to have termly in-depth 
discussions with parents that focus on how to improve their child’s learning at 
school and how parents can support this at home. Parents value this dialogue 
with their school and appreciate being involved as their child’s needs are assessed 
and provided for. For looked after children with SEN, it is particularly important 
that foster carers receive the same information from schools or local authorities 
that birth parents do. 

65 Humphrey and Squires (2010) 

Page 115



Giving parents control 45 

Case study: Chosen Hill School, Gloucestershire 
At Chosen Hill School, Gloucestershire, in-school trained tutors (key teachers) 
were crucial to the success of structured conversations with parents of 
students with SEN or who are disabled. Following an information evening, 
appointments were made by telephone and key teachers met parents after 
school in most instances. Any issues parents raised were met with a positive 
solution either on the first call or in subsequent follow-up calls. Feedback from 
parents was very good, and the structured conversations have helped 
students develop self-esteem because parents, students and teachers are all 
involved in the process of learning on a regular basis. 

2.17 However, parents tell us that, when they believe their child needs a different 
approach, it often is not clear what help their child is entitled to or who provides 
it.66 They may not know who to ask if their child is not receiving the right support. 

‘It needs to be clear who should be contacted in any case. For instance, my son 
needed to see a psychiatrist. I had a leaflet that said he needed to be referred 
by his teacher, who told me to see our GP, who referred us to a doctor, who 
referred us to another doctor. This took several months and involved more 
people than necessary, simply because we did not know where to go in the 
first place.’ 

Parent/carer 

2.18 Local authorities are already required by The Special Educational Needs (Provision 
of Information by Local Authorities) (England) Regulations 2001 to publish the 
provision they expect schools to make for children with SEN but without 
statements and the provision made available for those children by the local 
authority. Ofsted tells us that this information is rarely provided clearly or 
effectively. Clearer local information on what is available for families and from 
whom could help reduce the need for parents to invest their time and energy in 
an appeal to the Tribunal in order to get the right support, as well as saving local 
authorities and local services the expense of this process. 

2.19 We propose to ensure that local authorities set out a local offer of the support 
that is available for children with SEN or who are disabled and their families, 
and from whom. In order to achieve this we intend to change the existing 
regulations covering what the local authority is required to publish and describing 
how authorities work with parents, local schools and colleges, and other local 
services including those on the Health and Wellbeing Board, to develop the offer. 
The Department for Education will work with the Tribunal to explore how it might 
take account of this local offer when dealing with registered appeals, in order to 
make it an offer on which parents can rely. 

66 Lamb (2009), Campbell et al (2009) and Slade et al (2009) 

Page 116



46 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

2.20 In relation to school provision, we propose that this local offer would describe 
what additional or different provision schools make for children with SEN and that 
it covers four key areas: 

curriculum – how the curriculum offers breadth and balance and is tailored to 
meet children’s individual needs; 

teaching – how teaching is adapted to meet children’s SEN and how 
arrangements are made to secure specialist expertise; 

assessment – how ongoing teacher assessment is used to identify barriers to 
learning for children with SEN; and 

pastoral support – how parents are involved in children’s learning and how the 
school supports the education and wellbeing of disabled children and children 
with SEN. 

Question 10: What should be the key components of a locally published offer 
of available support for parents? 

2.21 At the moment, schools have 17 different requirements to publish information on 
SEN, and we intend to implement the recommendations from the Lamb Inquiry to 
improve the information that they provide. Many schools do not meet all of these 
requirements, and these different sets of information are not always clear for 
parents. We propose to slim down requirements on schools to publish 
information so that parents are clear about schools’ approaches to SEN. 

2.22 To explore how to do this, the Council for Disabled Children has spoken to 
parents, schools, local authorities and parent groups about the information 
schools provide to parents. The Council suggests that it would be helpful to focus 
on core information that parents find essential: 

the school’s statutory responsibilities; 

the school’s approach to SEN; 

how this approach was consulted on; and 

the provision normally available in the school for children with SEN. 

We therefore propose to simplify the mandatory content of schools’ SEN policies 
as well as requiring pupil referral units to publish an SEN policy. 

Question 11: What information should schools be required to provide to 
parents on SEN? 

2.23 Longer term outcomes for children with SEN and disabilities are too often 
affected from an early age by low expectations about what they can achieve. 
The Aspirations for Life project has sought to tackle this, working closely with 
professionals and parents. We will be publishing a toolkit of free, practical 
resources from the project that have been well received, from posters and lesson 
plans to children’s games. 

Page 117



Giving parents control 47 

2.24 In further education, colleges provide information on the range of their provision 
for learners with learning difficulties and disabilities. For health services, reforms 
being introduced to the NHS will help to clarify what families can expect from 
health services, with an NHS Constitution setting this out,67 and GP consortia 
publishing their commissioning plans and presenting at a public meeting annual 
reports on how they have discharged their functions, in particular those relating 
to patient and public involvement. 

2.25 Other elements of a more transparent approach for families set out in this Green 
Paper include: greater transparency of the current funding system set out in 
chapter five; and more accessible data on school performance, building on the 
measures set out in the Schools White Paper, The Importance of Teaching, outlined 
in chapter three. 

Giving parents more control over support and funding 
for their child 
2.26 Giving individuals personal budgets so that they can manage the services they 

receive is an approach we are already using across government in relation to a 
range of services. Through our proposed reforms, we will give parents greater 
choice and control over the support that their families receive. 

2.27 Personal budgets for families with disabled children and children with SEN will 
enable parents to have a much greater say in the way their child is supported and 
give them a clear role in designing a personalised package of support for their 
child and family. 

2.28 Evidence from the UK and internationally shows that where personal budgets 
work well they give families more flexibility and they feel empowered.68 Giving 
families greater control may lead to innovative approaches to service provision, 
enable resources to be used more effectively, and improve families’ relations with 
statutory services by ensuring that they are listened to. 

2.29 In relation to families with disabled children and children with SEN, the 
Government is already testing approaches to personal budgets, through the 
personal health budgets pilots and the children’s individual budget pilots. 

2.30 The children’s individual budget pilots have given parents control over funding 
for elements of their child’s support. This involves a combination of notional 
budgets, where parents can say how the funding for their child is spent (but do 
not receive this in a cash payment),69 and direct payments, where they receive the 
cash for the services they need and can then purchase the support they need 
directly. The pilots have focused on achieving greater control for parents over 
social care services, such as short breaks, and some health and education support 
services, as well as transport. 

67 DH (2010) 
68 Greig et al (2010), Glendinning et al (2008), Prabhakar et al (2008) and SCIE (2009) 
69 Prabhakar et al (2010) 

Page 118



48 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

‘Several families have changed their support provider when they have been in 
control of funds. Because the family see the performance and quality of the 
support provided each week they can make decisions on the ground to 
promote change. Families are aware of a range of community options because 
they have direct funding to purchase these opportunities.’ 

Local authority 

2.31 We want to build on the positive experiences of these pilots and extend the scope 
of what can be included in personal budgets in a way that is beneficial to families. 
In order to test what services should be included in personal budgets, we will ask 
those local authorities already working with children’s individual budget pilots, 
and a further wider group of local authorities, to work with schools, colleges, 
early years settings and health providers to test what other services could be 
included in a personal budget. In particular, we want the pilot areas to test 
whether any school-based services could be included, and to provide more 
evidence about the cost and impact of providing support in this way. The 
evaluation of the personal health budget pilots will report in October 2012. 

2.32 The current restrictions on direct payments are tighter than for notional budgets, 
but in recent years more parents have begun using direct payments, albeit from a
small base.70 We know that, where it is an option, parents often appreciate being 
able to control their funding for short breaks and that they are using direct 
payments to obtain provision that suits them better.71 

2.33 From 2011, we will test how the scope of direct payments might be increased to 
include funding streams from education and health. This could include, for 
example, home-based education and advice for families with young children, 
and equipment such as wheelchairs and laptops. 

2.34 In the NHS, the pilots are testing out personal budgets across a wide range of 
conditions and services, including services for young people in transition to adult 
health services. They include the options of notional budgets, budgets held by a
third party, and cash direct payments to individuals. 

2.35 We will use pilots to test the use of personal budgets across the whole range of 
support that disabled children and children with SEN receive. We know that 
individual budget pilots, and pilots to use personal health budgets and direct 
payments, may mean that we identify some areas which would be better 
commissioned collectively rather than at individual level. For example, if we were 
to provide parents with the funding for their whole school place this would 
remove the protection afforded by the statutory statement of SEN (which we are 
proposing will be replaced by a new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’) which 
obliges schools to provide a school place when the school is named in the 
statement. There may also be areas of health support and funding where testing 
shows that individual-level commissioning is unlikely to work. 

70 NHS Information Centre for health and social care (2008) 
71 Welch et al (2010) 

Page 119



Giving parents control 49 

Question 12: What do you think an optional personal budget for families 
should cover? 

2.36 In future we want to give more families the opportunity to take up this offer to 
control the funding and to design their own tailored package of support once 
their children’s needs have been assessed as part of the new statutory ‘Education, 
Health and Care Plan’. By 2014, our intention is that all families with the 
proposed ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ will be entitled to a personal 
budget. Subject to piloting, this would include funding for education and 
health support as well as social care. 

2.37 To support this entitlement, we will put in place the legal powers to allow parents 
of disabled children and those with SEN who have a new single plan to request 
that they should have control of the funding for the support identified in the plan. 
This would be backed by a parallel duty to offer families with a single plan a 
personal budget, which would, subject to piloting, apply to local authorities and 
NHS commissioners. The form and scope of this duty will be confirmed in the light 
of the evaluation of the personal health budget pilots, due for publication in 
October 2012, and in the light of learning from the extended children's individual 
budget pilots. A personal budget will be a choice for parents who want one. 

2.38 Offering a personal budget would provide families with transparent information 
about the funding committed across different public services to support their 
child according to the support needs identified in the ‘Education, Health and 
Care Plan’. 

2.39 Some parents can feel that managing a personal budget is a burden,72 but this can 
be mitigated to some extent with good support. We will continue to work with 
local authorities and health providers to understand the best ways to offer 
support to parents. 

2.40 We know how important support will be. So we will continue to test the best 
ways to provide support to families who would like to access their child’s support 
through a personal budget. We will fund training for key workers, as mentioned 
earlier in this chapter, and we will encourage LAs to make use of new voluntary 
and community sector providers in order to increase the range of support 
available to families with a statement of SEN or ‘Education, Health and 
Care Plan’. 

2.41 We have consulted on the introduction of patient choice of any willing provider 
that meets NHS standards and price for most NHS-funded services by 2013-14. 
This is likely to apply to many community health services. It will give families 
choice, where appropriate, from a range of providers who are qualified to provide 
safe, high quality care and treatment, and select the one that best meets their 
needs. It will mean that good providers that offer innovative and responsive 
services are able to grow. 

72 Prabhakar et al (2008) 

Page 120



50 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

2.42 The Department of Health will explore with GP consortia pathfinders and their 
local partners how this approach could improve provision of, for example, 
wheelchairs and speech and language therapy services. The Department of Health 
will also work with children, young people and parents to review the quality 
standards within the national contract for continence supplies. 

Question 13: In what ways do you think the option of a personal budget for 
services identified in the proposed ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ will 
support parents to get a package of support for their child that meets their 
needs? 

2.43 As well as taking up the option of greater control for their own family, parents can 
provide valuable advice on planning and developing local services that are both 
cost-effective and respond to the needs of local families. This kind of participation 
can also help them feel in control, and improve their own use and understanding 
of services.73 Parents have reported that such participation can provide an 
opportunity to develop new skills and experience, sometimes leading to 
confidence to re-enter the workplace. There are already many parents involved in 
local decisions about provision. Almost all local authorities report having parent 
representatives sitting on decision-making bodies, which helps to support the 
effective provision of disabled children’s services such as short breaks. The 
Department for Education will continue to fund parent forums in every local 
area to build on the good practice that has been developed. 

Case study: Wiltshire Parent Carer Council 
Wiltshire Parent Carer Council was established in 2008 by two local parents of 
disabled children, but the membership has since grown to over 300 parents. 
The parent forum has a positive working partnership with the local authority 
and other partners. Parent participation has led to a positive culture change in 
how parents and statutory services work together. The parent forum has been 
instrumental in developing and reviewing a range of services including: 

identifying simple, transparent eligibility criteria for accessing a short break 
through the Wiltshire Local Offer. This greater transparency and 
accessibility to short break services has been welcomed by parents who 
feel better able to cope with their caring responsibilities as a result. The 
local offer has also meant that the Council has been able to cut down on 
assessments; 

working effectively with the local authority to improve short breaks, 
including sports activities, music clubs, animation clubs and peer 
mentoring; and 

collaborating with the local authority in the development of arrangements 
for multi-agency support for young people moving into adulthood and a
handbook on transition for parents of these young people. 

73 HMT and DfES (2007) 

Page 121



Giving parents control 51 

A clear choice of school  
2.44 One of the single most significant decisions for parents is where they want their 

child to go to school. For parents of children with SEN in particular, ensuring that 
their child is placed in the right school is vital if parents are to be assured and 
confident that their child will receive the education they need in order to be able 
to fulfil their potential. Parents of children with a statement of SEN have different 
views on the type of school that is right for their child’s education; for some, a 
special school will be the right school for their child whereas for others it will be a 
place in a mainstream school, or in a special unit attached to a mainstream 
school.74 

2.45 Some parents report that they have little choice in reality because they are not 
clear about their options, because their local mainstream schools are not able to 
offer appropriate provision for their child, or because there is a shortage of special 
school places locally.75 

2.46 There should be real choice for parents and that is why we are committed to 
removing any bias towards inclusion that obstructs parent choice and preventing 
the unnecessary closure of special schools. We believe that real choice for parents 
requires a diverse and dynamic school system that offers a wide range of high 
quality provision and that has the autonomy and flexibility to respond effectively 
to parental choice; parents to be able to express a preference for a placement in 
any state-funded school; and good quality information that enables parents to 
make informed choices. 

2.47 The Importance of Teaching set out our plans for a new school system. We are 
committed to enabling all schools to acquire greater autonomy and 
independence. The Department for Education has expanded the Academy 
programme and, starting with those judged by Ofsted to be outstanding, all 
maintained special schools will in due course have the opportunity to become 
Academies. The Department has also set out how it will be easier for teachers, 
charities, parent groups and others to open new Free Schools, including special 
Free Schools, in response to parental demand. 

2.48 By injecting greater autonomy into the school system, we aim to create a system 
that is able to offer a range of high quality specialist provision for children with 
SEN; to innovate and pioneer new education pathways and curricula; and to offer 
parents a genuine choice of school for their child and to respond effectively to 
parents’ choices. 

2.49 Parents tell us that they want their children to get the package of support they 
need in local schools, in some cases this will include speech and language and 
other therapies. If this is not possible, parents may seek a place in a school able to 
provide this, often further away from home. We set out in chapters three and five 
how services can work together so that a broader range of support, including 
speech and language therapy, can be offered close to home. 

74 Batten et al (2006) 
75 HCESC (2006) 

Page 122



52 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

2.50 Over 15,000 children are taught in specially resourced provision in mainstream 
schools or in special units attached to mainstream schools. Where local authorities 
help to facilitate access to specialist expertise in local schools, this can help to 
meet the needs of children and families as well as make more cost-effective use of 
resources, often saving on expensive individual placements in independent 
provision where therapy support is provided by the school in-house. Many 
children attend a special school on a day or part-time basis to access therapy 
support while on the roll of another school, helping to increase flexibility of 
provision and meet children’s needs. 

2.51 If the local authority believes it is necessary to close a school, including a special 
school, it must consult parents. Under our reforms, groups of parents and others 
will have the option of applying to establish a Free School in these circumstances, 
using the same process as for all Free Schools. In chapter five, we consider further 
the important role that local authorities can play in an increasingly autonomous 
school system, acting as the champion for parents and families, vulnerable 
children and educational excellence. 

2.52 We want parents to have a real choice of school in law and in practice. We have 
ensured through the Academies Act 2010 that mainstream Academies and Free 
Schools have the same obligations as maintained mainstream schools to accept 
children with a statement of SEN which names the school. And we intend to 
introduce legislation to ensure that parents of children with a statement of 
SEN or ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ have equivalent rights to express a 
preference for any state-funded school – whether that is a special school, 
mainstream school, Academy or Free School. Children are all different and their 
parents have different views about the school they feel is right for them. Some 
want their child to attend a mainstream school but may feel frustrated that the 
school they seek is not able to take the reasonable steps to include their child. 
Others may want their child to attend a special school but feel frustrated by not 
being given that choice by their local authority. The statutory guidance Inclusive 
Schooling covers these and other issues and makes clear that a local authority 
must consider the parents’ preference and cannot simply place the child in a 
school irrespective of the parents’ wishes. 

Question 14: Do you feel that the statutory guidance on inclusion and school 
choice, Inclusive Schooling, allows appropriately for parental preferences for 
either a mainstream or special school? 

2.53 Parents often receive poor information on school choice. Currently local 
authorities have to provide parents with information about local maintained 
schools and a national list of non-maintained special schools and independent 
schools that cater for children with SEN. But parents need more than this basic 
information to make a good choice. Parents tell us they would like information 
about what support is available in mainstream schools – such as special units and 
resourced provision – and maintained special schools as well as non-maintained 
special schools and independent schools that cater for pupils with SEN.76 As the 

76 Out of 1,459 responses to the Call for Views question ‘How can we improve the choices of schools and services 
available to parents and improve opportunities for them to be involved in decisions that affect their family?’, 662 
responses called for more parental involvement in choosing schools and 532 responses called for clearer 
information for parents on school choices. 

Page 123



Giving parents control 53 

commissioners of provision, this information will be readily available to local 
authorities, and we propose to require local authorities to publish clear 
information about what is available in local schools as part of the local offer. 

Question 15: How can we improve information about school choice for parents 
of children with a statement of SEN, or new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’? 

2.54 Many parents, and particularly the parents of children with SEN, turn to home 
education because they feel that the school system has failed to meet their child’s 
needs. Where home educated children have a statement, local authorities have a 
duty to ensure that the child’s SEN are being met and the local authorities have to 
review the children’s statements annually. In some cases, parents on their own 
may not be able to make suitable provision for their children but could do so with 
some support from the local authority. We expect that when local authorities are 
considering whether parents are making suitable provision that they also consider 
whether to use their power under the Education Act 1996 to make special 
educational provision out of school to help the parents make their provision 
suitable for their child’s SEN. We also expect local authorities to consider whether 
home educated children who had been in receipt of support at School Action Plus 
at school should continue to receive that support through local authorities using 
their power under the 1996 Act to make provision out of school. 

Short breaks for carers and children 
2.55 As well as education and health services, many families rely on the support of 

social care. We know that parents and disabled children value having short 
breaks.77 For parents this means that they can do other things, like care for other 
siblings, take some time for themselves, or just catch up with household chores. 
For children, short breaks provide an opportunity to try out different activities, to 
make new friends, or just to do things other children take for granted, like going 
shopping or for a swim.78 Local authorities can use short breaks cost-effectively to 
improve a range of outcomes for children and families. We know that, for example, 
some local authorities that have provided short breaks as early intervention, and 
not just in times of crisis for families, have seen a reduction in the numbers of 
disabled children being taken into care. The Department for Education will 
continue to invest in short breaks, providing over £800 million over the period 
2011-12 to 2014-15 as part of the Early Intervention Grant for local authorities. 

2.56 The kind of short breaks being offered is changing because local authorities are, 
rightly, working with parents to design provision in their area to meet local 
needs.79 In some local authorities that has meant that they have developed a local 
offer to allow parents to access breaks more easily, and with very little additional 
assessment. This has enabled local authorities to offer more breaks more quickly. 
Local authorities will need to continue to develop an approach to services which 
means that families know what is on offer and how to access it. That is why the 
new regulations include a statement of short breaks services which local 
authorities will produce to set out for families the short breaks services in 
each area. 

77 HMT and DfES (2007) 
78 Langer et al (2010) and Welch et al (2010)  
79 Greig et al (2010) 

Page 124



54 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

2.57 The new regulations on breaks for carers of disabled children this year signal 
clearly that short breaks should be part of the normal offer from local authorities 
to the community, and this will be an important part of the local offer proposed 
earlier. Local authorities have all developed short breaks services over the last 
three years and can offer a range of breaks and provide parents with a choice.80 

Parents need to be confident that their child will be well cared for, and that the 
short break will fit with the child’s interests and needs and their family life. Some 
families use a direct payment to employ their own short breaks carer. 

2.58 Parents have a key role to play, in partnership with local authorities, in the 
development of appropriate short breaks services that meet the needs and 
aspirations of their local community. The new regulations support parents’ 
engagement in, and knowledge of, local services because they require local 
authorities to publish a short breaks service statement detailing for parents the 
range of services on offer in each area and the eligibility criteria that apply to 
them. The new short breaks service statement will encourage a greater degree 
of transparency about short breaks services. 

Mediation to resolve disagreements 
2.59 Despite the best efforts of parents and professionals to agree on the special 

educational provision for children, sometimes they do not agree. We believe that 
it is important to have an independent forum where such disagreements can be 
resolved and that parents have the right to appeal; we have no plans to remove 
parents’ right to appeal to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) if they 
disagree with decisions made by local authorities. However, while it is important 
for this right to continue, we know that parents can find the appeal process 
stressful.81 

2.60 It can be better for parents and a better use of public funds if disputes about 
assessments and statements are resolved earlier and through non-judicial 
means.82 The Tribunal is already taking steps to encourage the resolution of cases 
well before the appeal hearing where appropriate. 

2.61 We want to boost the role of mediation facilitated by an independent party in the 
appeal process. Where mediation has been used by West Midlands authorities, 
four out of five cases reached a settlement between parents and the local 
authority without going to the Tribunal. There are currently dispute resolution 
services but, despite the potential benefits of mediation, they are under-used 
and under-promoted, with an average of little more than one mediation per 
authority per year and more than half of authorities reporting no mediations 
during one year.83 

80 Langer et al (2010) and Robertson et al (2010)  
81 Runswick-Cole (2007) 
82 Tennant et al (2008)  
83 Harris et al (2009) 

Page 125



Giving parents control 55 

2.62 We propose that parents and local authorities should always try mediation 
before a parent can register an appeal with the Tribunal, but we do not want 
this to affect the time that parents have to appeal or to change parents’ right 
to appeal. 

2.63 Parents are able to use the local authority and NHS complaints processes, both 
informal and formal, if they are unhappy with the services they are getting. 
We want to use the assessment and plan pathfinders described in chapter one to 
test a more coordinated approach to mediation for parents across education, 
health and social care when parents aren’t content. 

Question 16: Should mediation always be attempted before parents register 
an appeal to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability)? 

Question 17: Do you like the idea of mediation across education, health and 
social care? How might it work best? 

2.64 Although the Tribunal must take into account the efficient use of resources when 
considering decisions on school placements, some decisions by the Tribunal can 
have significant financial implications for the local authority. For example, when 
the Tribunal rules that a child needs an expensive school place, this can represent 
a new large share of the local authority budget. Given the potential impact on the 
local authority budget, we would like to ensure that the Tribunal continues to give 
both priority to ensuring that children’s SEN are met and full weight to the 
efficient use of resources when considering the best way to meet their needs. 

2.65 The Ministry of Justice has been consulting on changes to the provision of legal 
aid. The proposals, as consulted on, would mean that legal help and advice would 
no longer be available to parents to help them prepare appeals to the First-tier 
Tribunal (SEN and Disability) in SEN cases. However, legal aid would continue to 
be available where it is now for parents to make disability discrimination claims on 
behalf of their children, that is, legal help and advice for First-tier cases and legal 
representation for cases that go before the Upper Tribunal. The Ministry of Justice 
is currently considering the responses to the consultation and will be publishing a 
response to the consultation in the late spring. The consultation also proposed 
that a new exceptional funding scheme should be introduced to provide legal aid 
for cases outside the scope of legal aid where the Government is satisfied that this 
is necessary for the United Kingdom to meet its domestic and international legal 
obligations. The Ministry of Justice and the Department for Education are working 
closely on this issue. 

2.66 The new Courts and Tribunals Service will begin on 1 April 2011, and some 
parents are concerned about what the integration of the Courts and Tribunals 
Services might mean for the formality of the venues in which SEN appeals and 
disability discrimination claims are heard. The new Service will preserve the 
unique and distinctive features of tribunals and will continue to aim to hold SEN 
and disability hearings in appropriate settings. 

Page 126



56 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

2.67 We believe it is important to open up the right to appeal for children, as 
recommended by the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, so 
that those, such as looked after children, whose opportunity to have their cases 
heard at the Tribunal is restricted by their circumstances are not disadvantaged. 
Government has previously consulted on giving secondary school-aged children 
the right to appeal SEN cases to the First-tier Tribunal and to make disability 
discrimination claims. The responses to the consultation were overwhelmingly in 
favour of giving children this right. 

2.68 The Department for Education, working with the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and 
Disability), will pilot giving children the right to appeal and make disability 
discrimination claims in two or three local authorities with a view to extending 
the right to all children across England. The pilot will test whether the right to 
appeal is something that children would use, the best way to handle these 
appeals, and the cost implications of this change. 

Page 127



Learning and achieving 57

3  Learning and 
achieving

Chapter summary
3.1 Parents’ confidence that their child’s needs are being met is vital to making the 

system feel less adversarial. A central piece of this jigsaw is the capacity and 
commitment of the education system to give every child and young person the 
chance to succeed. Every child, whether in a mainstream or special setting, 
deserves a world-class education to ensure that they fulfil their potential. 
Everyone who works with disabled children and children with SEN should have 
high expectations of them and the skills to help them to learn.

3.2 But the system doesn’t always work in the way it should for disabled children 
and young people and those with SEN. Too many face significant barriers to 
their progress and achieve less well than their peers at school and in further 
education. Disabled children and children with SEN are more likely to be bullied 
or excluded than their peers. They also tell us that they want to be educated by 
people who understand their impairments, without fear of being stigmatised by 
their peers and in an environment where poor behaviour is not tolerated.

3.3 To provide the best opportunities for all children and young people we must 
confront the weaknesses of our education system. Children’s needs should be 
picked up as early as possible, but teachers tell us that they have not always had 
training to identify children’s needs, or to provide the right help. Head teachers 
have been overwhelmed with top-down initiatives rather than having the 
freedom to drive improvements. 

3.4 Previous measures of school performance created perverse incentives to over-
identify children as having SEN. There is compelling evidence that these labels 
of SEN have perpetuated a culture of low expectations and have not led to the 
right support being put in place. 

3.5 In our Schools White Paper, The Importance of Teaching, we set out our vision to 
match the best education systems in the world. Building on that, our proposals 
in this Green Paper will mean that:

teachers and other staff in schools and colleges are well trained and 
confident to: identify and overcome a range of barriers to learning; manage 
challenging behaviour; address bullying; and intervene early when problems 
emerge;

schools will have additional flexibility to support the needs of all pupils, and 
will have additional funding to support disadvantaged pupils through the 
pupil premium;

Page 128



58 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability

teachers feel able to identify effectively what a child needs to help them to 
learn and to plan support to help every child progress well, reflecting the 
specific needs of children with SEN and those who may just be struggling 
with learning and need school-based catch-up support which is normally 
available; 

parents have the information they need about how the school is supporting 
their child; 

schools are more clearly accountable to parents, governors and Ofsted; and

special schools share their expertise and services to support the education, 
progress and development of pupils in other special and mainstream 
schools, leading to a greater choice of specialist provision.

3.6 To work towards this:

we intend to tackle the practice of over-identification by replacing the 
current SEN identification levels of School Action and School Action Plus 
with a new single school-based SEN category for children whose needs 
exceed what is normally available in schools; revising statutory guidance on 
SEN identification to make it clearer for professionals; and supporting the 
best schools to share their practices. This will help teachers to spot quickly 
and accurately any barriers to learning and provide the right support to help 
each child progress;

we will introduce an indicator in performance tables which will give parents 
clear information on the progress of the lowest attaining pupils;

starting with those judged by Ofsted to be outstanding, all maintained 
special schools will in due course have the opportunity to become 
Academies; and

parents and members of local communities will be able to establish new 
special Free Schools.

3.7 While parents are the single biggest influence on a child’s life and development, 
schools play a vital role in educating children and young people and preparing 
them for the future, including for training and employment and to play a 
constructive role in society. In this chapter we set out our approach to ensuring 
that teachers, lecturers, and school and college leaders have the right training and 
professional development to identify and meet the needs of disabled children and 
children with SEN. This chapter describes the importance of special schools in 
supporting quality in the special education sector and how we will ensure sharper 
accountability for all pupils’ progress at school to parents, local communities, 
governors and inspectors.

3.8 International evidence shows that the most important factor in effective school 
systems is the quality of teachers and teaching.84 For those children that face the 

84 Sanders and Rivers (1996)

Page 129



Learning and achieving 59 

greatest educational challenges, high quality teachers trained to support pupils 
with a wide range of SEN will be the most powerful way to drive up attainment. 
Here, we set out our approach to improving the initial training and ongoing 
development of teaching staff and school leaders in special and mainstream 
schools, sharing excellent teaching practice in supporting pupils who are disabled 
or who have SEN, and identifying and developing special school leaders. 

Developing excellent teaching practice for SEN in 
schools and colleges 
3.9 Delivering our vision depends on every teacher having excellent knowledge and 

skills. However, at present teachers’ initial training does not always equip them 
with the tools to identify and meet a broad range of needs. Children and young 
people have told us that they find it frustrating when those who help them in 
school or college have an insufficient understanding of their conditions or needs. 
Teachers tell us that understanding different types of SEN helps them to teach 
effectively and that more could be done to make specialist training available.85 

‘The initial training of all teachers should include a substantial component of 
SEN. Full-time advanced courses should be re-established for teachers 
specialising in SEN. All secondary schools should have special trained teachers 
on their staff...’ 

Special needs governor 

3.10 Recent evidence highlights gaps in teachers’ initial training in supporting pupils 
with SEN and effective behaviour management.86 To address this, The Importance 
of Teaching set out plans to give a stronger focus on support for children with 
additional needs, including those with SEN, in the standards for qualified teacher 
status. We will ensure that SEN training resources for initial training also include 
learning from the effective Achievement for All programme, which aims to 
support school leaders and teachers to improve achievement for disabled 
children and children with SEN. Further details on the Achievement for All 
approach are set out in more detail later in this chapter. 

3.11 Working in special schools can also provide a unique opportunity for teachers to 
develop their skills in teaching children with particular support needs. To ensure 
that those entering the profession can develop this specialist knowledge from the 
start, we will provide additional funding for initial teacher training providers to 
secure a greater number of placements for trainee teachers in special school 
settings. 

3.12 We have acknowledged that there should be better recognition of the 
professional skills needed to support children and young people with SEN or who 
are disabled in further education. We know that where colleges have focused on 
developing the expertise and skills of their staff this has had a direct impact on 

85 DfE Call for Views (2010) 
86 Ofsted (2007) and Steer (2009) 

Page 130



60 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

improving outcomes for young people with SEN or who are disabled.87 The 
Department for Education will work with the Department for Business, 
Innovation and Skills and the Learning and Skills Improvement Service (LSIS) to 
support the development of SEN and disability training for those teaching in 
colleges. As described in chapter four, this will also help to improve transition and 
access to post-16 qualifications and learning for young people who are disabled 
or have SEN. This will build on the work that LSIS is already undertaking to 
enhance further education sector support, resulting in a range of tools and 
resources. 

3.13 Following initial training, teachers undertake continuous professional 
development to extend their skills and knowledge. Building on our plans to 
strengthen initial training, we will also boost the availability of advanced-level 
continuous professional development. We have asked the Training and 
Development Agency for Schools to commission online training materials for 
teachers about profound, multiple learning disabilities, severe learning 
disabilities, and complex learning difficulties and disabilities. We will make 
available free training materials focused on autism; dyslexia; behavioural, 
emotional and social difficulties; and speech, language and communication 
needs. These resources will be nationally recognised and flexible so that they can 
be used for accredited professional development. Teachers have undertaken 
higher-level professional development in SEN for many years, including the well 
established mandatory qualifications in teaching children with sensory 
impairments. 

3.14 The Importance of Teaching introduced a competitive national scholarship scheme 
which will allow teachers to deepen their subject knowledge through higher-level 
professional development including post-graduate qualifications. We also 
propose to fund scholarships for teachers to develop their practice in 
supporting disabled pupils and pupils with SEN, including in specific 
impairments. 

3.15 Once in the classroom, research shows that the most effective way for teachers to 
develop is by learning from each other.88 Teachers who have specialist knowledge 
and experience in working with young people with SEN are often well placed to 
develop the skills of their colleagues. The Importance of Teaching sets out 
proposals to develop a national network of Teaching Schools, to lead and develop 
sustainable approaches to teacher development across the country and drive 
school improvement. Outstanding special schools will be able to apply to 
become Teaching Schools, or members of a Teaching School partnership, 
developing their own staff alongside staff in schools throughout their network 
and sharing their expertise. 

Question 18: How can we ensure that the expertise of special schools, and 
mainstream schools with excellent SEN practice, is harnessed and spread 
through Teaching Schools partnerships? 

3.16 The Teaching Schools network will play a proactive role in brokering partnerships 
between schools, quality assuring and supporting high calibre professional 

87 Ofsted (2010) 
88 HMIE (2009) 

Page 131



Learning and achieving 61 

development for school staff. We know that it is sometimes hard to attract head 
teachers to lead special schools and, as these networks develop, Teaching Schools 
will increasingly provide a means through which those with the potential for 
special school headship can be identified and developed. This should support 
better local succession planning. 

3.17 Evidence shows the value to schools of this partnership approach to growing SEN 
knowledge and skills, particularly when coupled with the effective use of specialist 
resources.89 We intend to help local networks of schools develop teachers with 
specialist skills and knowledge who can be deployed across local clusters of 
schools. Requirements will vary across each cluster and it will be for groups of 
schools to identify their priorities. Teaching School partnerships will provide an 
excellent way for local areas to develop specialists, for example in behavioural and 
emotional support, who are able to work across school clusters, including with 
and between special schools. We believe that locally led approaches will have 
greater impact and will help to expand and better deploy the expertise that exists 
within our special schools. 

Case study: Lampton School and the London Leadership 
Strategy 
Lampton School (which acquired Academy status in September 2010) and the 
London Leadership Strategy have identified outstanding SEN practitioners in 
both mainstream and special schools across London. These lead practitioners, 
who include SENCOs, teachers and senior leaders with responsibility for SEN, 
support over 40 schools across London. 

‘The opportunity for outstanding SENCOs and Inclusion Leads to share their 
knowledge and good practice with other colleagues is limited and in this 
respect we are ignoring our greatest resource in raising standards for children 
with SEN. We need to unlock this knowledge and move it freely around 
schools. Utilising the skills of special school colleagues to support curriculum 
development, improve behaviour and raise the attainment of SEN pupils in 
mainstream schools has been an important part of the strategy.’ 

Lampton School and London Leadership Strategy 

3.18 In further education, we will consider how best to encourage this type of 
partnership working between independent specialist colleges, special schools and 
colleges. This will help spread knowledge, improve expertise, build capacity, and 
share delivery arrangements so that colleges and training providers can respond 
effectively to the needs of learners, employers and communities to whom they are 
increasingly accountable. The Association of Colleges currently recognises 
colleges that are exemplars in teaching students with learning difficulties and/or 
disabilities. The Department for Education is exploring the possibility of an 
award run by the Association of Colleges for those colleges that demonstrate 
best practice in working with young people with SEN.

89 Lindsey et al (Interim Report, 2010) and Salt (2010) 

Page 132



62 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Question 19: How can we ensure that we improve SEN expertise, build 
capacity and share knowledge between independent specialist colleges, 
special schools and colleges? 

Effective leadership is critical to changing ethos and 
approach in schools and colleges 
3.19 It is school and college leaders who drive the ethos and direction of their 

institutions. None of the ambitions highlighted here are possible without strong 
and effective leadership. 

3.20 School leaders are best placed to lead improvements in their own schools and to 
provide help to others. The Importance of Teaching announced that the content 
of the National Professional Qualification for Headship (NPQH) will be reviewed. 
As part of this process we will ensure that SEN and disability are considered 
appropriately. 

3.21 Through the National and Local Leaders of Education (NLE and LLE) designations 
we are able to recognise those head teachers who share their outstanding 
practice through direct school-to-school support or through peer-to-peer 
coaching and mentoring. There are currently 37 Special NLEs and 34 Special LLEs. 
The National College will double the overall number of NLEs and LLEs by 2015 and 
expand the numbers of Special NLEs and LLEs. We will work to ensure that they 
continue to be deployed effectively within and across local authority boundaries, 
building productive working partnerships. We believe this programme will 
continue to help drive improvement for all children, including those who are 
disabled or who have SEN. 

3.22 Building on the success of NLEs and LLEs we will create a new designation of 
Specialist Leaders of Education. These will be serving middle and senior school 
leaders who are outstanding at what they do and who are able to play a role 
beyond their school, supporting others to improve, including those who work 
with children with SEN and disabilities. We envisage that by the end of 2014 there 
will be 5,000 Specialist Leaders of Education. 

Question 20: How can we continue to build capacity and SEN specialist skills 
at each tier of school management? 

3.23 School governors are vitally important in improving outcomes for children with 
SEN. Many good schools have dedicated SEN governors whose remit is to ensure 
that the school is held to account for improving outcomes for pupils with SEN or 
disabled pupils. In The Importance of Teaching, we set out the key questions that 
governors should ask, including how schools can raise standards for children with 
SEN. We will ensure that governors have more data so that they can provide 
effective support and challenge to schools, holding them to account for the 
progress of pupils with SEN. The National College will also provide high quality 
training for the chairs of governing bodies to ensure that they can carry out their 
role effectively. 

Page 133



Learning and achieving 63 

Getting the best from all school and college staff 
3.24 While head teachers and governors have the responsibility for ensuring that 

disabled pupils and pupils with SEN get the right support, it is frequently the 
SENCO who has the day-to-day lead. In many cases SENCOs work with teachers on 
mapping the provision for all pupils who need additional support, advising staff 
on appropriate and alternative interventions as a child moves through school, and 
modelling effective practice. The relationship between the SENCO and the senior 
management team within the school is critical to the effectiveness of this pivotal 
role.90 

3.25 All maintained schools and Academies are required to have a designated teacher 
to champion the educational attainment of looked after children on roll. In some 
schools this role will be undertaken by the same teacher as the SENCO. Where 
these roles are done by different people it is particularly important for the SENCO 
to work closely with the school's designated teacher for looked after children in 
order to understand a child's individual support needs. It is therefore important 
that SENCOs have appropriate training to equip them for their role. The 
Department for Education is continuing to fund the training of new SENCOs in 
the academic year 2011/12. 

3.26 Within schools, support staff can make a real difference to the achievement of 
pupils with SEN, but they need to be deployed and used effectively in order to do 
so.91 Some schools have helped to achieve significant improvements in the 
outcomes of their pupils with SEN by reviewing the amount of time spent with, 
and type of support from, teaching assistants. Evidence published in 2009 showed 
how teaching assistants can have a positive impact on pupils’ self-esteem. 
However, teaching assistant time should never be a substitute for teaching from a 
qualified teacher. Too often, the most vulnerable pupils are supported almost 
exclusively by teaching assistants: 

their routine deployment to pupils most in need seems to be the heart of the problem. 
Pupils with the most need can become separated from the teacher and the 
curriculum.92 

This practice is not acceptable. Children with SEN need more, not less, time with 
the school’s most skilled and qualified teachers. 

90 Two sets of regulations came into force on 1 September 2009 which placed a duty on governing bodies to ensure 
that SENCOs are qualified teachers and that newly appointed SENCOs undertake nationally approved training for 
SEN coordination. The Department has supported the new requirements by making £10 million available for 
nationally approved SENCO training (delivered by partnerships involving local authorities, universities or private 
providers) for those new to the role. This training will cover their strategic role within the school. 

91 Alborz et al (2009) 
92 Blatchford et al (2009) 

Page 134



64 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Case study: Lyng Hall School, Coventry 
Lyng Hall used the Achievement for All project to improve the outcomes for 
pupils identified with SEN and disabilities. 

As part of the long-term development of the school, a major cultural change 
within the staffing structure has redefined the role of support staff and how 
they work with pupils and their families. Teaching assistants, learning mentors, 
cover supervisors and family support workers have all been replaced by a 
group of 20 associate teachers. Associate teachers work with students and 
their families and intervene and provide support in class, around school and 
at home. 

Associate teachers have developed a close working relationship with families 
linking them with key support agencies and providing whatever assistance 
is needed to enable the family to better support their children’s education. 
Over the past year collaboration between the staff, pupils and their parents 
has improved behaviour, and attendance has risen to 93 per cent. Persistent 
absence has dropped from 12.5 per cent to 3.6 per cent. At Key Stage 4, the 
proportion of pupils achieving at least 5 GCSEs at grades A*-C has risen from 
61 per cent in 2008 to 79 per cent in 2010. 

3.27 For teaching assistants to have a positive impact they need to be trained, 
supported, deployed and managed effectively. This is not only a matter for the 
teaching assistants, or the class teachers working with them in the classroom, but 
one of effective school organisation and, crucially, leadership. The Importance of 
Teaching set out how we will enable schools to make best use of the talents of 
support staff, by giving schools the freedom to decide how to deploy them and 
on their responsibilities and their pay. School leaders and teachers will need to 
continue to think about how best to deploy their support staff and how to ensure 
that children with the greatest levels of need experience the best quality teaching. 

3.28 There are talented support staff currently working with disabled children and 
children with SEN who have the potential to develop further in their role and 
potentially pursue a career in teaching. We will launch an additional scholarship 
fund, open to the most able teaching assistants and other support staff, to 
enable them to build on their SEN support roles and develop their careers 
further. 

Question 21: What is the best way to identify and develop the potential of 
teachers and staff to best support disabled children or children with a wide 
range of SEN? 

The Achievement for All approach 
3.29 Achievement for All has shown that the engagement of effective school 

leadership, high expectations, greater and more constructive involvement of 
parents, clear target setting and careful tracking of pupil’s progress leads to an 
improvement in the outcomes pupils achieve – including improvements for those 
children and young people who have experienced barriers to learning. As well as 

Page 135



Learning and achieving 65 

better educational outcomes and accelerated progress, schools say that the 
programme is also leading to parents feeling more confident about the support 
that their child is getting and to children and young people reporting a sense of 
personal achievement in their education. 

‘My son is now more confident, he interacts better, he is learning more about 
himself. He used to really struggle and was so clingy with me.’ 

Year 1 parent 

3.30 The Achievement for All programme has led to schools declassifying children 
previously identified at School Action, because with a culture of high expectations 
and provision of personalised school-based support the label itself is no longer 
necessary. Schools involved in the programme are looking more systematically at 
moving children out of SEN categories when their needs have been addressed 
and are re-examining how they identify children with SEN. Key to this is teachers 
having a good understanding of where children are in their learning, what their 
support needs might be and how these needs fit with the school’s normally-
available, targeted, offer for children who fall behind. 

Haverstock School, Camden 
Haverstock School, Camden, has 1,300 pupils: over 70 per cent are from 
minority ethnic backgrounds, and over 60 per cent are bi-lingual. In 2009, over 
50 per cent of pupils were on the SEN register. Through the introduction of 
Achievement for All in Years 7 and 10 this has been reduced by 11 per cent. 
Achievement for All has been a core part of the school improvement plan. 
The head teacher has reported an increase in attainment in Year 10 and 11 
reflecting a focus on pupil outcomes, and indications suggest that there will 
be significant improvement in GCSE results in 2011. For Haverstock, 
Achievement for All has been a priority, fundamental to improving practice 
and supporting staff in raising the aspirations and achievement of all disabled 
pupils and pupils with special educational needs. 

3.31 We know that the approaches used in Achievement for All can have a hugely 
positive impact on pupils. We have launched a tender for bids from external 
organisations to spread the practices that those involved with Achievement for 
All have developed. We believe that it is important for the school and SEN sector 
to lead the way in delivering excellence in SEN and school improvement support. 
We will ask the successful bidder to work with the voluntary and community 
sector to develop a quality mark for those schools that are developing 
excellent and innovative SEN support.

Challenging low expectations of, and targeting support 
for, children with SEN 
3.32 All children deserve a good education, with staff in schools giving them the 

confidence, self-belief and teaching that they need to fulfil their potential. To date 
the education system has failed to address barriers to learning and does not show 

Page 136



66 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

the same unremitting commitment to every child’s progress that is seen in the 
best schools. 

3.33 This situation is unacceptable and there is compelling evidence that problems are 
exacerbated further for children and young people with SEN.93 Our fundamental 
reforms to the school system, set out in The Importance of Teaching, give greater 
freedom and flexibility to schools, teachers and school leaders, alongside sharper 
accountability for supporting every child to achieve their potential. 

3.34 As part of this we have given schools greater flexibility over their resources, 
removing ring-fences and specific grants so that schools can choose how to use 
their money to maximise benefits to pupils. Through the pupil premium we will 
introduce £2.5 billion of funding a year on top of existing school spending by 
2014-15 to help schools offer additional and targeted support for pupils from the 
most deprived backgrounds, and almost a third of pupils with SEN are also in 
receipt of free school meals. Schools will have the freedom to use this money as 
they choose, for example, for extra one-to-one tuition or catch-up support. 

3.35 Funding previously held centrally for the Every Child programmes, targeted at 
those children in the bottom five per cent in early reading and mathematics, 
has now been made available to schools through the Dedicated Schools Grant.
In addition we will provide funding to facilitate the transition to the open 
market of the Every Child a Reader and Every Child Counts programmes. 
This will make it possible for those schools that want to use these approaches 
to do so through ensuring training is available. We will also provide funding for 
phonics-based training and resources which will support those children who 
need additional help in reading to catch up. The Department for Education will 
work with SEN specialists as we develop the Year 1 phonics screening check so 
that it helps to identify children, including those with SEN, who require 
additional support. 

3.36 Schools, local authorities, parents, voluntary and community sector organisations, 
charities and social enterprises will be able to bid for a share of the new 
£110 million Education Endowment Fund in order to turn around the lowest 
performing schools. This will include support for innovative approaches to 
raising the attainment of disadvantaged pupils and sharing this learning. 

3.37 We want teachers to have greater freedom to use their professionalism and 
expertise in order to help all children progress. This is why we have launched a 
review of the National Curriculum. We will develop a new National Curriculum 
which sets out only the essential knowledge that all children should acquire, and 
leaves teachers to decide how to teach this most effectively and to design a wider 
school curriculum which best meets the needs of their pupils. We will ensure that 
the new National Curriculum takes account of the needs of all pupils, including 
disabled children and children with SEN, and is designed in such a way that it will 
be easier for parents to understand the progress their child is making and, 
therefore, to support their education. 

3.38 As we set out in chapter one, there are clear benefits to early intervention and 
where possible children’s SEN should be identified as soon as they emerge so that 

93 Ofsted (2010) 

Page 137



Learning and achieving 67 

the right support can be put in place. For many young people, these needs may 
emerge and change once they go to school or move from primary to secondary 
school. Teachers and staff in schools must be equipped to identify correctly 
barriers to children’s learning and understand whether this is a special 
educational need so that every child can be given the best opportunity to succeed 
by professionals who know how to support them. At present, the way that schools 
identify children with SEN is not achieving this. In particular, children are often 
identified as having lower-level SEN (at School Action) when in fact the barrier to 
their learning could and should be addressed through normal day-to-day 
classroom practice. 

3.39 Whilst no additional resources are provided to schools for children with a low-
level SEN (at School Action), for too long our school system has perpetuated 
perverse incentives to over-identify children as having SEN through performance 
markers such as contextual value added measures.94 Ofsted’s recent review into 
SEN and disability noted the high proportion of children incorrectly identified as 
having SEN when they may have other non-SEN related difficulties, or where the 
term SEN is used as an excuse for low achievement.95 At School Action in 
particular Ofsted commented that difficulties that would typically be 
accommodated by good class teaching and the sorts of targeted support that 
schools should already routinely provide as part of their normally-available offer 
to all pupils, were being labelled as SEN. 

3.40 Current practice harms children who do not have SEN, but who are identified as 
having SEN. Too often the label excuses inaction: slow progress by some children 
is deemed satisfactory because of a non-existent special need. This problem of 
over-identification sustains a culture of low expectations for these children and 
can mean that they do not get the right help. It can distract teachers away from 
their main priority of teaching pupils, assessing where they are in their learning 
and ensuring they get the right help where needed. SEN should not be used as a 
label or as an excuse for failing to understand the challenges to achieving their 
potential that some pupils face. We have clear evidence of the benefits to children 
and their families where this problem is effectively addressed by schools, notably 
from the Achievement for All programme. In order to embed this approach more 
widely we propose to disseminate best practice, change statutory guidance on 
how SEN should be identified, reassure parents that their children’s barriers to 
learning are being addressed by the school, and enforce sharper accountability. 

3.41 We are developing new measures in the performance tables on the progress of 
disadvantaged pupils and the lowest attaining 20 per cent of pupils and on the 
destinations of young people post-16 (set out in greater detail later in this 
chapter) which will provide sharper accountability to parents, governors and 
inspectors for the achievement of these groups. 

3.42 As well as spreading best practice, we propose to be much clearer in guidance 
for professionals about how to identify SEN accurately. Statutory guidance is set 
out in the SEN Code of Practice (which, as chapter five explains, we will make 
shorter and clearer for professionals). 

94 Ofsted (2010) 
95 Ofsted (2010) and Lamb (2009) 

Page 138



68 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

3.43 We propose to replace the SEN Code of Practice categories of School Action 
and School Action Plus with a new single school-based SEN category, providing 
clear guidance to schools on the appropriate identification of SEN. 

3.44 Our proposal would help professionals to differentiate between children who 
need additional support to catch up with their peers and those who need a 
tailored approach to address a special educational need. We believe that a single 
category will help to avoid the confusion inherent the current framework which 
identifies children’s needs on the basis of how appropriate support is provided 
(from within school resources or from external sources). It will mean fewer 
children are identified as having SEN, while deterring a low expectations culture 
and allowing teachers and schools to focus on providing the help that every child 
needs. The most important thing for any child and their family is that the right 
support is put in place, no matter what barrier to learning a child experiences, and 
how appropriate support is to be provided. 

3.45 Our proposal for a single category of SEN would make it easier for schools to plan 
and deliver the right support and provide clarity for families on the help their 
child can expect to receive, whether it is a normally available tailored approach 
(such as support delivered through one of the Every Child programmes) or 
something specific to SEN. 

3.46 In chapter two we set out details of the local offer. Ensuring that schools are clear 
about their provision that is normally available for all children, including targeted 
help routinely provided for those falling behind and the additional provision they 
make for those with SEN, should simplify the process of planning the right help for 
pupils at school level, using the additional resources that they may be receiving 
from the pupil premium and their delegated SEN budgets (which will be 
unaffected by any changes to the school-based SEN category). To provide parents 
with clarity about the support their child could receive, local authorities would be 
required to work with schools to set out this information for parents. 

3.47 The current differences between Early Years Action and Early Years Action Plus are 
not easy to assess. Our proposed revision to the Code of Practice on the 
appropriate identification of SEN will help early years settings identify and address 
children’s needs. 

Question 22: What is the potential impact of replacing School Action and 
School Action plus and their equivalents in the early years with a single 
category of SEN in schools and early years settings? 

Question 23: How could changing the school- and early years setting-based 
category of SEN embed a different approach to identifying SEN and 
addressing children’s needs? 

3.48 In light of the consultation responses and any changes that we put in place, the 
Department for Education will ask Ofsted to review the impact of the changes to 
the ways in which pupils’ SEN is identified. 

Page 139



Learning and achieving 69 

Identifying and tackling the causes of difficult behaviour 
3.49 Some 26 per cent of young people at School Action Plus and 14 per cent of pupils 

with statements have a behavioural, emotional or social difficulty (BESD) 
identified as their primary need. 96 Many more may have a SEN or impairment that 
means they may require different support from their teacher. 

3.50 School behaviour policies are of particular relevance to disabled children and 
children with SEN and this issue is highly emotive for families. Disabled children 
and children with SEN are more likely to experience bullying than their peers and 
are also more likely to be excluded, whether on a fixed-term or a permanent basis. 
Here we set out our approach to helping schools identify children at risk of 
bullying or exclusion because of their SEN or disability and how we will ensure 
that appropriate support can be put in place early. 

3.51 The behaviour of other children can cause particular distress for disabled pupils 
and pupils with SEN. Disabled children and children with SEN are more likely to 
experience bullying than their peers and evidence suggests that the incidence of 
bullying for this group is increasing. 97 As part of our Call for Views for this Green 
Paper we have met groups of disabled children and young people and those with 
SEN to find out what would improve their experiences of school and the wider 
support system. We have heard that, too frequently, these children report being 
bullied or singled out because of their impairment. They want to be listened to, 
their concerns to be taken seriously, and schools to tackle incidents of bullying as 
soon as they arise. 

3.52 Training teachers in a range of behaviour management techniques and enabling 
them to intervene early are crucial to ensuring that they can establish a culture of 
respect and safety with good pastoral care. This is what good schools do. We are 
determined that all schools should instigate a zero tolerance approach to 
prejudice-based bullying. We will work with the Anti-Bullying Alliance to share 
best practice that will help teachers identify those pupils who are disabled 
or have SEN and are at risk of bullying, and to tackle this effectively where 
it arises. 

3.53 Identifying the root causes of behavioural issues can be difficult. For example, 
evidence suggests that some children with BESD have underlying communication 
problems and the presenting behavioural problem is caused by frustration with 
their education.98 99 Other children may display challenging behaviour, labelled as 
SEN, which is actually the result of other issues, including difficulties in their home 
lives. Ensuring that teachers are well equipped to identify whether children have 
SEN, or other barriers to engaging with learning and school life, and to provide 
appropriate early support, is key. Where children and young people do not receive 
the appropriate support this can lead to poor long-term outcomes for them and 
their families. They can be more likely to be excluded, achieve less well at school 

96 DfE SEN SFR (2010) 
97 Chamberlain et al (2010) 
98 3.9 per cent of children with BESD as their primary need type have SLCN as a secondary need type; and 6.5 per 

cent of children with SLCN as their primary need type have BESD as a secondary need type. Analysis from DfE SEN 
SFR (2010) 

99 Some studies suggest that over 55 per cent of pupils identified with BESD have underlying communication 
difficulties. ICAN Talk Series (2006), Giddan et al (1996), Jones and Chesson (2000) and Cross (1997) 

Page 140



70 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

and less likely to go into future employment and training. This has inherent wider 
social and financial costs. It is sometimes suggested that the term ‘behavioural, 
emotional and social difficulties’ puts too great an emphasis on the presenting 
behaviour. We want to ensure that assessments of SEN and any assessments of 
children displaying challenging behaviour, by any professional, identify the root 
causes of the behaviour rather than focus on the symptoms. 

Question 24: How helpful is the current category of BESD in identifying the 
underlying needs of children with emotional and social difficulties? 

Question 25: Is the BESD label overused in terms of describing behaviour 
problems rather than leading to an assessment of underlying difficulties? 

3.54 While effective early intervention can help to reduce exclusions, there will still be 
occasions where schools will decide that excluding a pupil for a period is 
necessary. In The Importance of Teaching we set out an intention to trial a new 
approach to permanent exclusion, through which schools will remain accountable 
for the placement and progress of excluded pupils when they are in alternative 
provision, and receive the funding that is currently allocated to local authorities. 
While head teachers must not be constrained in excluding when necessary, we 
believe that this change will create a strong incentive for schools to intervene 
early to support pupils and thus reduce the need for exclusion. It will also 
encourage schools to collaborate on the provision of early intervention and 
alternative provision to ensure that the most vulnerable children receive the 
highest quality of education. Our trial of a new exclusions approach will 
consider the needs of, and impact on, disabled children and children with SEN. 

3.55 We know that there is a group of children with SEN who are currently excluded on 
multiple occasions on a fixed-term basis, and there may be other excluded pupils 
whose SEN have not yet been identified. Incidents which prompt multiple 
exclusions will often be an indication that a pupil has underlying difficulties that 
may not have been correctly identified or met. There could be a range of causal 
factors for behavioural problems including underlying mental health or family 
problems. Exploring wider family circumstances is often crucial to identifying the 
root causes of behavioural problems. A whole-family approach to the assessment 
of needs and delivery of services can ensure that the children from families facing 
multiple problems, which may be the underlying reason for their behaviour 
difficulties, are effectively supported. In order to offer routinely more effective 
early support, we will recommend in exclusion guidance that children are 
assessed through an effective multi-agency assessment for any underlying 
causal factors. We will suggest that schools trigger this assessment in instances 
in which a pupil displays poor behaviour that does not improve despite effective 
behaviour management by the school. We will also use the trial of the new 
exclusions system to test out the effects of this type of early assessment 
of need. 

3.56 A total of 72 per cent of all permanently excluded pupils have identified SEN.100 

Pupils at School Action Plus were about 20 times more likely to receive a 
permanent exclusion in the academic year 2007/08 than those with no SEN, and 
seven times more likely to receive a fixed-period exclusion in the academic year 

100 DfE Exclusions SFR (2008/09) 

Page 141



Learning and achieving 71 

2007/08 than those with no SEN.101 Young people with SEN are also over
represented in the offender population. The recent Ofsted report emphasised the 
importance of schools having strong pastoral systems and access to specialist 
services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) which can 
intervene early to reduce the risk of exclusion. Many special schools also have 
significant expertise in providing this kind of preventative support. 

Case study: New Woodlands School, Lewisham 
New Woodlands School in Lewisham has been central to the authority’s 
strategy of minimising exclusions. It is an integrated school and outreach 
service for pupils aged 7 to 14 years who have emotional, social and 
behavioural difficulties. Pupils are referred directly from mainstream schools 
to the outreach service and support is often arranged in their mainstream 
setting. 

Where pupils attend the school, they receive individualised, supportive, short-
term programmes designed to address behavioural and learning needs and to 
prepare pupils for a successful return to mainstream school, which is achieved 
in most cases. The outreach services work with many primary and all 
secondary schools in the authority. The numbers of permanent exclusions of 
pupils in Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 have reduced significantly since the 
school offered its wider outreach role, and mainstream school head teachers 
report positively on the early intervention role provided by the school. In 2009 
Ofsted rated the school as outstanding. 

Question 26: How could we best ensure that the expertise of special schools 
in providing behaviour support is harnessed and shared? 

Improving access to wider behaviour support 
3.57 Special and mainstream schools have used evidence-based therapeutic 

interventions as part of the Targeted Mental Health in Schools (TaMHS) approach 
for children with emerging mental health and behaviour problems. The 
interventions are often provided by voluntary or community sector organisations. 
Schools involved with the programme have reported improved behaviour, 
attendance, attainment and fewer exclusions among targeted pupils as well as 
better links to local CAMHS. In particular, for children with behavioural difficulties, 
it has helped schools consider the underlying issues and provide appropriate 
support early. 

101 DfE SEN an analysis (2010) 

Page 142



72 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

‘TaMHS has made a significant shift in the practice culture of school-based 
staff, giving them the knowledge and skills to assess and support children with 
lower level needs who would otherwise be referred to agencies such as 
CAMHS leading to improved behaviour and reduced exclusions. TaMHS is now 
firmly embedded in our strategic plans for early intervention, with a recurring 
budget from our Early Intervention Grant secured to continue the work post-
March 2011.’ 

Local authority strategic commissioner for children with additional needs 

3.58 Through the recent Mental Health Strategy the Department of Health set out the 
Government’s intention to secure better outcomes from high quality mental 
health services for children, young people and their families across the spectrum 
from universal to specialist provision.102 The Early Intervention Grant for local 
authorities includes resources which can be used to commission and provide the 
kind of support delivered through TaMHS. Over the next four years the 
Department for Education will be providing support to build the capacity of 
the voluntary and community sector, including in the delivery of targeted 
mental health support.

3.59 We know that delivering intensive whole family support can be particularly 
effective for families with multiple problems. Local authority family intervention 
services provide intensive and persistent support, coordinated by a single key 
worker.103 Local authorities will have resources through the Early Intervention 
Grant which can be used to provide these sorts of interventions should they 
choose to do so. 

3.60 High quality alternative provision is key to ensuring that excluded pupils fulfil 
their potential. This will often involve support from other agencies and services. 
We know that some special schools have particular expertise in this area, and 
some local authorities are harnessing this to improve quality and diversity in the 
local alternative provision market, using BESD special schools to deliver this. 
We will explore ways to make it easier for special schools and special 
Academies to enter the market to offer alternative provision. 

102 DH Mental Health Strategy (2011) 
103 http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/STR/d000956/osr09-2010.pdf Evidence from the first 1,788 families 

to exit a family intervention showed that truancy, exclusion or bad behaviour at school reduced by 54 per cent 

Page 143



Learning and achieving 73 

Case study: East Sussex BESD provision 
East Sussex BESD provision is a federation comprising three special BESD 
schools and a number of PRUs including a comprehensive range of alternative 
programs, working under one management structure led by an executive 
head teacher. The federation arrangements offer the local authority specialist 
expertise within their alternative provision, give schools flexibility to share 
resources and respond sensitively to young people’s needs, and provide the 
ability to cater for a wider range of needs than if the schools were operating 
on their own. The federation and local authority work closely in partnership. 
The local authority report the effectiveness of the provision which has led to 
improvements to the curriculum and to standards across all schools and the 
PRU; better post-16 placements for young people with BESD; and reductions 
in the NEET population of schools leavers. 

Question 27: What are the barriers to special schools and special Academies 
entering the market for alternative provision? 

Special schools 
3.61 Special schools, including maintained, non-maintained, and independent special 

school sectors, play a vital role in our school system, providing specialist expertise 
in educating children and young people who are disabled or who have SEN. Over 
40 per cent of children and young people with statements of SEN attend special 
schools, independent schools and non-maintained special schools.104 Special 
schools play an important role as a hub for wider services, for example offering 
after-school and family provision, including access to short breaks and particular 
therapies for disabled children and children with SEN and their families. Many 
special schools also offer specialist advice and services to mainstream schools. 
Flexible placements in more than one type of provision, over time or 
simultaneously, can be beneficial for children with SEN. It may be helpful for some 
children attending mainstream school, for example, to spend some time in a 
specialist setting for their learning needs to be thoroughly assessed, or for 
specialist support or to help them catch up. Strong links between schools improve 
support for the child and develop the skills of staff in both settings so that they 
are able to meet a broader range of needs. 

104 DfE SEN SFR (2010), 38 per cent of children with statements of SEN attend maintained special schools, 4 per cent 
attend independent schools, and 2 per cent non-maintained special schools. 

Page 144



74 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

3.62 The profile of disabled children and children with SEN is changing. Children who 
may not previously have survived birth are now entering school. These children 
include those with co-existing conditions such as autism and attention deficit and 
hyperactivity disorder, or profound and multiple learning difficulties and others 
who may be affected by other factors such as multi-sensory impairment or mental 
ill health. This presents new opportunities and challenges for staff in finding the 
right approaches to enable these children to learn. The Specialist Schools and 
Academies Trust (SSAT), with support from the Department for Education, is 
taking forward a project involving staff in special schools working together with 
parents, other schools (mainstream and special), universities, local authorities, and 
health professionals. The project will research, devise and test new approaches to 
teaching and learning for children with emerging complex learning difficulties 
and disabilities, and share these widely. The project has developed an 
Engagement Profile and Scale and Inquiry Framework for Learning which enables 
teachers and other staff to observe, record and chart the engagement in learning 
of a pupil with complex learning difficulties and disabilities. This leads to a 
personalised learning target and supports pupils to progress. 

Case study: Riverside Special School, Kent 
Six year-old Lucy (not her real name) attends Riverside Special School in Kent. 
She has been diagnosed with Angelman syndrome (a chromosome disorder 
that causes severe learning difficulties), autistic spectrum disorder, global 
developmental delay and seizure disorder. In art activities Lucy’s teacher 
struggled to overcome Lucy’s compulsion to put paint and other materials in 
her mouth and this was preventing Lucy from learning from sensory play. 
When verbal and physical prompting proved unsuccessful, Lucy’s teachers 
used the Specialist Schools and Academies Trust’s Engagement Profile and 
Scale and Inquiry Framework for Learning to find alternative approaches. 
By providing Lucy with these her teachers found that she responded readily to 
verbal and physical prompts. Lucy was able to focus on, and engage fully in, 
learning from sensory activities. 

3.63 We want to give parents, local communities and the private and voluntary sector 
the freedom, choice and flexibility to expand the special school market. In The 
Importance of Teaching, we set out our priority to extend greater autonomy to all 
schools. Under legislation we have introduced, all maintained special schools 
will in due course have the opportunity to become Academies. We have invited 
the best maintained special schools in the country to convert to Academy status 
first, and at present we are considering applications from maintained special 
schools judged to be outstanding by Ofsted. We are also considering applications 
to convert from other special schools that are seeking to work in partnership with 
an outstanding special school, or a mainstream school judged outstanding or 
good with outstanding features. 

3.64 Extending greater autonomy to special schools will inject more dynamism and 
innovation into the special school sector. Special Academies will have the 
freedom and the responsibility for shaping their own vision, to teach, innovate, 
provide services and target funds based on what they think will enable the pupils 
in the Academy and across its community to achieve. Special Academies will help 

Page 145



Learning and achieving 75 

to offer parents a greater choice of high quality provision from which to choose 
the school that offers the right learning environment and that will enable their 
child to fulfil their potential and make the transition to a successful and fulfilling 
adult life. 

3.65 Special Academies will have the opportunity to play a leading role in transforming 
the educational experiences of disabled pupils and pupils with SEN. Special 
schools that become Academies will enjoy greater freedom to explore new and 
innovative arrangements for working with other schools and Academies, both 
mainstream and special, as well as with other services and agencies. We would 
welcome views on the ways in which the new special Academies can improve the 
quality of special educational provision and can serve their local communities 
most effectively. 

Question 28: What are the ways in which special Academies can work in 
partnership with other mainstream and special schools and Academies, and 
other services, in order to improve the quality of provision for pupils with 
SEN and disabilities? 

Question 29: What are the barriers to special Academies becoming centres of 
excellence and specialist expertise that serve a wider, regional community 
and how can these be overcome? 

Special Free Schools 
3.66 One of the areas in which we are keen to offer greater choice for parents is where 

they want to have more specialised support for their child than is available in a 
mainstream setting. We are also aware that existing special schools are 
constrained in their ability to offer a wider range of services and we think that 
there could be value in enabling Free Schools to broaden their offer. 

3.67 The Department for Education will streamline the process for applying to open a 
Free School and will publish details in due course. September 2012 will be the first 
opportunity from which special Free Schools can be established. Initially we 
intend to focus on proposals to establish special Free Schools catering solely for 
children with statements of SEN. 

3.68 However, we are keen to introduce new and innovative ways of improving 
outcomes for disabled children and children with SEN. We support the move to 
a more integrated education system where children can move more flexibly 
between mainstream and special provision to access the support they need, 
whether for a day a week or a short-term placement. This approach can help 
schools access early intervention activities for children, particularly with lower 
level needs, and would support re-integration back to mainstream education 
where appropriate. There has already been interest from groups coming forward 
with proposals to open Free Schools which cater for children with a particular SEN, 
seeking to provide education to both children with statements as well as those 
without statements of SEN. Careful consideration is being given to this model and 
particularly to how admissions to such schools would work and how to ensure 
that resources are not diverted away from those who need them the most. 

Page 146



76 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Case study: The Harbour School, Portsmouth 
The Harbour School is a community special school in Portsmouth which 
opened in 2007 as a result of the amalgamation of a BESD school, three pupil 
referral units and multi-agency behaviour support services under a single 
management and governance structure. A Power to Innovate Order was 
granted to relax the requirement to admit only children with statements of 
SEN. The school works with outside agencies and mainstream schools. It 
provides a flexible service and supportive short-term programmes to improve 
behaviour and address the underlying learning needs of targeted children, 
regardless of whether they have a statement. The school works with 
mainstream secondary schools to increase their capacity to address BESD 
issues, share good practice, and agree the placement of Hard to Place pupils 
and pupils returning from The Harbour School. 

This approach has led to extremely low levels of permanent exclusion in 
Portsmouth (eight since September 2007) and a significant reduction in fixed-
term exclusions. 21 children with BESD statements have been re-integrated 
back into mainstream schools compared with zero in the preceding three 
years. Attendance has increased within the school. The school uses social and 
emotional development approaches to support students to make good 
progress and there is a strong emphasis on achieving accredited qualifications. 

Question 30: What might the impact be of opening up the system to provide 
places for non-statemented children with SEN in special Free Schools? 

3.69 We know that the quality and availability of SEN provision varies across the 
country and we want to ensure that there are more equitable opportunities to 
access high quality provision, regardless of need or location. We will, therefore, 
over time, encourage proposers of Free Schools to come forward in particular 
areas of the country to provide education for particular SEN or disabilities, 
encouraging a greater diversity of provision while driving up quality. 

Stronger school accountability 
3.70 Public services are more likely to improve when autonomy is coupled with 

accountability for outcomes.105 In The Importance of Teaching we described how 
we will dismantle the apparatus of central control and in its place make schools 
more directly accountable to parents, governors and the local community for the 
ways in which they help every child to progress and achieve. Here we set out our 
approach to delivering stronger accountability to parents, local communities and 
inspectors through clear information for parents and governors on school 
performance in the performance tables and in Ofsted inspections, and through 
ensuring that governing bodies are confident to support and challenge the school 
to improve. 

105 OECD (2010) 

Page 147



Learning and achieving 77 

3.71 Many children with SEN are among the lowest attaining and, too often, do not 
make the expected levels of progress, thereby perpetuating low attainment from 
key stage to key stage. We also know that post-16 young people with SEN are 
more than twice as likely to be not in education, employment or training (NEET) as 
those without. 

3.72 To address this we will put in place Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 Destination 
Measures to ensure that schools and colleges are accountable for helping all their 
pupils prepare for success post-16 and post-18 by showing young people and 
parents how many of schools’ and colleges’ former pupils progress into further 
education, employment or training. 

3.73 We have also set out how we will improve the school system so that schools and 
teachers can focus on helping children to fulfil their potential. We also need to 
make sure there is accountability for this improvement and that parents have 
clear information about their child’s attainment and progress that is meaningful 
at school level. 

3.74 We propose to introduce new indicators into the performance tables relating 
to the progress of the lowest attaining 20 per cent of pupils. This would focus 
on those pupils entering a key stage who have not reached the expected 
national curriculum level. The progress indicator would help show parents and 
the public how well schools do in supporting those pupils who start with low 
attainment to progress, by showing the proportion of pupils who started in the 
key stage from behind the nationally expected level and who have gone on to 
make expected levels of progress between national assessments, or even better. 
That is, it would show the proportions achieving at least two levels of progress 
from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2, and three or more levels of progress or the 
equivalent between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4. 

Question 31: Do you agree with our proposed approach for demonstrating 
the progress of low attaining pupils in performance tables? 

3.75 We now have in place the statutory collection of ‘P Scale’ assessment data which 
breaks pupils’ progress down into smaller steps, and helps teachers to track the 
progress of those pupils with SEN who are working below level 1 of the National 
Curriculum. In order to help schools work together to improve their use of ‘P 
Scale’ assessments, teachers will have clear information that they can use to help 
them track pupils’ progress, identify strengths and areas for development, and 
improve teaching and learning. 

3.76 In addition, to help special schools track the performance of those pupils 
operating below the level of Key Stage 2 assessments (and put in place the right 
support), we have trialled school-level reports in the RAISEonline school and pupil 
tracking programme. Two reports are now available on RAISEonline for all special 
schools that have Key Stage 2 pupils. 

Page 148



78 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Case study: Hodge Clough School, Oldham 
Hodge Clough School has been a part of Achievement for All. The school used 
the project’s framework to support assessment for learning. This has helped 
staff to moderate and standardise their assessments of pupils’ learning and 
progress and to make judgements about any additional support that is 
needed. Staff also used the SEN Progression Guidance to ensure that pupils 
with SEN were set appropriately stretching targets. This has had a significant 
effect on staff confidence and pupil outcomes. The school has seen an 11 per 
cent increase in the proportion of pupils with SEN achieving expected levels 
for their age in Year 1 in both numeracy and reading. Overall pupil results have 
also increased. 

3.77 We are committed to reforming school inspection so that it focuses on the core 
areas of pupil achievement, the quality of teaching, leadership and management, 
and the behaviour and safety of pupils. In reporting on these areas, we want a 
stronger focus by Ofsted on how well the education provided for disabled 
children and those with SEN meets their needs so that schools are properly held 
to account for both the outcomes and experiences of these children. Ofsted will 
shortly consult on proposals for the new school inspection arrangements and will 
be considering how best to achieve this within the new framework. 

3.78 In addition, for mainstream schools that run resourced provision or special units, 
the Department for Education and Ofsted want to ensure that this provision is 
appropriately assessed by inspectors with the necessary specialist expertise. 

3.79 We also want to recognise and reward the strongest performing schools by 
freeing outstanding special schools from routine inspection as long as they 
maintain their high standards. The Department for Education is working with 
Ofsted to identify suitable approaches for identifying performance and other 
factors that might indicate the need for inspection. 

3.80 In creating a self-improving school system, we have made it clear that all schools, 
including special schools, will be freed from highly centralised approaches to 
school improvement but will have strengthened accountability for pupils’ 
outcomes. Where the evidence shows that schools, including special schools, are 
failing to help pupils to progress and achieve their full potential, we will ensure 
that the school is able to draw on the necessary support and expertise to put in 
place a comprehensive plan to turn the school around. In the most serious cases 
of long-term underperformance and little sign of improvement, special 
schools, like mainstream schools, will be converted into Academies and 
partnered with a strong sponsor.

Page 149



Learning and achieving 79 

3.81 To ensure that schools are directly accountable for pupils’ progress and 
attainment, we will make more information about schools available in clear, 
standardised formats and online where possible, for example, attainment trends, 
and levels of attendance. This will help parents to make informed decisions and 
exercise genuine choice about the school that is right for their child, as well as 
allowing parents, governors and others to hold the school to account where they 
feel the school is not doing enough to assist children to progress and achieve. 

Question 32: What information would help parents, governors and others, 
including Ofsted, assess how effectively schools support disabled children 
and children with SEN? 

Page 150



80 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

4 Preparing for  
adulthood  

Chapter summary 
4.1 By 2015, all young people will continue in education or training until the age of 

18. Schools and colleges play a key role in helping young people make 
successful transition to adulthood, but young people also need wider 
opportunities and support to make the most of their future and give them the 
best chance of a fulfilling adulthood with employment, good health and 
independence. However, many young people who are disabled or who have 
SEN can face additional challenges during their teenage years. Too often the 
opportunities and support available to disabled young people and young 
people with SEN fall short of what they need to make a successful transition to 
adult life. 

4.2 Like school-aged children, young people who are disabled or who have SEN and 
their parents tell us that to get the help they need they have to cope with 
disjointed and confusing assessment processes from their local authority, school 
or college and health providers. Too often, professionals working with these 
young people are not encouraged to focus on young people’s ambitions for 
adulthood and how best to help them prepare. Such poor planning of support is 
exacerbated by a lack of choice and opportunities for young people: for 
example, a limited choice of entry-level courses in further education that do not 
build on what has gone before, or prepare young people for life and work; poor 
quality work experience; and a lack of supported employment opportunities to 
help them prepare for, find and retain work. In addition, the transition from 
children’s to adult health services is often badly coordinated, which can lead to 
a deterioration in young people’s health. 

4.3 Our goal is for disabled young people and young people with SEN to have the 
best opportunities and support so that as far as possible they can succeed in 
education and their careers, live as independently and healthily as they are able 
to and be active members of their communities. For a small number of young 
people, independent living may not be possible, and their families may be 
anxious about their ongoing care responsibilities. For these young people, we 
want to ensure the best quality of life with support for them to fulfil their 
potential and support for their parents and carers. 

Page 151



Preparing for adulthood 81

4.4 We recognise the challenge of realising our ambitions, and we will take forward 
a programme of action across government and with local partners, setting out 
more detail by the end of this year, so that by 2015 disabled young people and 
young people with SEN will have: 

early and well-integrated support for, and advice on, their future as part of 
the proposed birth to 25 single assessment process and ‘Education, Health 
and Care Plan’, spanning education, health, social care, and support into 
employment;

access to better quality vocational and work-related learning options to 
enable young people to progress in their learning post-16;

good opportunities and support in order to get and keep a job; and

a well-coordinated transition from children’s to adult health services, and we 
will explore the feasibility of annual health checks from GPs for all disabled 
young people from the age of 16.

4.5 This chapter sets out our proposals to give young people the best possible 
opportunities and support as they prepare for adulthood. We want to enable 
professionals to: support young people to plan for their future, give young people 
access to a broad range of appropriate education and learning opportunities as 
well as employment opportunities and support, coordinate an effective transition 
from children’s to adult health services, and to enable young people to have more 
control and independence in their lives.

4.6 In order to realise this ambition, we need to address a number of longstanding 
issues. We will work across government and with local and national partners to 
develop a clear programme of action and by the end of this year, we will set out 
clear commitments as part of our response to this Green Paper consultation.

Planning for young people’s futures
4.7 At the heart of our proposed reforms is a single assessment process and 

‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ bringing together support for children and 
young people from birth to 25, and focusing on outcomes beyond school or 
college. All young people can feel anxious or unprepared for their future as adults, 
particularly if they face additional challenges related to SEN or being disabled. 
Discussions about their future beyond school could start as early as Year 7, 
helping young people to make good choices about their life after school.

4.8 Ofsted found that many parents and carers of disabled young people and young 
people with SEN are not clear about the range of possibilities open to their child 
post-18, nor are young people themselves.106

106 Ofsted (2010)

Page 152



82 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

‘My son has been getting ready to be 18 for 17 years and we still don’t know 
what is available after school.’ 

Parent 

4.9 The Education Bill, currently before Parliament, includes provisions giving schools 
responsibility for securing access to independent, impartial careers guidance for 
their students, including those with SEN or who are disabled. In time, we intend 
that this duty should be extended to colleges. In addition to careers guidance, 
young people may benefit from links between schools and employers, ‘tasters’ of 
courses and careers, and ‘next step’ events, so that they and their parents are 
aware of all the options open to them. 

4.10 Local authorities will retain their duties to provide young people (and young 
adults with learning difficulties or disabilities up to the age of 25) with targeted 
support to enable them to participate in education or training. The Learning and 
Skills Improvement Service (LSIS) is developing resources to support colleges and 
other providers to deliver effective careers support and will be doing further work 
on careers support for those who are disabled or have mental health problems. 

4.11 Some areas already have effective arrangements for supporting transition, with 
well coordinated planning and advice. Evidence shows that this makes a positive 
difference to young people’s futures.107 We intend to build on existing good 
practice and developments from approaches such as the Transition Support 
Programme, which has sought to improve outcomes and coordinate services for 
disabled young people in transition to adult life, as well as the 12 Getting A Life 
demonstration sites. These sites have used person-centred planning to bring 
together support from across children’s and adult social care, education, health 
and employment support to enable young people with severe learning disabilities 
leaving education to achieve paid employment and fulfilling lives. We will use 
learning from these approaches to raise aspirations and set an expectation for the 
way in which services should support this group of young people to make a
successful transition to adulthood. In the meantime, we will publish tools and 
materials from Getting A Life and other elements of Valuing People Now 
employment activity for local areas to use. 

107 Commission for Social Care Inspection (2007) 

Page 153



Preparing for adulthood 83 

Case study: Beacon Hill School, Thurrock 
Beacon Hill School in Thurrock has adopted a whole-school personalised 
approach to equip, prepare and excite young people with severe learning 
disabilities and profound and multiple learning difficulties and their families 
about their future opportunities. 

All young people transferring to Key Stage 4 are encouraged and supported to 
make a DVD and display that tells their story, who they are, what they like and 
dislike, and what their hopes and aspirations are. The DVD and display are 
shared at the start of the Year 9 review and give professionals valuable 
information about the young person. The person centred review process is 
adapted to meet needs, with the full involvement of the young person and 
family and anyone else who supports them to gain the views of the young 
person particularly where there is no verbal expression. Feedback is sought 
from all on the process. Personalised accreditation routes are identified 
from this. 

An individual transition programme is planned for each student in the summer 
term before they move to the post-16 unit and some familiar teaching 
assistants move with the students. The same approach applies when the 
student moves on post-19 to personalised supported programmes or college. 
Transition to a new setting is planned carefully and over time with regular 
visits, as well as social activities, for new staff to see the students in a range of 
situations. 

All students in Year 10 take part in a two week block of work experience, 
leading to Year 11 students being given the opportunity to follow a 
personalised work experience programme for one day or half-a-day a week. 
Students select what they want to do and placements are found in a variety of 
settings including catering, retail, and working with animals. Students from 
Key Stage 4 and post-16 are also given the opportunity to work with a local 
independent resource centre to take part in a work preparation programme 
before choosing placements. As a result of this personalised approach, 
students have become much more independent and autonomous in their 
learning. They also have more of a voice and feel empowered to make 
themselves heard. 

A broad range of education and learning opportunities 
4.12 We want all young people with SEN or who are disabled to be able to access 

education and training so that at each stage of their education they are able to 
progress by building on what has gone before. We want to see a greater focus on 
outcomes, particular employment, currently something that is often lacking. 
Ofsted noted that: ‘A great deal still needs to be done to ensure that, at Year 11, all 
young people had real choices. For many of those with complex learning difficulties 
and or disabilities at the age of 16 and over, the choices of courses and other 
opportunities were very limited.’108 Ofsted is carrying out further work focused on 
the sector providing for young people with learning difficulties and disabilities 

108 Ofsted (2010) 

Page 154



84 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

over the age of 16, and the Department for Education will take account of its 
findings. 

4.13 Whether young people stay in education or learn at work, perhaps through an 
apprenticeship, continuing to learn post-16 has positive effects on their future 
income, health and wellbeing. That is why we are raising the participation age for 
young people so that everyone has the opportunity to continue in education or 
training, including disabled young people and young people with SEN who are 
currently disproportionately likely not to be in education, employment or training. 
From 2013 all young people will continue in education or training to age 17, and 
from 2015 they will continue to age 18. 

4.14 This full participation in education or training will mean that schools, colleges and 
training providers will have to adapt to the demands of more young people with 
SEN or who are disabled remaining in education or training post-16. Through the 
Spending Review process, we have ensured that there is funding for sufficient 
places in education and training to enable all young people to participate. 

4.15 Where the costs of meeting young people’s support needs, including the needs of 
disabled young people or those with SEN, are below £5,500 a year, colleges are 
able to use the Additional Learner Support funds provided to them for this 
purpose. The Department for Education will explore how this fund is being used 
to support young people aged 16 to19, identifying where best practice has had a 
positive impact on both educational and life outcomes. 

Question 33: What more can education and training providers do to ensure 
that disabled young people and young people with SEN are able to 
participate in education or training post-16? 

4.16 The Department for Business, Innovation and Skills has set out how it will fund a 
better range of high quality education and training for young people aged 19 to 
25 in the investment strategy for further education and skills, Investing in Skills for 
Sustainable Growth. In addition, the proposals set out in chapter three of this 
Green Paper for increasing the knowledge of the further education workforce will 
build their confidence in teaching young people with SEN, enabling colleges to 
offer improved support and access to mainstream courses and opportunities. 

4.17 Professor Alison Wolf’s independent review of vocational education 
recommended incentivising young people to take the most valuable vocational 
qualifications pre-16; introducing principles to guide study programmes for 
young people on vocational routes post-16; evaluating the delivery structure and 
content of apprenticeships to ensure they deliver the right skills for the workplace; 
making sure the regulatory framework moves quickly away from accrediting 
individual qualifications to regulating awarding organisations; removing the 
requirement that all qualifications offered to 14- to 19-year-olds fit within the 
Qualifications and Credit Framework and enabling FE lecturers and professionals 
to teach in schools, ensuring young people are being taught by those best suited 
to teach them.109 The Department for Education will build on the findings of the 
Wolf Review of vocational education to improve vocational and work-related 
learning options for young people aged 14 to 25 with SEN or who are disabled. 

109 Wolf (2011) 

Page 155



Preparing for adulthood 85 

4.18 We know that, for disabled young people and young people with SEN, taking part 
in high quality, appropriate and tailored work experience opportunities can be 
crucial to their successful transition to adulthood.110 For some young people, 
experience of work and on-the-job training is more likely to help them secure 
employment than qualifications or classroom-based learning. Too often, these 
opportunities are not available or do not offer a structured and supported 
approach that genuinely helps the young person to make progress. 

4.19 We want more disabled young people and young people with SEN to be able to 
have constructive experiences of the world of work while they are still at school, 
to help prepare them for the transition to adult life. We will promote innovative 
practice such as that seen in some of the Getting A Life sites, where young people 
with learning disabilities receive help and support to enable them to access paid 
work in the evenings and at weekends. 

4.20 The National Citizen Service is a new six to eight-week programme that will bring 
16-year-olds from different backgrounds together in a residential and home-
based programme of activity including volunteering that will enable them to 
develop as individuals and make a difference in their communities through direct 
social action. It will help to build the confidence of young people with SEN or who 
are disabled, and they will have the opportunity to access the National Citizen 
Service when they are ready, up to the age of 25, recognising that some of them 
may not be ready at age 16. 

4.21 We anticipate that some disabled young people and young people with SEN will 
take part in the National Citizen Service pilots from 2011, and the Department for 
Education and the Cabinet Office have selected lead pilot providers partly on the 
basis of their approach to supporting young people with additional needs. The 
Department will monitor the national roll-out of the National Citizen Service and 
learn from the pilots to make sure that disabled young people and young people 
with SEN can participate at the right time for them. 

4.22 Higher education helps many young people fulfil their potential, and the 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills will help disabled students with 
talent and ability to access higher education through appropriate targeted 
funding and support. The Department is establishing a new framework, with 
increased responsibility on universities to widen participation in higher education. 
It has also established a new £150 million National Scholarship Programme, which 
forms part of a package of measures (including the pupil premium) to support 
disadvantaged young people to achieve at school or college and turn that into 
success at university. One of the national criteria for the programme will be 
support for disabled students. 

4.23 Within Skills for Sustainable Growth and Investing in Skills for Sustainable Growth 
the Government has set out the overall vision for informal adult and community 
learning. We have confirmed that within the Adult Safeguarded Learning budget 
of £210 million each year, informal adult and community learning will be 
protected. During 2011, the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills will 
work with stakeholders and partners to reform informal adult and community 
learning so that it helps build the Big Society, through learning for personal, 

110 Beyer et al (2008) 

Page 156



86 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

family or community development and engages, motivates and supports the 
most disadvantaged people in our communities, including people with learning 
difficulties and disabilities, to learn and progress. 

Employment opportunities and support 
4.24 Too often, disabled people living in poverty may want to work but can’t because 

they don’t have the right support at the right time. Employment rates for disabled 
young people remain too low, and those with moderate to severe learning 
disabilities are even less likely to be employed.111 Although young people with 
more complex needs can face additional challenges finding and securing work, 
creative and innovative approaches can support them to make a valuable 
contribution to society. Here we set out our approach to helping disabled young 
people and young people with SEN find and retain work, working with employers 
and ensuring that our welfare reforms are sufficiently flexible to support young 
disabled people effectively. 

4.25 For many disabled people work is the best route out of poverty and we are 
determined to do all we can to ensure that everyone who can participate in work 
has the opportunity to do so. This is why we are radically overhauling the benefits 
system and creating an innovative new Work Programme. We will focus on what 
people can do, not on what they cannot. And where a person’s health condition 
or disability means they are not able to undertake work related activity, we will 
provide unconditional support. Taken together, we believe these changes will 
increase employment opportunities for disabled people and reduce benefit 
dependency. Disabled young people and young people with SEN will have a 
range of support available to them. 

4.26 Complicated welfare regulations can act as a barrier to employment,112 and the 
Department for Work and Pensions is introducing the Universal Credit in 2013 to 
simplify the system and to make work pay. The Department for Work and 
Pensions will work with stakeholders – including those with expertise in SEN 
and disability – to ensure that our welfare reforms, and in particular the 
development of the Universal Credit, are flexible enough to support young 
people with SEN or who are disabled as they attempt to find work. The 
Department for Work and Pensions will establish a working group including SEN 
and disability representatives to inform the development and implementation of 
the Universal Credit over the next few years. 

4.27 A key barrier for many disabled young people and young people with SEN 
entering work is the lack of available support.113 The duration and intensity of that 
support will vary depending on their specific needs. Some disabled young people 
and young people with SEN may require occasional additional help when learning 
new tasks, whereas others may need help from an appropriately skilled supported 
employment practitioner such as a job coach trained in systematic instruction 
who can help break down tasks into simple steps. Ofsted found that high quality 
employment support can have a considerable impact on young people’s 

111 Labour Force Survey (2010) and NHS Information Centre for health and social care (2008) 
112 Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2002) 
113 Beyer et al (2008)  

Page 157



Preparing for adulthood 87 

aspirations and careers,114 and the Government will publish guidelines for 
supported employment and job coaching later this year. Investment in good 
quality employment support can save local authorities money,115 and we will 
continue to work with local partners on how they can use their resources 
differently to fund this type of support. 

4.28 Jobcentre Plus will ensure that disabled young people receive support to get back 
to work which is tailored to their particular circumstances. This includes access to 
the Work Experience offer, launched in January this year, which will enable young 
people aged 18 to 21 who have little or no recent work history to volunteer for 
work placements lasting between two and eight weeks with a host employer. 
Disabled young people will be able to access the Work Programme or, where their 
support needs are more complex, specialist disability programmes such as Work 
Choice. These programmes will have the freedom to design tailor-made back-to
work support built around the needs of the individual, and providers will be 
incentivised to focus their resources on those people who need more support to 
find and stay in work. The Department for Work and Pensions’ evaluation of Work 
Choice will investigate the experiences and outcomes of disabled people looking 
for work and will report from 2012-13. 

4.29 Jobcentre Plus is also modernising the way it delivers its services. Responsibility is 
being handed back to the Jobcentre Plus advisers who work with customers day 
in, day out, to assess customers’ individual needs and offer them the support they 
need. Disability Employment Advisers offer extra employment support for people 
who need it because of a disability, and the Department for Work and Pensions 
will explore how the role of Disability Employment Advisers might be used 
more effectively to help disabled young people and young people with SEN 
make a smooth transition from learning to the world of work. 

Question 34: When disabled young people and young people with SEN 
choose to move directly from school or college into the world of work, how 
can we make sure this is well planned and who is best placed to support 
them? 

4.30 We know that services working together to provide skilled employment support 
and clear pathways into work can be effective in helping young people with 
learning disabilities into paid employment. Evidence from strands of our 
employment strategy for people with learning disabilities, including Getting A Life 
and Jobs First demonstrate this.116 We will publish shortly learning from these 
approaches. We will explore whether we could introduce supported internships 
for those for whom an apprenticeship may not be a realistic aim, including 
enabling retirees to volunteer to train as job coaches. For young people with 
learning difficulties and autism we have made it possible for more areas to seek 
licences to run the Project Search model where young people take a one-year 
school or college course via an internship with a large employer, alongside 
support from a job coach, to help them find work there or with another employer. 

114 Ofsted (2010)  
115 Kilsby and Beyer (2010) 
116 DH Valuing People Now Summary Report (March 2009 – September 2010) 

Page 158



88 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Question 35: Do you agree that supported internships would provide young 
people for whom an apprenticeship may not be a realistic aim with 
meaningful work opportunities? How might they work best? 

4.31 Apprenticeships are paid jobs, with training designed by employers offering skills, 
experience and recognised qualifications that businesses value, and that can lead 
to higher-level education and skills. In order to improve access to apprenticeships, 
we are working with a group of external experts to develop ways in which 
disabled young people and young people with SEN can demonstrate their 
suitability for an apprenticeship through alternative forms of evidence, other than 
qualifications. The National Apprenticeship Service is funding 16 Diversity in 
Apprenticeship pilots starting in 2011, forecast to involve up to 5,000 apprentices, 
to test new ways of helping under-represented groups, including disabled young 
people, succeed in apprenticeships. 

4.32 Some employers have a clear focus on the capabilities of disabled young people 
and provide them with good opportunities to demonstrate their capabilities in 
the workplace. We will work with employers of all sizes to champion the 
benefits of employing disabled people, build on their existing good practice 
and ensure that their advice and input inform our thinking as we develop our 
ideas further. As part of this work, we will explore with employers and others how 
we might recognise achievements in this field and increase work experience 
placement opportunities for young students who are disabled or who have SEN, 
in order to build their confidence and to help change the attitudes of employers, 
managers and staff. 

4.33 The Department for Work and Pensions is working with employers to develop 
their understanding of the support disabled people might need and to tackle 
some of the myths around employing disabled people. It will continue its work, 
already under way through the Work Programme, to engage employers and listen 
to their views on how we can help them to provide employment and work 
experience opportunities for disabled people. 

Question 36: How can employers be encouraged to offer constructive work 
experience and job opportunities to disabled young people and young 
people with SEN? 

A coordinated transition to adult health services 
4.34 The experience of adult health services can feel very different for young people 

moving on from using children’s health services, and this transition can 
sometimes feel like a ‘cliff-edge’ for many disabled young people, especially those 
with complex health needs. A poorly managed transition can lead to deterioration 
in the young person’s health.117 Coordination through the transition from 
children’s to adult health services is normally provided by a paediatrician in 
children’s services but is often difficult to find in adult health services. 

4.35 The GP maintains the medical link with the young person through their transition 
to adulthood, and the Kennedy Review emphasised the need for GPs to take a 

117 DH Transition: Getting it right for young people (2006) 

Page 159



Preparing for adulthood 89 

more active role in the care of disabled children.118 Planning for health needs is 
integral to effective transition planning, so that a young person’s health needs can 
be taken into account when considering the wider support they require in relation 
to independent living and employment. 

4.36 Annual health checks by GPs have been used to improve care for learning 
disabled adults over the past three years. These checks have been an effective 
way of identifying unmet health needs so that they can be dealt with, and have 
also helped to improve information sharing and multi-agency working.119 For 
young people starting to use adult services, these checks could help with 
providing continuity and to re-introduce the young person to the primary care 
service. The Department of Health will explore how to improve joint working 
across children’s and adult health services for young people aged 16 to 25. As 
part of this, the Department will explore the feasibility of GPs providing annual 
health checks for all disabled young people from the age of 16. 

Question 37: How do you think joint working across children’s and adult 
health services for young people aged 16 to 25 could be improved? 

Question 38: As the family doctor, how could the GP play a greater role in 
managing a smooth transition for a disabled young person from children’s to 
adult health services? 

4.37 We want to enable young disabled people to take as much ownership of their 
healthcare as possible. Approaches such as the Expert Patients Programme could 
help them build self-esteem and independence. And approaches such as Health 
Action Plans (which set out what a young person can do to remain healthy) and 
Health Passports (which help to inform health staff of key details about the young 
person) can help them to get the best out of adult healthcare. 

4.38 We know that the transition for young people moving from child and adolescent 
mental health to adult mental health services can be particularly difficult, 
especially because referral and treatment thresholds often vary between the 
two.120 Our mental health strategy, No health without mental health, promotes 
early planning for transition, listening to young people and the importance of 
providing appropriate and accessible information and advice so that young 
people can exercise choice effectively and participate in decisions about which 
services they receive. 

4.39 Working with national partners, the Department of Health is funding support for 
services to improve the experience of young people moving from child and 
adolescent to adult mental health services. This will provide practical tools and 
materials for commissioners and service providers, and information for young 
people and their families, so that they know what to expect, their rights, and how 
to access appropriate support. 

4.40 The Learning and Skills Improvement Service is working with the further 
education sector on effective support for learners with mental health problems, 

118 Kennedy (2010) 
119 DH ‘Six Lives’ Progress Report (2010) 
120 CAMHS Review (2008) 

Page 160



90 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

and is continuing the Healthy FE programme to support the health and wellbeing 
of young people in further education, including those with mental health 
problems, SEN or who are disabled. 

4.41 The adult autism strategy, Fulfilling and rewarding lives, and its accompanying 
guidance for health and social care, Implementing fulfilling and rewarding lives, set 
out the building blocks for a smooth and successful transition to adult services for 
those who have been diagnosed with autism, including Asperger syndrome, as 
children. 

Support for independent living 
4.42 Education, employment and health are all key to giving young people the skills 

and confidence to live as independently as possible. In the Call for Views, parents, 
young people and SEN and disability sector organisations asked for better links 
and support for adult living, including: clarity about the thresholds for support 
from adult services; an improved focus on life skills and skills for work; and the 
involvement of the young person and their family in planning for the future.121 

4.43 Disabled young people want the same opportunities as non-disabled young 
people: to plan where they will live, enjoy their leisure time, travel and train for 
work. Where they don’t have these opportunities, young people can become 
isolated, can feel less independent and this can detrimentally affect their health. 
Some areas already help young people to plan effectively for this next step in their 
lives, and some young people are using a personal budget to purchase support 
that enables them to live independently. However, we know that young people 
often don’t get what they need in order to live independently and may receive 
poor information.122 

4.44 During adolescence, young people go through a period of rapid physical and 
emotional development. They become increasingly independent, form new 
relationships and can face pressure to engage in risky behaviour and start 
drinking and smoking. Young people with SEN or who are disabled may require 
different or additional personal, social and health education to help them make 
safe and healthy choices, form positive relationships and know where to go for 
further advice and support. For example, some young people with learning 
difficulties may need specific help to understand appropriate physical contact, 
how their behaviour may impact on other people’s feelings, or what to do if 
somebody touches them in a way that they think is wrong or they do not like. 
There is already a wide range of resources available from the voluntary and 
community sector to support young people, schools and parents. 

4.45 Too many care leavers are expected to cope with independent living too early and 
without proper support. Where disabled and vulnerable care leavers transfer to 
and become the responsibility of adult social care services, local authority leaving 

121 Out of 1247 responses to the Call for Views question ‘How can we improve the transition from school to adult life 
for young people with special educational needs and disabilities and the support provided for their families 
throughout?’, 39 per cent called for better coordination between children’s and adult services; 23 per cent called 
for a stronger focus on teaching life skills; 21 per cent thought that post-16 training and career opportunities 
should be improved; 18 per cent called for early planning for transition to adulthood; 16 per cent wanted more 
involvement of children in planning their future; and 15 per cent called for clearer information to parents. 

122 Sloper et al (2011) 

Page 161



Preparing for adulthood 91 

care teams and personal advisers have an important role to play to make sure that 
the young person knows what funding and support are available and how to 
access them. And from April 2011 we will be implementing provision in the 
Children and Young Persons Act 2008 which allows care leavers to resume their 
entitlement to leaving care support up to the age of 25 where they take up 
education or training. 

4.46 We recognise the important role that cash benefits such as Disability Living 
Allowance play in supporting disabled young people from age 16 onwards to 
overcome the barriers they face. We are committed to simplifying the benefits 
system to ensure that it is fair and sustainable and supports disabled people to 
live full and active independent lives. From 2013, the Disability Living Allowance 
will be replaced with a Personal Independence Payment, a new, more active and 
enabling benefit which will take account of changes in individual circumstances 
and the impact of disability, as well as wider changes in society such as social 
attitudes and equality legislation. 

Case study: The City of York Council 
The City of York Council runs a scheme for young people to develop the skills 
and knowledge for independent travel. Travel training is built into the 
curriculum at the local secondary special school and whole class travel training 
is included. Students progress to an individual travel plan enabling them to 
gradually move from taxis to school or college to independent travel by 
walking, cycling or using public transport. 

Feedback from participating young people included that they had developed 
their independence, confidence and self-esteem, and that they felt safer, more 
adult and more able to socialise by travelling on buses. Parents reported that 
the service provided more independence and freedom for their child and 
flexibility for the family. 

Building travel into the multi-agency transition team helps to ensure that the 
holistic needs of young people are included in transition plans. The travel 
team are planning to share the learning and approaches with families to 
support wider independence beyond school. The travel team have plans to 
use a similar approach with older adults to increase their social mobility and 
independent travel. 

4.47 Transition to adulthood for disabled young people covers curriculum choices in 
school, external interests and also planning for life after school. Many local areas 
provide support for young people to achieve independent living; this may include 
training in independent travel, preparation for college, linking their interests to 
employment, maintaining friendships after school, and future accommodation or 
housing plans. We want discussions about independent living to become a 
standard and early part of the transition process, and we will reflect this in our 
forthcoming disability strategy. 

Page 162



92 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

4.48 However, for a small number of young people, independent living may not be 
possible, and their families may be anxious about their ongoing care 
responsibilities. For these young people, we want to ensure the best quality of life 
with support for them to fulfil their potential and support for their parents and 
carers. Carers, including life-long carers, make a valuable contribution to those 
they care for and to society. Our priorities for supporting carers are set out in 
Recognised, valued and supported: next steps for the Carers Strategy. 

4.49 Some young people will continue to require social care during adulthood. We set 
out our plans for adult social care at the end of last year in A Vision for Adult Social 
Care: Capable Communities and Active Citizens. These plans included the extension 
of personal budgets, increasing preventative action to keep people independent, 
breaking down barriers between health and social care funding, and encouraging 
care and support to be delivered in partnership between individuals and services. 

4.50 Many of the problems with the system to support young people with SEN or who 
are disabled are complicated and longstanding. We must tackle these in order to 
provide young people with the best possible opportunities, but we are clear that 
this is not an easy task. We have set out proposals, many of which involve further 
work over the coming months across government and with local and national 
partners. Following the Green Paper consultation we will set out in more detail, by 
the end of this year, clear commitments to ensure that disabled young people and 
young people with SEN receive the best possible support as they prepare for their 
lives as adults. 

Question 39: Do you agree that our work supporting disabled young people 
and young people with SEN to prepare for adulthood should focus on these 
areas: ensuring a broad range of learning opportunities; moving into 
employment; independent living; and transition to adult health services? 
What else should we consider? 

Page 163



Services working together for families 93

5  Services working 
together for families

Chapter summary
5.1 The reforms we set out in this Green Paper aim to provide families with 

confidence in, and greater control over, the services that they use and receive. 
For too many parents, their expectations that services will provide 
comprehensive packages of support that are tailored to the specific needs of 
their child and their family are not matched by their experiences, just as 
frontline professionals too often are hampered and frustrated by excessively 
bureaucratic processes and complex funding systems. 

5.2 Rather than directing change from Whitehall, we want to make it easier for 
professionals and services to work together, and we want to create the 
conditions that encourage innovative and collaborative ways of providing 
better support for children, young people and families. The proposals in this 
chapter would mean that:

by developing stronger local strategic planning and commissioning 
arrangements, local authorities and local health services will play a pivotal 
role in ensuring that children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled receive high quality support, and that parents are able to make 
informed choices about what is right for their family;

frontline professionals will have the freedom to work together to develop 
better services for children, young people and families; and

the way in which services for children and young people with SEN or who 
are disabled are funded will facilitate integrated and collaborative 
approaches by local professionals, be more transparent to parents, and 
secure better value for money.

5.3 To work towards this we propose to:

work with the health sector and with the new Health and Wellbeing Boards 
to consider how the needs of children and young people with SEN or who 
are disabled can best be taken into account through the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment, joint health and wellbeing strategies, guidelines and 
standards from the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence 
(NICE), and health service outcomes frameworks;

work with the GP consortia pathfinders to explore the best ways of 
providing support for the commissioning of healthcare services for children 
and young people with SEN or who are disabled and their families;

Page 164



94 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability

reduce bureaucratic burdens by simplifying and improving the statutory 
guidance for all professionals working with children and young people from 
birth to 25 with SEN or who are disabled so that it is clear, accessible and 
helpful, and withdrawing guidance that does not provide useful support to 
professionals;

work with the educational psychology profession and local commissioners 
to review the future training arrangements for educational psychologists;

encourage greater collaboration between local professionals and services 
and across local boundaries;

extend the freedom and flexibility with which funding can be used locally;

provide targeted funding to voluntary and community sector organisations 
that have a strong track record of delivering high quality services, and 
publish a national SEN and disabilities voluntary and community sector 
prospectus that will set out the key areas in which we will make further 
funding available to voluntary and community sector organisations;

work with a group of local authorities to explore whether and how a national 
banded framework for funding provision for children and young people with 
SEN or who are disabled could improve transparency to parents while 
continuing to allow for local flexibility; and

explore how the different funding arrangements for special educational 
provision pre-16 and post-16 might be aligned more effectively so as to 
provide a more consistent approach to support for children and young 
people from birth to 25. 

5.4 This chapter sets our proposals for enabling local leaders and frontline 
professionals to shape and deliver responsive, integrated and high quality local 
services that give parents greater confidence in and control over the support their 
family receives. In this chapter, we set out the pivotal role that local authorities 
and local health services will play in delivering the reforms set out in this Green 
Paper, including shaping the strategic planning and commissioning of local 
services. We go on to propose ways of reducing bureaucratic burdens on 
professionals in order to create conditions that encourage collaboration between 
professionals and services within and across local areas, as well as the 
development of innovative and high quality local services. An important 
contribution to this will be ensuring that there is local freedom and flexibility 
across services in the use of funding, and in this chapter we explain how we 
propose to create an approach to funding services for children with SEN or who 
are disabled that will facilitate joint working and be transparent to parents.

Page 165



Services working together for families 95 

Local authorities and local health services will play a 
pivotal role in delivering change for children, young 
people and families 
5.5 Local authorities and local health services will play a pivotal role in delivering 

change for children and young people with SEN or who are disabled, and enabling 
local professionals to work together to put in place integrated packages of 
support for families. 

5.6 Local authorities have a democratic mandate to champion the interests of their 
local communities and ensure that services work effectively for children, young 
people and families. The Schools White Paper, The Importance of Teaching, sets out 
the strong strategic role that local authorities will play in the new school system, 
acting as the champions for parents and families, vulnerable children, and 
educational excellence. 

5.7 As reforms of the school system and health services come into effect, the role of 
local authorities is likely to change. For children and young people with SEN or 
who are disabled and their families, there will be three core features of the local 
authority role: 

strategic planning for services that meet the needs of local communities:
working with local partners (for example, through the Health and Wellbeing 
Boards in drawing up the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment), local authorities 
are uniquely placed to maintain a strategic overview of the needs of their local 
communities and to ensure that local services reflect these needs;123 

securing a range of high quality provision for children and young people 
with SEN or who are disabled: as local authorities move to a more strategic 
commissioning role, they will need to work collaboratively with a range of 
providers to secure high quality provision for children and young people with 
SEN or who are disabled, and to identify and challenge services that are letting 
down families;124 and 

enabling families to make informed choices and exercise greater control 
over services: local authorities will set out the local offer of provision for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled and their families, 
to help them make choices about what is right for them and exercise greater 
control over the services that their family receives, including, as we set out in 
chapter two, through the use of personal budgets.125 

5.8 In addition to carrying out these key strategic responsibilities, local authorities will 
continue to play a vital role in supporting individual children and young people 
with SEN or who are disabled and their families. As we set out in chapter one, 
working with partner agencies, local services and professionals, and the voluntary 
and community sector, local authorities will continue to play an integral part in 
identifying and assessing children’s SEN, ensuring that children and young people 

123 Ofsted (2010) and Audit Commission (2007) 
124 Ofsted (2010) and PricewaterhouseCoopers (2009) 
125 Lamb (2009) and Penfold et al (2009) 

Page 166



96 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

receive the full range of services that they need, and reviewing and monitoring 
their progress and development. 

Question 40: We have identified three core features of the role of local 
authorities in supporting children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled and their families: strategic planning for services, securing a range 
of high quality provision, and enabling families to make informed choices 
and exercise greater control over services. Do you agree that these are the 
three core features of the role of local authorities in supporting children and 
young people with SEN or who are disabled and their families, or are there 
others? 

Question 41: How can central government enable and support local 
authorities to carry out their role effectively? 

5.9 We know that it is essential that local authorities work effectively and 
collaboratively with local health services. That is why our health reforms envisage 
new local Health and Wellbeing Boards bringing together leading local 
councillors, the NHS, public health services, and local authority education and 
social care services. The new Boards will develop and maintain a joint analysis of 
the needs of their local community, which takes account of the views of children 
and adults who use local services. This analysis, called the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, will shape the development of health and wellbeing strategies and 
commissioning plans for local authorities and local GP consortia. 

5.10 Through the work of the Health and Wellbeing Boards, local authorities and local 
health services will have a key role in ensuring that the health needs of all children 
and young people with SEN or who are disabled and their families are taken into 
account. The Department of Health will work with the health sector and with 
the new Health and Wellbeing Boards, as they develop, to consider how the 
needs of all children and young people, including those with SEN or who are 
disabled, can best be taken into account through the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, joint health and wellbeing strategies, guidelines and standards 
from NICE, and health service outcomes frameworks.

5.11 This work will include identifying how aggregated intelligence from individual 
plans, such as the new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’, should be used to inform 
strategic commissioning of services for children and young people through the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. It will inform a detailed development support 
document for Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and joint health and wellbeing 
strategies, which will be co-produced with local government and the NHS, 
building on existing experience, and published later this year. 

5.12 Our health reforms will give GP consortia a central role in the commissioning of 
health services. It will be vital that GP consortia have the necessary expertise to 
commission healthcare services for children with SEN or who are disabled and 
their families. The Department of Health will work with GP consortia pathfinders 
to explore the best ways of providing support for the commissioning of 
healthcare services for children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled and their families.

Page 167



Services working together for families 97 

Question 42: What would be the best way to provide advice to GP consortia 
to support their commissioning of services for children and young people 
with SEN or who are disabled and their families? 

5.13 We know that it is important that the views of children, young people and 
families, and their experiences of local services, are taken into account by 
commissioners when considering how to develop and improve local services. 
Our health reforms propose that a new organisation is created to act as a voice for 
the interests of local communities in relation to health and social care services. 
This new body, HealthWatch, will be one of several channels through which 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled and their families, can 
influence the development of local health and social care services, for example by 
presenting the views of the local community to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
in order to inform local strategic and commissioning decisions. 

5.14 In rural areas, communities are smaller and more dispersed, and facilities such as 
schools and GP surgeries tend to be fewer and further apart. This can present 
challenges when it comes to ensuring that children and young people are able 
to access schools and that families receive the support services that they need, 
particularly for families without their own transport or for whom there are fewer 
public transport options available. It is important for local strategic planning and 
commissioning to take account of the needs and choices of all families in the local 
area, including those in rural areas. 

5.15 While it is vital that the planning of services is informed by and reflects the needs 
and choices of local communities, it equally important that services can be held 
accountable for the quality and effectiveness of the support they provide. We 
have set out in chapter three the ways in which we propose to strengthen school 
accountability for the progress of pupils, including those with SEN. Our reforms of 
the health service will also introduce a stronger focus on improving outcomes for 
children, young people and families, with new outcomes frameworks for the NHS 
and public health.126 The Department of Health welcomes views on how outcomes 
for disabled children can best be reflected within the further development of 
these frameworks, and how these can inform and incentivise the NHS, local 
authorities and other partners to ensure local services meet the needs of children 
and young people. 

Question 43: What would be the most appropriate indicators to include in 
the NHS and public health outcomes frameworks in the future to allow us to 
measure outcomes for children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled? 

Reducing bureaucratic burdens on professionals 
5.16 As well as encouraging better strategic planning and commissioning of services 

that are responsive to local needs, we know that parents want services to focus on 
helping children and young people fulfil their potential, rather than following 
bureaucratic processes. In order to achieve this we need to strip away unnecessary 
bureaucratic burdens on professionals.127 

126 The consultation on the proposed public health outcomes framework closes on 31 March 2011. 
127 DfE Call for Views (2010) 

Page 168



98 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

5.17 We know from the responses to our Call for Views that the SEN statutory 
framework in its current form is bureaucratic and complicated, and does not 
reflect recent developments in teaching practice.128 Parents tell us that the 
bureaucracy involved can make the process of securing the right package of 
support for their child and their family complex and daunting. Professionals tell us 
that improving and streamlining these processes, particularly those relating to 
carrying out statutory assessments, and cutting down bureaucratic burdens 
would enable them to spend more of their time working directly with children 
and families.129 

5.18 Currently, there is extensive primary and secondary legislation relating to children 
and young people with SEN or who are disabled from birth to 25, as well the 
statutory guidance for professionals in the SEN Code of Practice and Inclusive 
Schooling (2001), and the statutory guidance on section 139a learning difficulty 
assessments for young people aged from 16 to 25. 

5.19 While we will reduce bureaucracy, we know that it is important for professionals 
to have a clear understanding of their duties in relation to children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled and, where it is considered helpful, to be 
able to access straightforward, practical advice on carrying out these duties. We 
know that it is important for parents to have a clear and accessible explanation 
of the current statutory framework and who within it is responsible for what.130 

5.20 Therefore, we will simplify and improve the statutory guidance for all 
professionals working with children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled from birth to 25 so that it is clear, accessible and helpful, and we will 
withdraw guidance that does not provide useful support. We propose to retain 
a SEN Code of Practice that will continue to provide practical advice for local 
authorities, maintained schools, Academies, Free Schools, early education settings 
and others in carrying out their statutory duties and in meeting the needs of 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled. We aim to modernise 
and improve the Code of Practice by shortening it and incorporating into it other 
guidance that is considered helpful to professionals, and we will review and 
update the Code of Practice to reflect reforms introduced following this 
Green Paper. 

5.21 If schools are to take advantage of the greater freedoms we outlined in chapter 
two and to pioneer new approaches to teaching and learning, we need to reduce 
the burdens that are currently placed on our schools, particularly on SENCOs. 

5.22 We know that parents value the use of non-statutory Individual Education Plans 
(IEPs), which are recommended by the Code of Practice. In the period since 2001, 
when the Code was last revised and published, we know that many schools have 
developed new approaches to planning, reviewing and tracking the progress of 
all pupils that have enabled them to achieve what IEPs aimed to do without many 
of the associated bureaucratic burdens. These approaches have included new 
ways of tracking pupil progress, involving pupils in setting their own targets, 

128 DfE Call for Views (2010) 
129 DfE Call for Views (2010) 
130 DfE Call for Views (2010) 

Page 169



Services working together for families 99 

engaging regularly and effectively with parents, and using individual profiles and 
provision mapping. 

5.23 In order to reduce bureaucratic burdens on schools, in reviewing and updating 
the Code of Practice, we will remove advice on using IEPs and encourage schools 
to explore the ways in which these and other new approaches can be used to 
enable pupils with SEN to develop, progress and fulfil their potential. 

Question 44: What are the ways in which the bureaucratic burdens on 
frontline professionals, schools and services can be reduced? 

5.24 Following work across all government departments, we are publishing a list of all 
statutory duties placed on local authorities, and we are seeking the views of local 
professionals as to how we can reduce bureaucratic burdens on local authorities. 
Responses to this will be considered alongside consultation responses to this 
Green Paper as we seek to strip away bureaucratic burdens and free up local 
professionals. 

Empowering local professionals to develop 
collaborative, innovative and high quality services 
5.25 By improving local strategic planning and reducing bureaucratic burdens, we aim 

to create the conditions in which local professionals are able to work together to 
pioneer innovative and more effective forms of support for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled and their families. 

5.26 Parents tell us that when individual services and agencies work together 
effectively, it can make a real difference to families’ experience and the quality of 
the support they receive, including how their needs are assessed.131 For parents of 
children with severe autism, for example, we know that joint working between the 
school, speech and language therapy services and short breaks providers is 
essential to meeting their child’s needs. 

5.27 This is why, as we have set out earlier in this Green Paper, we propose to explore 
how professionals can work together to assess children’s SEN, to plan how to 
provide the full range of support, and to provide parents with greater control over 
services for their family, including through a key worker and a personal budget. 

5.28 While there are many examples of local professionals and services working well 
together, we know that there are areas where better joint working between 
services would lead to more timely identification of SEN or disability and earlier 
intervention. For example, we know that not all disabled children and young 
people who need it are able to access a local community children’s nursing 
service. This can result in them staying in hospital longer or being admitted to 
hospital unnecessarily, parents not receiving the help and support they need to 
care for their children, and delays in accessing schooling. 

131 DfE Call for Views (2010), Campbell-Hall et al (2009), University of Manchester (2006) and Ofsted (2010) 

Page 170



100 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

5.29 To address this, the Department of Health will publish NHS at Home: Community 
Children’s Nursing Services. This will set out the key contributions community 
children’s nurses can make to pathways of care for disabled children and young 
people, in order to help both commissioners and providers improve services. 

Question 45: In addition to community nursing, what are the other areas 
where greater collaboration between frontline professionals could have the 
greatest positive impact on children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled and their families? 

Case study: The Rotherham Complex Health Needs Team 
The Rotherham Complex Health Needs Team is a nurse-led service providing 
support to children and young people with a long-term condition or life-
limiting or complex health needs that fits in with the child’s everyday life. 
The team consists of community children’s nurses, respite nurses and carers, 
specialist nurses in diabetes, oncology and palliative care, generic children’s 
healthcare assistants, special school nurses, an education nurse adviser, a 
discharge facilitator and a children and family counsellor. 

Five years ago, services looked very different. Staff groups were minimal, 
fractionalised, disparate and working in isolation. Children and families 
wanted support that fitted around their lives, families wanted their children 
to be able to access school with the same ease as children who were well, and 
they wanted confident nurses and carers who would walk their path with 
them. They wanted services that followed the child ‘wherever they may be’, 
were available 24 hours a day and seven days a week, and enabled access to 
on-call services. Many children were technology-dependent and could not 
access short breaks provision through social care. 

Currently, 658 children are being supported by the team. Feedback from 
children and families indicates that this nurse-led, integrated approach and 
the ability to follow the child ‘wherever they may be’ have ‘significantly 
improved continuity and quality of care’, ‘given assurance’ and ‘enhanced 
coping’. 

5.30 In addition to identifying children’s needs early and enabling parents to access 
the right support quickly, we know from the recent reviews carried out by John 
Bercow, Sir Jim Rose, Brian Lamb, Toby Salt and Ofsted that, where schools are 
able to draw on the advice and guidance provided by specialist support services, 
this can make a powerful difference to a child’s progress and their happiness in 
school.132 This includes services that help schools to identify and address pupils’ 
SEN before a statutory assessment or a statement of SEN is required, as well as 
support services that focus on low-incidence need, such as multi-sensory 
impairment, visual, hearing and physical impairment, profound and multiple 
learning difficulties, severe learning difficulties and autistic spectrum disorder. 

5.31 We know, however, that schools and colleges can find it difficult to access the 
range of additional support from external professionals that they need and when 

132 Bercow (2008), Rose (2009), Lamb (2009), Salt (2010), Ofsted (2006) and (2007) 

Page 171



Services working together for families 101 

they need it most. This includes, for example, advice and support from speech and 
language therapists, child and adolescent mental health services, and educational 
psychologists, as well as, as we set out in chapter three, in some instances places 
in alternative provision.133 

‘An increasing number of children and young people need professional mental 
health services and these are rarely sufficient. Schools and colleges need to be 
able to make referrals to such services and know that support will be 
available.’ 

Professional association 

5.32 In order to improve the specialist support and advice available to schools and 
other professionals working with children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled, we are supporting the work of the voluntary sector Trusts that bring 
together the key organisations for speech, language and communication needs, 
dyslexia and autism to offer information and training. Since the first was 
established in 2007, these Trusts – the Communication Trust, the Dyslexia Trust 
and the Autism Trust – have brought together the key organisations in each of 
their respective fields to share knowledge and expertise, and have a strong track 
record of providing specialist advice and support to parents, professionals, 
services and local leaders. 

5.33 Furthermore, we have asked organisations from the voluntary and community 
sector to help to improve the availability of specialist advice for parents and 
teachers in relation to specific impairments. This will complement the work to be 
carried out by the Training and Development Agency for Schools to commission 
online training materials to help teachers support the learning of pupils with a
range of SEN, as we set out in chapter three. 

5.34 In order to promote and support approaches to developing children’s speech, 
language and communication skills, in 2011 we are working with the 
Communication Trust and their partners to support Hello, the voluntary sector-led 
National Year of Communication. 

5.35 We also want to ensure that local services are able to meet the specific 
communication needs of children and young people. Some children and young 
people communicate with other people through electronic communication aids, 
referred to as augmentative and alternative communication aids (AAC). We know, 
however, that children and young people who require these high cost, high-tech 
aids can face a particular struggle to have their needs met under the current 
commissioning arrangements. 

5.36 Timely provision of such aids, along with the necessary training and aftercare, can 
make a great difference to a child’s quality of life, their relationships and their 
learning. Subject to parliamentary approval, the commissioning of highly 
specialised services, including AAC, will become a core responsibility of the NHS 
Commissioning Board. 

133 DfE Call for Views (2010) 

Page 172



102 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Question 46: What more do you think could be done to encourage and 
facilitate local services working together to improve support for children 
with SEN or who are disabled? 

5.37 We know it is important that schools and other education providers have access 
to specialist SEN support. This is why the Department for Education has acted to 
ensure that local authority funding for these services will not be affected by 
schools converting to Academy status in 2011-12. 

5.38 We announced in The Importance of Teaching that the Department for Education 
would undertake a review of school funding so that the funding system is fair, 
clear to understand, and carefully managed. The Department will publish a 
consultation on this in spring 2011, and will consider specifically how special 
educational provision for pupils with SEN in schools, Academies and Free Schools 
(mainstream and special), can be funded in a transparent, integrated and cost-
effective way. The review will also consider how high quality specialist support for 
pupils with SEN or who are disabled in schools, including Academies and Free 
Schools, might be funded most effectively from 2012-13 onwards. We would 
welcome views on this in order to inform the forthcoming consultation on school 
funding. 

Question 47: How do you think SEN support services might be funded so that 
schools, Academies, Free Schools and other education providers have access 
to high quality SEN support services? 

5.39 One important way that we can give greater freedom to the professionals who 
deliver public services, and greater choice to families who use them, is by 
enabling professionals to develop innovative delivery models such as mutuals, 
cooperatives and other types of employee-led organisations. We would like to 
encourage professionals to explore how applying these and other models could 
help to deliver better services for children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled and their families. 

Question 48: What are the innovative ways in which new models of 
employee-led organisations, such as mutuals and cooperatives, could 
improve services for children and young people with SEN and their families? 

Page 173



Services working together for families 103 

Supporting the development of a high quality speech 
and language therapy workforce 
5.40 We know that speech and language therapists can play a key role in supporting 

children and young people to develop their speech, language and 
communication skills working across a range of services and settings. In the 
context of growing numbers of speech and language therapists and numbers of 
children and young people who need their support, the Department of Health is 
considering currently the future training and development system for healthcare 
professionals, which includes speech and language therapists, through the 
consultation entitled Liberating the NHS: Developing the Healthcare Workforce.134 

The consultation sets out proposals for a new framework for planning and 
developing the healthcare workforce to ensure that there is the sufficient number 
of professionals providing a high quality service. 

5.41 The proposals are for transferring workforce functions from the Strategic Health 
Authorities to local healthcare providers, and the consultation proposes that local 
workforce planning and development is coordinated through skills networks that 
will bring together all providers of NHS services to plan for the future. A new 
national body, Health Education England (HEE), will be established to provide 
national oversight and leadership for workforce planning and education and 
training. HEE will take on the role currently carried out by the Allied Health 
Professions Professional Advisory Board, and may also have a role in 
commissioning education and training for smaller professions. 

5.42 This new framework will need to deliver: 

security of supply, having people with the right skills in the right place at the 
right time; 

responsiveness to patient needs and changing service models; 

high quality education and training that supports safe, high quality care and 
greater flexibility; 

value for money; and 

wider participation, greater diversity and equitable access to services and 
education, training and development opportunities. 

5.43 The consultation closes on 31 March 2011 and the Department of Health 
welcomes views from a wide range of stakeholders across health, social care and 
the education sector. 

134 NHS Information Centre for health and social care (2009) and (2010) – the number of speech and language 
therapists has increased. In 2008 the number of therapists was 7,118, and a year later this had increased to 7,486. 
This represents a 5.2 per cent rise in the number of therapists. 

Page 174



104 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Case study: The West Kent Community Health Children’s 
Speech and Language Therapy Service 
The West Kent Community Health Children’s Speech and Language Therapy 
Service is one of 30 services that participated in a national allied health 
professions service improvement project. 

Following consultation with service users and partner agencies, this service 
now provides a school-based service, when previously there was none, and 
offers intervention at the time of assessment with no wait inbetween. Clear 
pathways for early years and school-aged children actively involve staff as well 
as parents through: 

a rolling programme of parent workshops; 

training on the new referral protocol for early years staff; 

specialist support for SENCOs; 

a prioritisation tool that involves others in determining the child’s needs; 
and 

a referral process that prompts the professional who made the referral to 
consider the strategies already trialled and outcomes achieved. 

Specialist care packages, devised following research of relevant evidence-
based practice where such evidence is available, are integrated into the 
pathways, for example for children with autistic spectrum disorder. 

Service improvement was achieved through collaboration. Sustainability of 
these improvements will rely on continued collaboration, the next step of 
which will be to pilot the multi-agency Common Assessment Framework as 
the point of access to speech and language therapy services for school-age 
referrals. This will further improve multi-agency discussion about the child’s 
needs to determine who is most appropriate to see the child and will help to 
avoid duplication of work between agencies. 

Supporting the development of a high quality 
educational psychology profession 
5.44 We know that educational psychologists can make a significant contribution to 

supporting families and enabling children and young people to make progress 
with learning, behaviour and social relationships. At present, however, the ways in 
which the expertise and skills of educational psychologists are utilised, in addition 
to the important role they play in the statutory assessment process, vary between 
local authorities. We want to encourage educational psychologists, as well as local 
authorities and schools that commission their services, to work in a more flexible 
manner that is responsive to the needs of the local community. 

Page 175



Services working together for families 105 

5.45 For example, educational psychologists working with early years settings and 
schools can help to improve early identification of children’s SEN and therefore 
ensure that the appropriate support is put in place quickly. In schools and other 
education settings, educational psychologists can help to develop the skills of 
teachers and other professionals working with pupils with SEN. Where educational 
psychologists are deployed to work directly with families, this can help parents to 
understand their child’s needs and the support that will enable the child to fulfil 
his or her potential.135 Increasingly, local services are responding to this by 
providing direct access to educational psychologists for parents, for example 
through helplines. 

Case study: The Leicester City Targeted Mental Health in 
Schools (TaMHS) project 
The Leicester City TaMHS project has helped to move the focus of educational 
psychologists’ work towards practical intervention following assessment, 
helping children and families where there is a risk of the child not achieving 
learning outcomes, and identifying and intervening where there are mental 
health concerns. 

This approach has involved direct work with targeted groups of children, 
working alongside a school partner, which has increased the ability of schools 
to work with children and families experiencing behavioural and mental 
health difficulties. This has allowed educational psychologists to work in 
collaboration with other professionals in multi-agency teams to maximise their 
contributions by combining their skills. It has also allowed educational 
psychologists to engage in activities in addition to statutory assessments, 
thereby making more effective contributions to pupils’ progress and 
achievement. 

This has also enabled the educational psychology service and its partners to 
move towards a more practical, intervention-focused way of working in order 
to help children and families deal with psychological wellbeing and mental 
health issues, as well as shifting the emphasis to school-based early 
assessment and therapeutic interventions. 

5.46 The current scheme for funding the initial training of educational psychologists 
relies on voluntary subscriptions from local authorities, as well as on local 
authorities providing a sufficient number of placements for trainees. At present, 
however, the contributions towards funding and the availability of trainee 
placements are unevenly spread across the country. To address this, the 
Department for Education will work with the profession and local 
commissioners to review the future training arrangements for educational 
psychologists. While the review is being carried out, we are making provision for 
the current training arrangements to continue in order to secure a continuing 
flow of new entrants to the profession. The final year of the current arrangements 
will be for those whose courses commence in September 2012. 

135 DfE Call for Views (2010) 

Page 176



106 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

5.47 To inform this review, the Department for Education is consulting on the ways in 
which educational psychologists can be deployed most effectively, the current 
and future roles of educational psychologists in supporting children, young 
people and their families and the implications of this for local commissioning and 
service delivery. Full details of the scope of the review and how to respond to the 
consultation can be found on the Department for Education’s website. Responses 
to the review and this Green Paper will be considered together to inform the 
future training arrangements for educational psychologists. 

Question 49: In addition to their role in the assessment process, what are the 
innovative ways in which educational psychologists are deployed locally to 
support children and young people with SEN or who are disabled and their 
families? 

Question 50: How do you envisage the role and service structures of 
educational psychologists evolving to meet local demands? 

Question 51: What are the implications of changes to the role and 
deployment of educational psychologists for how their training is designed 
and managed? 

Case study: The Somerset Educational Psychology Service and 
Ups and Downs Southwest 
The Somerset Educational Psychology Service and Ups and Downs Southwest, 
a local Down syndrome voluntary and community sector organisation, are 
working in partnership to improve parental access to psychological advice, 
develop and implement new practices, and create new ways of working 
effectively with parents. 

As a result of this approach parents are able to consult directly with 
educational psychologists, and educational psychologists now take part in the 
Ups and Downs Bridgwater youth group and pre-school group. In addition, 
parents, young people, schools and professionals are working together to 
develop transition packs, focused on the transition from primary to secondary 
school, in order to increase the number of successful secondary placements by 
improving parental confidence and reducing the anxiety that can be 
associated with the transition process. 

Page 177



Services working together for families 107 

Encouraging greater collaboration between local areas 
5.48 We know that greater collaboration between local areas can also help local 

professionals to plan, commission and deliver the best services for children and 
young people with SEN or who are disabled and their families, as well as helping 
to secure best value for money. Some local areas are already sharing expertise, 
pooling resources, and commissioning services, and following this Green Paper 
consultation we will explore how we can encourage greater collaboration 
between local areas, such as: 

jointly commissioning and managing services, or combining services across a 
group of local authorities within a single management structure, for example, 
sensory support services or educational psychology services; 

jointly managing fair and equitable access to places in special resourced 
provision, special schools and special Academies across a number of local 
authority areas; and 

jointly commissioning places in independent and non-maintained special 
schools to deliver value for money and the right services for children. 

Question 52: What do you think can be done to facilitate and encourage 
greater collaboration between local authorities? 

Question 53: What do you think are the areas where collaboration could have 
the greatest positive impact on services for children, young people and 
families? 

Case study: The Berkshire Sensory Consortium Service 
The Berkshire Sensory Consortium Service provides specialist educational 
support to children and young people with visual and multi-sensory 
impairments, as well as deaf children, on behalf of six unitary local authorities: 
Slough, Bracknell, Wokingham, Reading, West Berkshire and the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, which is the host authority. 

The Berkshire Sensory Consortium Service began over thirteen years ago, and 
its contract is renewed every three years. By joining forces, the six local 
authorities in the Consortium are able to provide comprehensive coverage 
across the whole area in a way that would not be possible for them to do 
individually. For example, the Consortium Service provides pre-school groups, 
parent workshops and social activities for pupils, of all age ranges, with visual 
impairment and multi-sensory impairment. 

The members of the Consortium believe that consortia like this can also 
deliver valuable economies of scale and effective partnership working which 
challenges, supports and enables best practice. The local authorities involved 
in the Consortium Service have found that taking decisions together has 
delivered real benefits to all of its members. 

Page 178



108 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Extending local freedom and flexibility over the use of 
funding
5.49 To facilitate greater collaboration between local services and across local areas, 

and to enable local leaders and professionals to plan and deliver responsive 
services, we will extend significantly the freedom and flexibility with which 
funding can be used locally.

5.50 At present, multiple separate funding streams spread across different services 
make it difficult for parents to get the package of support that is right for their 
child and their family, for professionals to work together effectively, and for 
commissioners to secure better value for money. 

5.51 We want to ensure that central government funding is allocated in a way that is 
fair and transparent, focused on stimulating innovative and cost-effective ways of 
addressing local needs, and will support new providers, including those from the 
voluntary and community sector, to take on a greater role in the running of local 
services. 

5.52 The new Early Intervention Grant, which will replace a number of existing centrally 
directed grants that are coming to an end, will not be ring-fenced. This will allow 
local leaders to commission early intervention services that are tailored to the 
needs of their local communities, and will increase the opportunities for local 
authorities to collaborate and combine funding with other local authorities and 
partners in order to deliver better services. 

5.53 Furthermore, we aim to introduce greater flexibility into the ways in which 
funding for different services, including health, social care and education services, 
can be used locally. While local authority social care services and health services 
have been able to pool their budgets for a number of years, we know that not all 
local areas have taken advantage of this opportunity and some have encountered 
difficulties in aligning different funding arrangements effectively.136 As we set out 
in chapter two, we propose to extend the use of personal funding and explore the 
ways in which we can incorporate services beyond those already covered by 
individual budgets, such as additional school-based support, into the combined 
fund in order to give parents greater control over the funding for their child’s 
support. 

Question 54: How do you think that more effective pooling and alignment of 
funding for health, social care and education services can be encouraged? 

5.54 To enable local service transformation, in addition to the removal of ring-fences, 
we are introducing Community Budgets in 16 local areas from April 2011. 
A Community Budget is a way of organising public spending through a place-
based approach, rather than through individual organisations or services. This 
makes it much easier for local leaders, working with their communities, to take an 
overview of the needs of their community, decide how money should be spent 
more effectively and provide innovative solutions to difficult problems. This 
approach can enable more effective, integrated approaches to cross-cutting 
issues across a local area. It can also deliver significant efficiencies by removing 

136 NHS Information Centre for health and social care (2008) 

Page 179



Services working together for families 109 

duplication of work and functions between services, and through the 
development of more effective interventions. While the first phase of Community 
Budgets will focus on approaches to families with multiple problems, the 
intention is for Community Budgets to be rolled out more widely so that they are 
available to all areas and address other local priority issues. 

Question 55: What are the ways in which a Community Budget approach 
might help to improve the ways in which services for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled and their families are delivered? 

Question 56: What are the ways in which we could introduce greater local 
freedom and flexibility into the ways in which funding for services for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled is used? 

Enabling the voluntary and community sector to take on 
a greater role in delivering services 
5.55 We want to enable voluntary and community sector organisations to take on a 

greater role in delivering public services, including the reforms set out in this 
Green Paper. We will provide targeted funding to voluntary and community 
sector organisations that have a strong track record of delivering high quality 
services and the confidence of families and local communities.

5.56 As we have set out in chapter one, we propose to explore how the voluntary and 
community sector could take on a central role in coordinating the assessment 
process and provide the support of a key worker for families of children with SEN 
or who are disabled. 

5.57 We have already announced the award of grants for 2011-12 worth up to a 
combined £6.5 million to voluntary and community sector organisations that 
provide effective advice and support to children and young people with SEN or 
who are disabled, their families and local professionals. These grants were 
awarded following the launch of a bidding prospectus which set out our criteria 
for funding voluntary and community sector organisations that work with 
children, young people and families. 

5.58 In addition to this, the Department for Education will publish shortly a further 
national SEN and disabilities voluntary and community sector prospectus that 
will set out the key areas in which we will make funding available and guidance 
for voluntary and community organisations that wish to bid for grants or 
contracts. This will enable the voluntary and community sector to play a key role 
in putting into practice the reforms set out in this Green Paper. 

5.59 Furthermore, the Office for Civil Society has announced a new £100 million 
Transition Fund to help voluntary and community sector organisations to build 
their capacity to deliver local services. The sector will also be able to access 
funding from the Big Society Bank, which will bring in private sector funding in 
addition to receiving all funding available to England from dormant bank 
accounts. The Big Society Bank will start operating in April 2011, and up to 
£100 million of the £400 million from dormant banks accounts is being made 

Page 180



110 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

available in 2011-12. High street banks will lend the Big Society Bank a further 
£200 million on commercial terms. 

5.60 The Department for Education has appointed strategic partners from the 
voluntary and community sector in a number of areas, including a strategic 
partner for SEN and disabilities. The Department’s strategic partners will begin 
their work from April 2011. The SEN and disabilities strategic partner will act as a 
representative of the SEN and disabilities sector, and will work in partnership with 
the Department for Education to: 

provide specialist advice on key issues and developments that impact on 
voluntary and community sector organisations working with children, young 
people and families; 

help to build capacity in the voluntary and community sector; and 

disseminate information and enable the voluntary and community sector to 
engage in the delivery of new policies and programmes for children and 
young people with SEN or who are disabled and their families. 

Question 57: What are the areas where the voluntary and community sector 
could have the greatest positive impact on services for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled and their families, and what are the 
ways in which we can facilitate this? 

Exploring a national banded funding framework 
5.61 As well as increasing local freedom over the use of funding, we want to ensure 

that decisions about funding for services their family receives are clear and 
transparent to parents. 

5.62 We set out in chapter one how we propose to create a single approach to the 
assessment process that will bring together the full range of professionals 
involved, and will lead to an ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ setting out the 
support that will be provided for the child and their family. One potential obstacle 
to achieving this is the number of different funding streams involved, and the 
different ways in which they work. 

5.63 One way in which we could improve parents’ experience of the assessment 
process and make funding decisions more transparent to them is through 
developing a national banded framework for funding high-cost provision for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled, in addition to what is 
normally available in schools.137 This would help to make it clear to parents how 
funding would be allocated to provide the support for their child’s development 
as set out in the child’s statement of SEN or their ‘Education, Health and Care 
Plan’, as we set out in chapter one. By increasing transparency to parents, we 
envisage that such a framework would also help to give parents greater control 
over funding including, as we set out in chapter two, through the use of a 
personal budget. 

137 We are working with the Department for Education’s research centre, the Centre for Understanding Behaviour 
Change, to assess the current research around banded funding. 

Page 181



Services working together for families 111 

5.64 While a number of local authorities use local banded frameworks at present, the 
way in which the bands are defined and the financial tariffs that are associated 
with each band differ between local authorities. Often these differences reflect 
the fact that the availability, and therefore the cost, of a particular service varies 
between local areas, as well as reflecting the decisions taken locally about how 
best to meet needs. It is not, however, always clear to parents why children in 
different areas with similar needs receive different levels of provision.138 

5.65 A national banded funding framework might set out high-level descriptions of the 
different types of provision for children with more severe and complex SEN or 
who are disabled, including, for example, additional curriculum support, therapy 
services, physical requirements, equipment, home-to-school transport, and family 
support (including short breaks). The framework would not, however, determine 
the financial tariff associated with a particular type of need. This is because it is 
not the case that any one child with a particular category of need, for example 
autistic spectrum disorder, will require exactly the same support as another child 
with the same category of need. 

5.66 We have set out earlier in this chapter that we want to give local leaders and 
professionals greater freedom and flexibility in the use of funding. We consider 
that any national banded funding framework should continue to allow local 
leaders the flexibility to determine the levels of funding to be associated with 
each level and type of provision and, therefore, to put in place personalised 
packages of support for children, young people and families. 

5.67 To consider this approach, we will work with a group of local authorities to 
explore whether and how a national banded framework for funding provision 
for children and young people with SEN or who are disabled could improve 
transparency to parents while continuing to allow for local flexibility.

5.68 We want to ensure that changes to the ways in which special educational 
provision is funded in special and mainstream schools, including maintained 
schools, non-maintained and independent special schools, Academies and Free 
Schools, which may be introduced following the review of school funding 
announced in The Importance of Teaching, would fit together with and support the 
development of a national banded framework for funding services for children 
and young people with SEN or who are disabled. As we have said earlier in this 
chapter, the review of school funding will consider how special educational 
provision for pupils with SEN in schools, Academies and Free Schools (mainstream 
and special), will be funded from April 2012 onwards. The Department for 
Education welcomes views on the proposal to develop a national banded funding 
framework, which we will use to inform further consideration of funding for 
special educational provision in schools following the forthcoming consultation 
on school funding. 

Question 58: How do you think a national banded funding framework for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled could improve the 
transparency of funding decisions to parents while continuing to allow for 
local flexibility? 

138 Ofsted (2010) and Audit Commission (2003) 

Page 182



112 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Bringing about greater alignment of pre-16 and post-16 
funding arrangements 
5.69 We know that developing an approach to funding that is transparent to parents 

and encourages effective integrated working between services and professionals 
will require that we bring about greater alignment of the different funding 
streams for children and young people with SEN or who are disabled from birth 
to 25. 

5.70 At present, there are separate systems of funding provision for children and 
young people with SEN or who are disabled pre-16 and post-16. There are also 
three different funding streams for learners with learning difficulties and 
disabilities post-16.139 

5.71 In chapter four, we set out our long-term ambition of creating an integrated and 
streamlined approach to supporting children and young people with SEN or who 
are disabled from birth to 25. We aim to bring about greater alignment of these 
different funding arrangements in order to enable better planning and improved 
cost-effectiveness of provision. To achieve this, we will explore how the different 
funding arrangements for special educational provision pre-16 and post-16 
might be aligned more effectively so as to provide a more consistent approach 
to support for children and young people from birth to 25. 

5.72 Furthermore, it is intended that from 2013-14 the Young People’s Learning 
Agency, and later the new Education Funding Agency announced in The 
Importance of Teaching, will bring together the three different funding streams for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled aged 16 to 25. Local 
authorities will have responsibility for determining how to use the combined 
funding for children and young people with SEN or who are disabled from birth to 
25 in order to commission and plan provision most effectively. Responses to this 
proposal will inform further consideration of how we can more effectively align 
funding for children and young people with SEN or who are disabled from birth 
to 25, following the consultation on school funding. 

Question 59: How can the different funding arrangements for specialist 
provision for young people pre-16 and post-16 be aligned more effectively 
to provide a more consistent approach to support for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled from birth to 25? 

139 The three funding streams are the 16 to 18 SEN block grant for learners in sixth forms or sixth form colleges, the 
Additional Learner Support (ALS) funding for learners in further educational settings, and the Specialist 
Placement budget for learners with complex needs and requiring specialist provision. 

Page 183



Services working together for families 113 

Case study: London Councils 
London Councils, which brings together all 33 London local authorities, the 
Metropolitan Police Authority and the London Fire and Emergency Planning 
Authority, is developing a common model for planning and commissioning 
provision for children and young people aged from 16 to 24 with learning 
difficulties and disabilities, and is exploring options for managing resources 
and budgets across the region. This links with current collaborative work by 
London Councils focused on SEN and transition into adulthood. London 
Councils is gathering data about SEN across the capital and is working closely 
with the Association of Colleges to assist local authorities with planning 
sufficient post-16 provision to meet the needs of every learner with a learning 
difficulty. 

Page 184



114 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Next steps  
1. Many of the problems identified in this Green Paper are long-standing. Successive 

reviews have drawn attention to them and our Call for Views has given us a clear 
and comprehensive view of what needs to change. 

2. The proposals we set out offer a commitment to long-term change to better 
support parents, the voluntary and community sector, early years settings, 
schools, colleges, health and social services and their partners in improving 
outcomes for children and young people with SEN or who are disabled and their 
families. 

3. This Green Paper marks the start of a four-month period of consultation. We want 
to make sure that we have the views of all those who will be affected by our 
proposals before we publish detailed plans. 

4. By June, we will invite expressions of interest from groups of local authorities to 
start piloting, from September 2011, a new approach involving a single 
assessment process and plan for children and young people and their families. 
The assessment and plan pathfinders test the key changes we want to see, 
including how the voluntary and community sector can support this process and 
bring greater independence to assessment, and exploring a right of appeal for 
children, so we can be confident they will work and have lasting impact. 

5. By June, we will also invite expressions of interest from local authorities to join the 
existing Individual Budget Pilots from September 2011 and test how the scope of 
personal budgets might be increased to reflect the wide range of support in an 
‘Education, Health and Care Plan’; in particular, to identify the costs of providing 
funding in this way, the cost of provision, and the cost of supporting parents 
properly and appropriately. 

6. We will work with local authorities and other partners to test a system of banded 
funding to bring about greater transparency of funding and to compliment the 
work on personal budgets. 

7. And we have further work to do across government, particularly in relation to 
ensuring that disabled young people and young people with SEN have good 
quality opportunities and support as they prepare for adulthood. 

8. We will look to take forward any legislative changes needed from 2012 to secure 
the delivery of the new ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ and the offer of a
personal budget, and any other necessary improvements to the system identified 
by pilots. 

9. A summary follows of the questions we are asking in this Green Paper. 
We welcome your views on the issues they raise and the proposals we make. 

Page 185



115 

Consultation 
Questions 

Question 1: How can we strengthen the identification of SEN and 
impairments in the early years, and support for children with them? 

Question 2: Do you agree with our proposal to replace the statement of SEN 
and learning difficulty assessment for children and young people with a 
single statutory assessment process and an ‘Education, Health and Care 
Plan’, bringing together all services across education, health and social care? 

Question 3: How could the new single assessment process and ‘Education, 
Health and Care Plan’ better support children’s needs, be a better process for 
families and represent a more cost-effective approach for services? 

Question 4: What processes or assessments should be incorporated within 
the proposed single assessment process and ‘Education, Health and Care 
Plan’? 

Question 5: What is the potential impact of expanding the scope of the 
proposed single assessment process and plan beyond education, 
health, social care and employment? 

Question 6: What role should the voluntary and community sector play in the 
statutory assessment of children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled? How could this help to give parents greater confidence in the 
statutory assessment process? 

Question 7: How could the proposed single assessment process and 
‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ improve continuity of social care support 
for disabled children? 

Question 8: How could the arrangements for provision of health advice for 
existing statutory SEN assessments be improved? 

Question 9: How can we make the current SEN statutory assessment process 
faster and less burdensome for parents? 

Question 10: What should be the key components of a locally published offer 
of available support for parents? 

Question 11: What information should schools be required to provide to 
parents on SEN? 

Question 12: What do you think an optional personal budget for families 
should cover? 

Page 186



116 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Question 13: In what ways do you think the option of a personal budget for 
services identified in the proposed ‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ will 
support parents to get a package of support for their child that meets their 
needs? 

Question 14: Do you feel that the statutory guidance on inclusion and school 
choice, Inclusive Schooling, allows appropriately for parental preferences for 
either a mainstream or special school? 

Question 15: How can we improve information about school choice for 
parents of children with a statement of SEN, or new ‘Education, Health and 
Care Plan’? 

Question 16: Should mediation always be attempted before parents register 
an appeal to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability)? 

Question 17: Do you like the idea of mediation across education, health and 
social care? How might it work best? 

Question 18: How can we ensure that the expertise of special schools, and 
mainstream schools with excellent SEN practice, is harnessed and spread 
through Teaching Schools partnerships? 

Question 19: How can we ensure that we improve SEN expertise, build 
capacity and share knowledge between independent specialist colleges, 
special schools and colleges? 

Question 20: How can we continue to build capacity and SEN specialist skills 
at each tier of school management? 

Question 21: What is the best way to identify and develop the potential of 
teachers and staff to best support disabled children or children with a wide 
range of SEN? 

Question 22: What is the potential impact of replacing School Action and 
School Action plus and their equivalents in the early years with a single 
category of SEN in early years settings and schools? 

Question 23: How could changing the school- and early years setting-based 
category of SEN embed a different approach to identifying SEN and 
addressing children’s needs? 

Question 24: How helpful is the current category of BESD in identifying the 
underlying needs of children with emotional and social difficulties? 

Question 25: Is the BESD label overused in terms of describing behaviour 
problems rather than leading to an assessment of underlying difficulties? 

Question 26: How could we best ensure that the expertise of special schools 
in providing behaviour support is harnessed and shared? 

Question 27: What are the barriers to special schools and special Academies 
entering the market for alternative provision? 

Page 187



Consultation Questions 117 

Question 28: What are the ways in which special Academies can work in 
partnership with other mainstream and special schools and Academies, and 
other services, in order to improve the quality of provision for pupils with 
SEN and disabilities? 

Question 29: What are the barriers to special Academies becoming centres of 
excellence and specialist expertise that serve a wider, regional community 
and how can these be overcome? 

Question 30: What might the impact be of opening up the system to provide 
places for non-statemented children with SEN in special Free Schools? 

Question 31: Do you agree with our proposed approach for demonstrating 
the progress of low attaining pupils in performance tables? 

Question 32: What information would help parents, governors and others, 
including Ofsted, assess how effectively schools support disabled children 
and children with SEN? 

Question 33: What more can education and training providers do to ensure 
that disabled young people and young people with SEN are able to 
participate in education or training post-16? 

Question 34: When disabled young people and young people with SEN 
choose to move directly from school or college into the world of work, how 
can we make sure this is well planned and who is best placed to support 
them? 

Question 35: Do you agree that supported internships would provide young 
people for whom an apprenticeship may not be a realistic aim with 
meaningful work opportunities? How might they work best? 

Question 36: How can employers be encouraged to offer constructive work 
experience and job opportunities to disabled young people and young 
people with SEN? 

Question 37: How do you think joint working across children’s and adult 
health services for young people aged 16 to 25 could be improved? 

Question 38: As the family doctor, how could the GP play a greater role in 
managing a smooth transition for a disabled young person from children’s to 
adult health services? 

Question 39: Do you agree that our work supporting disabled young people 
and young people with SEN to prepare for adulthood should focus on these 
areas: ensuring a broad range of learning opportunities; moving into 
employment; independent living; and transition to adult health services? 
What else should we consider? 

Page 188



118 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Question 40: We have identified three core features of the role of local 
authorities in supporting children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled and their families: strategic planning for services, securing a range 
of high quality provision, and enabling families to make informed choices 
and exercise greater control over services. Do you agree that these are the 
three core features of the role of local authorities in supporting children and 
young people with SEN or who are disabled and their families, or are there 
others? 

Question 41: How can central government enable and support local 
authorities to carry out their role effectively? 

Question 42: What would be the best way to provide advice to GP consortia 
to support their commissioning of services for children and young people 
with SEN or who are disabled and their families? 

Question 43: What would be the most appropriate indicators to include in 
the NHS and public health outcomes frameworks in the future to allow us to 
measure outcomes for children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled? 

Question 44: What are the ways in which the bureaucratic burdens on 
frontline professionals, schools and services can be reduced? 

Question 45: In addition to community nursing, what are the other areas 
where greater collaboration between frontline professionals could have the 
greatest positive impact on children and young people with SEN or who are 
disabled and their families? 

Question 46: What more do you think could be done to encourage and 
facilitate local services working together to improve support for children 
with SEN or who are disabled? 

Question 47: How do you think SEN support services might be funded so that 
schools, Academies, Free Schools and other education providers have access 
to high quality SEN support services? 

Question 48: What are the innovative ways in which new models of 
employee-led organisations, such as mutuals and cooperatives, could 
improve services for children and young people with SEN and their families? 

Question 49: In addition to their role in the assessment process, what are the 
innovative ways in which educational psychologists are deployed locally to 
support children and young people with SEN or who are disabled and their 
families? 

Question 50: How do you envisage the role and service structures of 
educational psychologists evolving to meet local demands? 

Question 51: What are the implications of changes to the role and 
deployment of educational psychologists for how their training is designed 
and managed? 

Page 189



Consultation Questions 119 

Question 52: What do you think can be done to facilitate and encourage 
greater collaboration between local authorities? 

Question 53: What do you think are the areas where collaboration could have 
the greatest positive impact on services for children, young people and 
families? 

Question 54: How do you think that more effective pooling and alignment of 
funding for health, social care and education services can be encouraged? 

Question 55: What are the ways in which a Community Budget approach 
might help to improve the ways in which services for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled and their families are delivered? 

Question 56: What are the ways in which we could introduce greater local 
freedom and flexibility into the ways in which funding for services for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled is used? 

Question 57: What are the areas where the voluntary and community sector 
could have the greatest positive impact on services for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled and their families, and what are the 
ways we can facilitate this? 

Question 58: How do you think a national banded funding framework for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled could improve the 
transparency of funding decisions to parents while continuing to allow for 
local flexibility? 

Question 59: How can the different funding arrangements for specialist 
provision for young people pre-16 and post-16 be aligned more effectively 
to provide a more consistent approach to support for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled from birth to 25? 

Page 190



120 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

How to get involved 
We welcome your views on how we can put in place a radically different system to 
support better life outcomes for young people with SEN or who are disabled; give 
parents confidence by giving them control; and transfer power to professionals on the 
front line and to local communities. 

Consultation responses can be completed online at www.education.gov.uk/ 
consultations, or emailed to send.greenpaper@education.gsi.gov.uk, or by downloading 
a response form which should be completed and sent to: 

Consultation Unit 
Department for Education 
Area 1C, Castle View House 
East Lane 
Runcorn WA7 2GJ 

This consultation will run for 16 weeks between 9 March and 30 June 2011, exceeding 
the Government’s Code of Practice on Consultation which recommends a minimum 
period of 12 weeks. 

Following consideration of consultation responses, we will publish the Government’s 
response on the DfE e-consultation website later this year. This will set out our next steps 
in taking forward this work. 

Page 191



Bibliography 121 

Bibliography  
Alborz, A., Pearson, D., Farrell, P. & Howes, A. (2009) The impact of adult support staff on 
pupils and mainstream schools. Technical Report in: Research Evidence in Education 
Library. EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University 
of London 
http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=uBgdhgYK3Bk%3D&tabid=2438&lang 
uage=en-US 

Allen MP, G. (2011) Early intervention: the next steps. an independent report to her majesty’s 
government. Cabinet Office http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/g/ 
graham%20allens%20review%20of%20early%20intervention.pdf 

Aston, J., Dewson, S., Loukas, G. & Dyson, A. (2005) Post-16 transitions: a longitudinal study 
of young people with special educational needs (wave three). DfES Research Report No. 655. 
Institute for Employment Studies, University of Manchester 
http://www.employment-studies.co.uk/pdflibrary/rr655.pdf 

Audit Commission (2003) Services for disabled children. A review of services for disabled 
children and their families. Audit Commission for Local Authorities and the National 
Health Service in England and Wales 

Audit Commission (2007) Out of authority placements for special educational needs. Audit 
Commission for Local Authorities and the National Health Service in England and Wales 

Baker, K., Jones, S., Roberts, C. & Merrington, S. (2004) The evaluation of the validity and 
reliability of the youth justice board’s assessment for young offenders. Probation Studies 
Unit, Centre for Criminological Research, University of Oxford 
http://www.familieslink.co.uk/download/july07/Asset%20report%20on%20first%20 
2%20years.pdf 

Batten, A., Corbett, C., Rosenblatt, M., Withers, L. & Yuille, R. (2006) Make school make 
sense. Autism and education: the reality for families today. The National Autistic Society 

Bercow, J. (2008) The Bercow Report. A review of services for children and young people 
(0 – 19) with speech, language and communication needs. DCSF-00632-2008 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/Bercow-Report.pdf 

Beyer, S., Kaehne, A., Grey, J., Sheppard, K. & Meek, A. (2008) The transition of young 
people with learning disabilities to employment: what works? Journal of Developmental 
Disabilities, Volume 14:1, pp. 85–94 

Blackburn, C., Spencer, N. & Read, J. (2010) Prevalence of childhood disability and the 
characteristics and circumstances of disabled children in the UK: secondary analysis of 
the Family Resources Survey, BMC Pediatrics, Vol.10 (No.21) 
http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/3202/

Blatchford, P., Bassett, P., Brown, P., Koutsoubou, M., Martin, P., Russell, A. & Webster, R. 
with Rubie-Davies, C. (2009) Deployment and impact of support staff in schools: the impact 
of support staff in schools. Results from strand 2, wave 2. DCSF Research Report DCSF
RR148. Institute of Education, University of London 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR148.pdf 

Page 192



122 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Boddy, J., Potts, P. & Statham, J. (2006) Models of good practice in joined up assessment: 
working for children with ‘significant and complex needs’. Institute of Education 

Brookes, M., Goodall, E. & Heady, L.(2007) Misspent youth: the costs of truancy and 
exclusion, New Philanthropy Capital. 

CAMHS Review (2008) Children and young people in mind: the final report of the National 
CAMHS Review. DCSF and DH 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/CAMHS-Review.pdf 

Campbell-Hall, V., Coulter, A. & Joyce, L. (2009) Parental experience of services for disabled 
children – qualitative research (phase 2): exploring the findings from the national survey.
DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR161. BMRB Qualitative 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR161.pdf 

Carr, S. & Robbins, D. (2009) Research briefing 20: The implementation of individual budget 
schemes in adult social care. Social Care Institute for Excellence, Social Policy Research 
and Evaluation 
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/briefings/files/briefing20.pdf 

Chamberlain, T., George, N., Golden, S., Walker, F. & Benton, T. (2010) Tellus4 national 
report. DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR218 
http://publications.education.gov.uk/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR218.pdf 

Children’s Workforce Development Council (2011) Our top achievements 
http://www.cwdcouncil.org.uk/top-achievements 

Cochrane, H., Liyanage, S. & Nantambi, R. (2007) Palliative care statistics for children and 
young adults. DH 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsStatistics/ 
DH_074701 

Commission for Social Care Inspection (2007) Growing up matters: better transition 
planning for young people with complex needs. Commission for Social Care Inspection 

Copps, J. & Heady, L. (2007) What price an ordinary life? The financial costs and benefits of 
supporting disabled children and their families. New Philanthropy Capital 

Cross M. (1997) Challenging behaviour or challenged comprehension. Royal College of 
Speech and Language Therapists Bulletin Volume 545, 11–12 

DCSF (2007) Statistical bulletin: youth cohort study and longitudinal study of young people  
in England:  
The activities and experiences of 18 year olds: England 2007 (YCS and LSYPE) 
http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SBU/b000795/index.shtml 

DfE (2010) Green Paper: children and young people with special educational needs and  
disabilities – Call for Views. http://www.education.gov.uk/consultations/ 

DfE (2009) Statistical bulletin: youth cohort study and longitudinal study of young people in  
England:  
The activities and experiences of 18 year olds: England 2009 (YCS and LSYPE) 
http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SBU/b000937/index.shtml 

DfE (2010) Statistical first release: special educational needs in England: January 2010.
Source data: school census 
http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000939/index.shtml 

Page 193



Bibliography 123 

DfE (1995-2010) Statistical first releases: special educational needs in England: January 1995 
to January 2010 

DfE (2005) Statistical first release: special educational needs in England: January 2005.
Source data: school census 
http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000584/index.shtml 

DfE (2010) Month of birth and education – Schools Analysis and Research Division. 
DfE Research Report DfE-RR017 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/standard/publicationdetail/page1/ 
DFE-RR017 

DfE (2010) Statistical first release: outcomes for children looked after by Local Authorities in 
England, as at 31 March 2010. Source data: matched administrative data from the children 
looked after database and the national pupil database (CLA-NPD) 
http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000978/index.shtml 

DfE (2010) Children with special educational needs 2010: an analysis. Source data: school 
census and national pupil database 
http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/STA/t000965/index.shtml 

DfE (2008/09) Statistical first release: permanent and fixed period exclusions from schools in 
England 2008/09. Source data: school census 
http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000942/index.shtml 

DfE (2010) The importance of teaching – the Schools White Paper 2010. CM 7980 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/standard/publicationDetail/Page1/CM%20 
7980 

DfES (2004) Statistics of education: schools in England. Source data: school census 
http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/VOL/v000495/v05-2004.pdf 

DH (2011) No health without mental health: a cross-government mental health outcomes 
strategy for people of all ages 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Healthcare/Mentalhealth/MentalHealthStrategy/index.htm 

DH (2010) The NHS Constitution: the NHS belongs to us all http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/ 
Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_113613 

DH (2010) ‘Six lives’ progress report 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/ 
PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_120251 

DH (2006) Transition: getting it right for young people. Improving the transition of young 
people with long term conditions from children’s to adult health services 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/ 
documents/digitalasset/dh_4132149.pdf 

DH (2009) Valuing employment now – real jobs for people with learning disabilities 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Lettersandcirculars/ 
Dearcolleagueletters/DH_111310 

DH (2009) Valuing people now: a new three-year strategy for people with learning 
disabilities.
http://www.valuingpeoplenow.dh.gov.uk/sites/dhvpnweb.rroom.net/files/webfm/ 
Valuing%20People%20Now%20Landing%20Page/Valuing%20People%20Now%20 
Strategy%20.pdf

Page 194



124 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

DH (March 2009 – September 2010) Valuing People New Summary Report http://www. 
dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/ 
DH_122385 

Emerson, E. & Hatton, C. (2009) Estimating future need for adult social care services for 
people with learning disabilities in England. Centre for Disability Research, Lancaster 
University 

Emerson, E., Robertson, J. & Wood, J. (2004) Levels of psychological distress experienced 
by family carers of children and adolescents with intellectual disabilities in an urban 
conurbation. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, Volume 17:2, 
pp. 77–84. 

EPICure (2008) Population based studies of survival and later health status in extremely 
premature infants 
http://www.epicure.ac.uk/overview/survival 

Every Disabled Child Matters (2010) Disabled children: an agenda for the new Government 
http://www.ncb.org.uk/edcm/agenda_for_new_government.pdf 

Farrell, P., Woods, K., Lewis, S., Rooney, S., Squires, G. & O’Connor, M. (2006) A review of 
the functions and contribution of educational psychologists in England and Wales in light of 
‘every child matters: change for children. DfES Research Report No. 792. School of 
Education, University of Manchester http://education.gov.uk/publications/ 
eOrderingDownload/RR792.pdf 

Field MP, F.(2010) The foundation years: preventing poor children becoming poor adults. 
The report of the independent review on poverty and life chances. Cabinet Office 
http://povertyreview.independent.gov.uk/media/20254/poverty-report.pdf 

Giddan et al., (1996) Unrecognised language and speech deficits in pre-adolescent 
psychiatric inpatients. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry Volume 66:1, pp. 291-295 

Glendinning, C., Challis, D., Fernandez, J., Jacobs, S., Jones, K., Knapp, M., Manthorpe, J., 
Moran, N., Stevens, M.& Wilberforce, M. (2008) Evaluation of the individual budgets pilot 
programme – summary report. DH 

Goswami, U. (2008) Learning difficulties: future challenges. Mental capital and wellbeing: 
making the most of ourselves in the 21st century. Government Office for Science 
http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/corporate/migratedD/ec_group/101-08-FO_on 

Gray, P. (2006) National audit of support, services and provision for children with low 
incidence needs. DfES Research Report No. 729. The Special Needs Consultancy 
http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/n/national%20audit%20report.pdf 

Green, H., McGinnity, A., Meltzer, H., Ford, T., & Goodman, R. (2004) National statistics: 
mental health of children and young people in Great Britain. A survey carried out by the 
Office for National Statistics on behalf of the Department of Health and the Scottish 
Executive. ONS 
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/statbase/Product.asp?vlnk=14116 

Greig, R., Chapman, P., Clayson, A., Goodey, C. & Marsland, D. (2010) Short breaks 
pathfinder evaluation. DfE Research Report DfE-RR062 http://www.education.gov.uk/ 
publications//eOrderingDownload/DFE-RR062.pdf

Page 195



Bibliography 125 

Gutman, L.M., Brown, J., Akerman, R. & Obolenskaya, P. (2010) Change in wellbeing from 
childhood to adolescence: risk and resilience. DCSF-WBL-10-01. Centre for Research on the 
Wider Benefits of Learning, Institute of Education 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications//eOrderingDownload/DCSF-WBL-10-01.pdf 

Harris, N., Riddell, S., Smith, E., Stead, J., Weedon, E. & Wright, K. (2009) Dispute resolution 
and avoidance in education: a study of special and additional support needs in England and 
Scotland. Briefing paper. Centre for Research in Education Inclusion and Diversity, 
Universities of Manchester and Edinburgh http://www.creid.ed.ac.uk/adr/pubs/ 
ADRbriefing_oct09.pdf 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Education (2009) Learning together: lessons about school 
improvement.
An HMIE report on how schools get better 
http://www.hmie.gov.uk/documents/publication/ltlasi.pdf 

HMT and DfES (2007) Aiming high for disabled children: better support for families. PU213 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/PU213.pdf 

House of Commons Education and Skills Committee (2006) Special educational needs: 
third report of session 2005 – 06: Volume 1 
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200506/cmselect/cmeduski/478/478i.pdf 

Humphrey, N. & Squires, G. (2010) Achievement for all evaluation: interim report (May  
2010). DfE Research Report DfE-RR028 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DFE-RR028.pdf 

I CAN (2006) The cost to the nation of children’s poor communication. I CAN Talk Series –  
Issue 2  
http://www.ican.org.uk/upload2/chatter%20matter%20update/mcm%20report%20final. 
pdf 

Jenkins, A., Greenwood, C., & Vignoles, A. (2007) The returns to qualifications in England:  
updating the evidence base on level 2 and level 3 vocational qualifications. CEEDP 89.  
Centre for the Economics of Education, London School of Economics and Political  
Science  
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/19378/ 

Jones J. and Chesson R. (2000) Falling through the screen. Royal College of Speech and  
Language Therapists Bulletin Volume 579, pp 8 – 9 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2002) Young disabled people moving into adulthood in  
Scotland. Findings N42. JRF. Cited in Beyer et al (2008) 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/n42.pdf 

Kennedy, I. (2010) Getting it right for children and young people. Overcoming cultural 
barriers in the NHS so as to meet their needs. A review by Professor Sir Ian Kennedy. DH 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@ps/ 
documents/digitalasset/dh_119446.pdf 

Kilsby, M. & Beyer, s. (2010) A financial cost benefit analysis of Kent supported employment. 
Establishing a framework for analysis: an interim report. Kent County Council 
https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/adult-Social-Services/kent-supported
employment/kse_financial_costs_report.pdf 

Lamb, B. (2009) Lamb inquiry: special educational needs and parental confidence. DCSF 
http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/lambinquiry/downloads/8553-lamb-inquiry.pdf 

Page 196



126 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Langer, S., Collins, M., Welch, V., Wells, E., Hatton, C., Robertson, J. & Emerson, E. (2010) 
A report on themes emerging from qualitative research into the impact of short break 
provision on families with disabled children. DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR221. 
Centre for Disability Research, Lancaster University. 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR221.pdf 

Lewis, J., Mooney, A., Brady, L.-M., Gill, C., Henshall, A., Willmott, N., Owen, C., Evans, K. & 
Statham, J. (2010) Special educational needs and disability: understanding local variation in 
prevalence, service provision and support. DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR211. National 
Children’s Bureau, Thomas Coram Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of 
London & Council for Disabled Children. 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR211.pdf 

Lindsay, G., Cullen, M.A., Cullen, S., Dockrell, J., Goodlad, S. & Arweck, E. (2010) Evaluation 
of the impact of the DFE investment in initiatives designed to improve teacher workforce 
skills in relation to SEN and disabilities – 1st interim report. DfE Research Report DfE-RR058. 
Centre for Education Development, Appraisal and Research, University of Warwick; 
Psychology and Human Development, Institute of Education; University of London; 
Centre for Education and Industry, University of Warwick 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications//eOrderingDownload/DFE-RR058.pdf 

Lindsay, G., Dockrell, J., Law, J., Roulstone, S. & Vignoles, A. (2010) Better communications 
research report programme: 1st interim report. DfE Research Report DfE-RR070. Centre for 
Education Development, Appraisal and Research, University of Warwick; Institute of 
Education, University of London; University of Newcastle; University of West of England 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DFE-RR070.pdf 

McGill, P., Papachristoforou, E., & Cooper, V. (2006) Support for family carers of children 
and young people with developmental disabilities and challenging behaviour. Child: Care, 
Health and Development, Volume 32, pp. 159 – 165 
http://www.thecbf.org.uk/Papachristoforou.pdf 

National Implementation Team (2010) Multidimensional treatment foster care in England: 
annual project report 
http://www.mtfce.org.uk/reports/MTFCE%206th%20Annual%20Progress%20Report%20 
2010%20Final2.pdf 

NHS Information Centre for health and social Care (2008) Personal social services 
expenditure collection (PSS EX1) data return. Joint managed by the IC and the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

NHS Information Centre for health and social care (2009) NHS hospital and community 
health services. Non-medical workforce census. England: 30 September 2008 
http://www.ic.nhs.uk/webfiles/publications/nhsstaff2008/nonmed/NM%20Detailed%20 
results%2008.pdf 

NHS Information Centre for health and social care (2010) NHS hospital and community 
health services. Non-medical workforce census. England: 30 September 2009 

OECD (2010) 2010 edition of education at a glance: presentation. London, 6 September 

Ofsted (2006) Inclusion: does it matter where pupils are taught? Provision and outcomes in 
different settings for pupils with learning difficulties and disabilities 

Ofsted (2007) Current provision and outcomes for 16 – 18 year old learners with learning 
difficulties and disabilities in colleges 

2010 

Page 197



Bibliography 127 

Ofsted (2010) The special educational needs and disability review: A Statement is not 
Enough 

Penfold, C., Cleghorn, N., Tennant, R., Palmer, I. & Read, J. (2009) Parental confidence in the 
special educational needs assessment, statementing and tribunal system: a qualitative study.
DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR112 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR117.pdf 

Pinney, A. (2007) A better start: children and families with special needs and disabilities in 
sure start local programmes. National evaluation report. DfES Research Report NESS/2006/ 
FR/019 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/NESS-2007-FR-019.pdf 

Porter, J., Daniels, H., Georgeson, J., Hacker, J., Gallop, V., Feiler, A., Tarleton, B.,& Watson, 
D. (2008) Disability data collection for children’s services. DCSF Research Report DCSF
RR062. University of Bath, University of Bristol 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR062-report.pdf 

Prabhakar, M., Thorn, G., Hurstfield, J. & Parashar, U. (2008) Individual budgets for disabled 
children: scoping study. DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR057.SQW Consulting 
http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/i/individual%20budgets%20for%20 
families%20with%20disabled%20children%20%20%20scoping%20study.pdf 

PricewaterhouseCoopers (2009) Government and public sector: review of the distribution 
formula for DSG. Strand 2: high cost pupils 

Read, J. (2007) Can we count them? Disabled children and their households: Full research 
report. ESRC End of Award Report. RES-000-22-1725.ESRC 

Robertson, J., Hatton, C., Emerson, E., Wells, E., Collins, M., Langer, S. & Welch, V. (2010) 
The impacts of short break provision on disabled children and families: an international 
literature review. DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR222. Centre for Disability Research, 
Lancaster University 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR222.pdf 

Rose, J. (2009) Identifying and teaching children and young people with dyslexia and literacy 
difficulties. An independent report from Sir Jim Rose to the Secretary of State for Children, 
Schools and Families. DCSF-00659-2009 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/00659-2009DOM-EN. 
pdf 

Runswick-Cole, K.A. (2007). The tribunal was the most stressful thing: the experiences of 
families who go to the special educational needs and disability tribunal (SENDisT). Disability 
and Society, Volume 22:3, pp. 315 – 328 

Salt, T. (2010) Salt review: independent review of teacher supply for pupils with severe, 
profound and multiple learning difficulties. DCSF 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/00195-2010BKT-EN.pdf 

Sammons, P., Taggart, B., Smees, R., Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Siraj-Blatchford, I. & Elliott, K. 
(2003) The early years transition and special educational needs (EYTSEN) project. DfES 
Research Report No. 431. Institute of Education, University of London; University of 
Oxford; Birkbeck, University of London 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications//eOrderingDownload/RR431.pdf 

Page 198



128 Support and aspiration: A new approach to special educational needs and disability 

Sanders, W.L. & Rivers, J.C. (1996) Cumulative and residual effects of teachers on future 
students’ academic achievement. University of Tennessee Value-Added Research and 
Assessment Centre. 
http://www.mccsc.edu/~curriculum/cumulative%20and%20residual%20effects%20 
of%20teachers.pdf 

Slade, Z., Coulter, A. & Joyce, L.(2009) Parental experience of services for disabled children 
– qualitative research. DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR142. BMRB Qualitative 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR147.pdf 

Sloper, P., Beecham, J., Clarke, S., Franklin, A., Moran, N. and Cusworth, L. (2011)
Transition to adult services for disabled young people and those with complex health needs. 
Research Works, 2011 – 02. Social Policy Research Unit, University of York 

Smith, R., Purdon, S., Schneider, I.L.V., Wollny, I., Owen, R., Bryson, C., Mathers, S., Sylva, K. 
& Lloyd, E. (2009) Early education pilot for two year old children evaluation. DCSF Research 
Report DCSF-RR134. National Centre for Social Research; Department of Educational 
Studies, University of Oxford; University of East London. 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR134.pdf 

Special Educational Needs Code of Practice (2001) DfES/581/2001 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications//eOrderingDownload/DfES%200581%20 
200MIG2228.pdf 

Steer (2009) Learning behaviour: lessons learned. A review of behaviour standards and 
practices in our schools. DCSF-00453-2009 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-Learning-Behaviour. 
pdf 

Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I. & Taggart, B. (2004) The effective 
provision of pre-school education (EPPE) project: findings from pre-school to end of key stage 
1. Institute of Education, University of London; University of Oxford; Birkbeck, University 
of London; University of Nottingham 
http://eppe.ioe.ac.uk/eppe/eppepdfs/TP10%20Research%20Brief.pdf 

Tennant, R., Callanan, M., Snape, D., Palmer, I. & Read, J. (2008) Special educational needs 
disagreement resolution services: national evaluation. DCSF Research Report DCSF-RR054. 
National Centre for Social Research 
http://education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DCSF-RR054.pdf 

University of Manchester in association with the University of Central Lancashire (2006) 
Early support: an evaluation of phase 3 of early support. DfES Research Report No. 798 

Welch, V., Hatton, C., Wells, E., Collins, M., Langer, S., Robertson, J. & Emerson, E. (2010) 
The impact of short breaks on families with a disabled child: report one of the quantitative 
phase. DfE Research Report DfE - RR063 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DFE-RR063.pdf 

Wolf, A. (2011). Review of Vocational Education – The Wolf Report. Department for 
Education, March 2011. 
http://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/The%20Wolf%20 
Report.pdf

Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Published by TSO (The Stationery Office) and available from: 

Online 

www.tsoshop.co.uk 

Mail, telephone, fax & email 

TSO 

PO Box 29, Norwich NR3 1GN 

Telephone orders/general enquiries: 0870 600 5522 

Order through the Parliamentary Hotline Lo-Call 0845 7 023474 

Fax orders: 0870 600 5533 

Email: customer.services@tso.co.uk 

Textphone: 0870 240 3701 

The Parliamentary Bookshop 

12 Bridge Street, Parliament Square, 

London SW1A 2JX 

Telephone orders/general enquiries: 020 7219 3890 

Fax orders: 020 7219 3866 

Email: bookshop@parliament.uk 

Internet: http://www.bookshop.parliament.uk 

TSO@Blackwell and other accredited agents 

Customers can also order publications from 

TSO Ireland 

16 Arthur Street, Belfast BT1 4GD 

Telephone orders/general enquiries: 028 9023 8451 

Fax orders: 028 9023 5401 

Page 202


	Agenda
	6 Minutes - 19th May 2011
	7 Appointment of Co-opted Members
	8 Changes to the Council's Constitution in relation to Scrutiny
	9 Sources of work and areas of priority for the Scrutiny Board
	Sources of work and areas of priority for the Scrutiny Board - Appendix 1
	Sources of work and areas of priority for the Scrutiny Board - Appendix 2
	Sources of work and areas of priority for the Scrutiny Board - Appendix 3
	Sources of work and areas of priority for the Scrutiny Board - Appendix 4

	10 Work Schedule
	Work Schedule - Appendix 1

	11 Green Paper - Support and aspiration; a new approach to special educational needs and disability
	Appendix


